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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

FY 2019
—B-hEF

FY 2018
—ET—)N\F
HREE

HK$’ million B &7t

Change

MRFE
HK$’million E&E &t

£

Revenue EE 41,160.9 45,994.4 -11%
EBITDA* RMBRFIE > Bi1E
e 8,245.9 10,212.2 -19%
Frl R AT B R ’
Profit before tax* R A E A * 5,565.0 7,621.3 -27%
Net profit attributable to owners  Z<7A T)#58 A FE(L 4 F)
of the Company
- Underlying net profit* — B R4E R 3,415.8 4,603.1 -26%
— Reported net profit —BRmEARF 3,094.4 6,075.8 -49%
Basic earnings per share BEREXRRF
— Based on underlying net profit* — AR AT 58 HK$3.146 HK$4.313 27%
- Based on reported net profit —ABRE4TFIFTE HK$2.850 HK$5.692 -50%
Interim dividend per share BRPHBRE HK28 cents HK60 cents -53%
Special interim dividend per share SR FIHEKRE - HK50 cents N/A
Proposed final dividend per share EZSRAIKE HK60 cents HK70 cents -14%
P d ial final dividend I )
roposed special final dividen EEEREINRBRE T ~ N/A
per share
Net asset value per share BEREEFE HK$45.4 HK$43.7 +4%
Net gearing FEELRE 31% 37%
* Excluding: * B

1) Gain on fair value changes of investment properties with gross amount (1) BREMELNTFEZSH 2 WED R B
of HK$6.3 million, net amount of HK$1.1 million after sharing by non- WBEARA=TEBET  HKRIEER
controlling shareholders and deferred tax (2018: gross amount of MR EL DR REER HE 2 FHE
HK$174.9 million, net amount of HK$138.0 million after sharing by non- —EB—+EBET(ZT—N\F : 2%
controlling shareholders and deferred tax). —EETFORBEATEST - MK IEE

P& A% B FE (L 10 BE IR IE R TE 18 2 )5 8
—E=FN\EEET) -
@ Share-based payment of HK$229.2 milion, net amount of HK$199.8 million @) URHFEANR_BEZFAEZ=+8E
after sharing by non-controlling shareholders and deferred tax (2018: Nil). JC  FOBRIEIE AR A SR B A 1 B8 SRR
BRZFE—BATAENTESET
(Z2—N\F 9H) -
®3) Gain on disposal of a subsidiary of HK$2,089.8 million in 2018 (2019: Nil). 3) RZZ—N\F HE—HWNBAAZ
W= +RNFAANTEAL(ZF
—NE8K) -

(4) Written off of property, plant and equipment with gross amount of (4) mME - BERRBMED A A
HK$219.1 million, net amount of HK$122.7 million after sharing by non- B_E—Tha—+B8ET -
controlling shareholders (2018: gross amount of HK$764.1 million, net MEIEERBREEENDEZFE
amount of HK$755.1 million after sharing by non-controlling shareholders). —EZFZBtt+EET(ZZ—N

FoEBELEATOE—+85T

kIR R B (D RE1E 2 F 5

tRATAEE-—+BET) -
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Kingboard
Holdings Limited, | am delighted to report a healthy performance for the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
December 2019. The year 2019 has seen the electronics sector reviving
from a year-beginning low to stronger demand towards the latter part of
the year. During the first half of the year, US-China trade disputes and a
slowdown in domestic consumption growth in China have impacted the
industry leading to comparatively weaker demand. Stepping into the second
half, the industry rebounded significantly, helped by expedited investments
in 5G telecommunications equipment, as well as consumption growth for
automobile and home appliances. The laminates division leveraged the
opportunity afforded by the market revival to maintain its global leading
position through an active sales strategy. The printed circuit boards (“PCB”)
division has taken steps to enhance its product mix to meet the requirements
of niche value-added markets, thereby raising the yield of this business
stream. However, both the chemicals and property divisions reported
declines in segment results owing respectively to a lower average selling price
for chemical products and a drop in the booking of sales of residential units.

Compared to 2018, revenue of the Group decreased 11% to HK$41,160.9
million in 2019, posting an underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring
items) of HK$3,415.8 million, down by 26%. The Group maintained a robust
financial position, and the Board has therefore proposed a final dividend of
HKB0 cents per share with a special final dividend of HK50 cents per share,
subject to approval by the Shareholders of the Company.

Turnover Breakdown by Products & ¥ 58 {7

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

PERFORMANCE

Leveraging on the laminates division’s strategic execution capability, the
Group has secured the top position in the global ranking of laminates
producers for many consecutive years. The laminates division utilised a
competitive pricing strategy to increase penetration into existing clientele and
to develop new customers during the first half of the year, amid subdued
demand for electronics products. As demand began to be unleashed during
the second half, the division was able to significantly increase shipments
on the back of its supply chain advantage. However, as product prices did
not start to pick up until nearly the end of the year, the average selling price
achieved was lower than that of 2018, resulting in a 5% decline in segment
turnover (including inter-segment sales) to HK$16,351.5 million. Earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) fell 21% to
HK$2,790.4 million.

The proliferation of 5G telecommunications has brought about strong demand
for network equipment. The PCB division has grasped the opportunity to
enhance its product portfolio. With extensive production experience in high-
density interconnect (“HDI”) PCB, the segment has successfully increased the
proportion of high value-adding products for telecommunication applications.
At the same time, the PCB division has deepened its collaboration with
leading downstream automobile and consumer electronic plants. These
efforts have helped drive the Group’s foray into high-end, high value-adding
market segments, thereby expanding the segment’s profitability. During this
transition of product portfolio enhancement, the PCB segment recorded a 1%
decrease in segment turnover to HK$9,623.2 million, while EBITDA expanded
4% to HK$1,096.0 million.

In the chemicals division, the average selling price of the key products
declined compared with 2018 as the growth of domestic investments
in mainland China slowed down. Despite the commissioning of a new
project contributing an additional monthly capacity of 5,000 tonnes of
epichlorohydrin, this capacity growth could not fully offset the impact of
the sliding selling prices. Segment turnover (including inter-segment sales)
dropped 17% to HK$13,427.8 million, with EBITDA also down by 36% to
HK$1,364.0 million.

BEEEAERAA

RBRE

SEZFAREEZREANEREREERD
2L B E R 2 A B 1T
He ELEXEFEEFHEFRLTRZE - 5P
REEENEMBRER  NENEF2E
EEMEEFPHIRE -FTEEFRERZ
B MPANBAEXEED  ABERAERN
BE WEMEREEZFENSHRESR
T 2FTHERER T -N\F  EER
FeXB (BRI ZEE) THR% =
—HAANT=RAT-BRT&EET  KNEKF
BB EREBEAT AN TRE21% =
ZHEEATEEHEET

SGEAMMERESKIME  BABERE
FHRERY - BRIARIEIREDPIICERBE —F
BERMES  BREEENERETEEH
ENRI 4R B8R £ E A By~ ARIDIRTT = MY I ME &
FAERBLL G o B - R AR EE AR &0 P 75 0
RETHAERHEEFREARBNRES
B EMERTAR  SMMNEBD TS
M SHEEMREX ERLLERES
BBE IR - ENRIARBRAR BPPT & R T 1%
ERTAREZFT=ZB -8B - KNKF
B BE WERBEZAN EA4%E
TRATARBEEET -

AEANKRE I RRE  (CTHIEZERNF
HERRZZ-N\FEE - @EMPIRLFF
T A Bt A 500018 K IR A H A fL I8 B Ak
BRAER  BIRETEEEEBER TSN
R -HMEER(BEITMEZHEE) TR
17% Z2—B=1THE-_T+tANtEBT
RIBRAE - BB - EREHE BRI TR
36%  ET=FBATHEEESET -

B NEER



08

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

PERFORMANCE (continued)

During the year, the property division recorded a 30% decrease in segment
turnover to HK$3,293.0 million, with EBITDA down by 10% to HK$1,947.7
million. The decline mainly reflected the impact of mainland China’s housing
control measures, which led to a drop in the booking of unit sales. Residential
sales turnover decreased 41% to HK$2,137.7 million, whereas rental income
grew steadily by 9% to HK$1,155.3 million upon expiry of rent-free periods
and as occupancy rates improved.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial and liquidity position continued to be robust. As at
31 December 2019, net current assets and current ratio of the Group were
approximately HK$22,757.5 million (31 December 2018: HK$25,502.1 million)
and 2.04 (31 December 2018: 2.36) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased from 42 days as at 31 December
2018 to 54 days as at 31 December 2019 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, was 34 days (31
December 2018: 30 days).

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtors turnover days, was 60 days (31
December 2018: 50 days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for acquisition of

properties, plant and equipment), in terms of creditors turnover days,
was 40 days (31 December 2018: 38 days).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of interest-bearing borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents to total equity) was approximately 31% (31 December
2018: 37%), while the proportion of bank borrowings between short term
and long term stood at 32%:68% (31 December 2018: 26%:74%). During
the year, the Group invested approximately HK$2.5 billion and HK$3.4 billion
in acquiring new production capacity and property construction expenses
respectively. Backed by a highly experienced professional management
team, the Group is confident that these investments will deliver stable and
satisfactory returns to Shareholders over the long term.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. It did
not enter into any material derivative financial instruments during the year. The
Group had not entered into any arrangements to hedge its foreign currency
risk and the Group did not have any foreign exchange exposure during the
year. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB
and US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its
operating expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a global workforce
of approximately 39,000 (31 December 2018: 41,900) to cope with
business development requirements. In addition to offering competitive
salary packages, the Group grants eligible employees share options and
discretionary bonuses based on the Group’s overall financial achievements
and individual employee performance. The Group’s continued success relies
on a solid human resources strategy. The establishment of the Kingboard
Institute of Management helps nurture middle and senior managers over the
years. In addition, the Group recruits fresh graduates from mainland China,
Hong Kong and Taiwan every year for focused training and development. The
Group will continue to carry out training for all types of talents, who will give
the Group new impetus to its long-term development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$708,163,000 (2018: HK$527,397,000) as at 31 December 2019 to
facilitate mortgage bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties
that were developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the
purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of registration of the relevant mortgage properties. In the
opinion of the Directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts
of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018.

(b) On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgment by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of KLHL.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach
of the Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Action”). Based on
the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date, the board is
of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be intrinsically
defective and that the Company should have a more than reasonable
chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been
made.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

PROSPECTS

As the Sino-US trade negotiations are locked in a see-saw situation, the
global economy is fraught with risks on the macro level. The sudden outbreak
of the coronavirus and its worldwide spread have posed extra challenges
to the manufacturing industry. On condition that the Group can safeguard
the welfare and health of its employees, it will maintain stable production
and urge partners along its supply chain to restart work, in line with the
national strategy of concurrently combatting the epidemic and developing
the economy. Currently, the Group has resumed work at all Mainland plants,
most of which have returned to normal production.

In 2020, the laminates segment will seek both “qualitative” and “quantitative”
growth. On one hand, it has built a state-level laminates research and
development base in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, taking aim at the
advanced and high value-adding market through upgrading its thin, high-
frequency, high-speed and halogen-free laminates among other products. On
the other hand, the segment will build new capacity for glass epoxy laminates
in Shaoguan, Guangdong Province, in three phases. The first phase, with a
monthly capacity of 400,000 sheets, will go into trial production within the first
half of this year.

As for PCBs, 5G telecommunications-related products are surfacing one
after another. Electrification is also taking the automobile market by storm.
The PCB division will seize this opportunity to bring to the fore its capacity
advantage in telecommunications and automobiles, and to bolster up
its collaboration with leading customers downstream. On the back of an
improving product portfolio, the segment has been able to increase its yield.
In the next stage, the segment will focus on boosting its capacity utilisation
rate, so as to achieve a further sales volume breakthrough.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

P ROS P ECTS (continued)

The chemicals division is committed to improving resources utilisation and
strengthening environmental protection. Growth will be driven by the new
caustic soda and epichlorohydrin production lines of the halogens chemical
plant in Hengyang, Hunan Province, which will contribute full-year capacity in
2020. As China’s economy continues to demonstrate resilience, the Group
looks forward to a rebound in chemicals demand as infrastructure and other
investments are expected to resume after the pandemic subsides.

Regarding the property business, the Kau To project in Shatin, Hong Kong
is planned for completion and delivery within the first half of this year, with
booking of sales revenue expected. Meanwhile, the commercial property
connected to the High Speed Rail Station in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, is
close to completion, with leasing commitments received from some core
tenants. This project will provide impetus for the segment’s rental income
growth.

The Group has readied itself to cope with market fluctuations. With an industry-
leading position, cost advantage derived from a vertically integrated supply
chain, and the management team’s high efficiency and operational maturity,
the Group is dedicated to securing existing sales channels and opening up
new avenues. With a focus on cash flow management, the Group also seeks
to lower its gearing ratio and build a robust balance sheet, in a bid to achieve
substantial growth.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, banks, the management
and employees for their unreserved support in the past financial year.

Cheung Kwok Wing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 64, BBS, is the chairman and a co-founder
of the Group. He was the chairman and a non-executive director of Elec &
Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), which is a subsidiary of the
Company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”)
and dual-listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) up to 1 August 2019. Mr. Cheung was the chairman and director
of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited which is the subsidiary of the
Company (listed on the SGX until delisted on 10 June 2019) up to 3 January
2012. Mr. Cheung is a director of Hallgain Management Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Cheung is the brother of Ms. Cheung Wai
Lin, Stephanie, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, the brother-in-law of
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang and the father of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’ experience in the sales and distribution
of electronic components including laminates prior to the establishment of
the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall strategic planning of the
Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung
won the Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1993, which was organized
by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and was described as “far-sighted,
enterprising, and having insight in the business”. Mr. Cheung was the winner
of the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business Award, accredited with the Owner-
Operator Award in 2006. In 2011, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Honorary
University Fellowships of The University of Hong Kong. In 2013, Mr. Cheung
was appointed as a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Palitical Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic of China.
In 2017, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 58, is the managing director of the Group. He
is the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin,
Stephanie and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined the Group
in 1989 and has over 30 years’ experience in laminates production. Mr.
Chang graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher
diploma in marine electronics. He is responsible for the Group’s phenol/
acetone plant in Yangzhou, Jiangsu province and in Huizhou, Guangdong
province. He was re-designated from a non-executive director to an executive
director of EEIC with effect from 1 August 2014.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 55, is the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and the uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. He joined the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB industry
since 1984 with particularly extensive experience in marketing components
and materials required for PCB production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for
the Group’s chemical business operations and property developments in
southern China.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERSREBAECER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 65, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung
Ka Shing. He joined the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s
chemical business operations in Hebei and Shanxi province. He is also a non-
executive director of KBCF.

Ms. CHEUNG Wai Lin, Stephanie, aged 49, is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing, the sister-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the
cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the auntie of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.
She joined the Group in 2002. Ms. Cheung was appointed as an executive
director and the vice chairperson of EEIC with effect from 1 August 2014 and
was redesignated from the vice chairperson to the chairperson of EEIC with
effect from 1 August 2019. She is responsible for the strategic planning of
EEIC. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as an administration assistant
manager in a listed company for about 5 years.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Shing, aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 August 2014. He joined the Group in 2009 and is
responsible for the property development business of the Group in eastern
China. Mr. Cheung obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in the study of
Management with International Business at the University of London in 2009.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Ms. Cheung
Wai Lin, Stephanie and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and nephew-in-law of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

Mr. CHEN Maosheng, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director
on 11 January 2011. He joined the Group in 1996 and is currently the chief
financial controller of the Group in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
He is responsible for the management of the finance and tax matters of the
Group in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, he worked with the finance and
economics department of the government of the PRC for 12 years. Mr. Chen
graduated from Jiangxi Finance and Economics University (formerly known
as Jiangxi Finance and Economics Institution) in 1990. He is an accountant
certified by the finance department of the government of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERSREBAECER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 November 2015. Mr.
Cheung has extensive experience in the performance and cultural sector. Mr.
Cheung has participated in a number of community associations, including
the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association (Vice Honorary
Secretary); The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Election Committee
(First, Second and Third Election Committee Member); Deputy of the National
People’s Congress of PRC Election Committee (Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh
Election Committee Member) and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
2010. Mr. Cheung was elected as the Hong Kong deputy to the 12th National
People’s Congress in December 2012. Mr. Cheung was an independent
non-executive director of Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (stock code:
00391), a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. CHONG Kin Ki, aged 64, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director in 1 July 2016. He obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of
Surgery from the University of Hong Kong in 1980. He became a Fellow of the
Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh in 1984, a Foundation Fellow of the
Hong Kong Academy of Medicine in 1993, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong
Kong College of Surgeons in 1993. Dr. Chong has been a private medical
practitioner since 1989 and become a Registered Specialist in General
Surgery since 1993.

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 73, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 1 October 2016. He graduated from The University of Hong Kong
in 1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting and auditing matters,
having worked in the auditing profession for over 30 years, 20 years of which
he served as a partner. Mr. Leung retired from PricewaterhouseCoopers in
2005. Mr. Leung was the President of Lions Club of Victoria in 1986 and
1998 and a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995 to 1997. He is a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Leung is an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (“KLHL”"), a subsidiary of the Company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Mr. Leung is also an independent non-executive director
of two other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited (stock code: 0838) and
G-Vision International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0657).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERSREBAECER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 73, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 July, 2017. He received a
Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and he has over 45
years of experience in the textiles and garment manufacturing industry. Mr.
Chan joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294), a garment
manufacturer, in 1970 as was appointed as a managing director in 1987
and has been an executive director of which since then. He is an executive
director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375), a marketer and builder
of international apparel brands in Asia. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China;
Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau Special
Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Hong Kong Textile Advisory Board;
Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 46, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
May 1999. Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is in charge of the company
secretarial work of the Group. He is a non-executive director of KLHL, a
69.49% owned subsidiary listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lo has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in Notes 48, 21 and
22 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Product defects

The products of the Group may contain defects that can only be detected
when the electronics systems into which they are incorporated are in use.
The Group could be exposed to significant liability claims in the event that its
products are found to be defective. While the Group has implemented sound
systems to monitor its products at various stages of its production processes,
no assurance can be given that the Group’s products are free of defects.
Any significant liability claims could have an adverse impact on the results of
operations and reputation of the Group.

Customer contracts

The Group typically enters into one-off purchase orders with its customers. As
such, the amount of purchase orders may vary significantly from time to time,
and it is difficult to forecast the amount of orders to be received by the Group
in the future. No assurance can be given that the Group’s customers will
continue to place purchase orders with it in the future in similar amounts to
prior periods, if at all. As a result, the results of operations of the Group may
vary significantly in the future.

Competitive industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and

adversely affected.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy and the impact of
COVID-19, could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that have a significant impact on the Group.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with the
market standard. The Group reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living environment to
the employees regularly. The Group organises various recreational activities
for its staff to participate to maintain a close relationship with its employees.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
of products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 73.

An interim dividend of HK28 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$303,206,000 in aggregate respectively was paid to the Shareholders
during the year. The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK60 cents and special final dividend of HK50 cents per ordinary share
respectively to the Shareholders on the register of members of the Company
on Tuesday, 2 June 2020, being the record date for determining the
entitlement of Shareholders to the proposed final dividend and special final
dividend, amounting to HK$662,795,000 and HK$552,329,000 respectively,
in aggregate, and the retention of the remaining profit in the Company.

For the final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2019 proposed
by the Directors and subject to the approval by the Shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting, please refer to Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held in aggregate approximately
HK$10,903 million investments in equity and debt instruments, representing
11% of the total asset of the Group as at 31 December 2019, of which
approximately HK$3,020 million and HK$7,883 million respectively were
equity and debt instruments, representing approximately 3% and 8%
respectively of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019. These
equity and debt instruments consist of mostly securities listed on Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and bonds issued mainly by companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group acquired its equity and debt
instruments through on-market purchases. The Group will from time to time
monitor the price movement of prices in securities and bonds and may adjust
its investment portfolio as and when appropriate.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

IR B BUR

ARBMBREBEZ BBERERRDZERN -
ﬁ%% RANBBESARBERRER - K
RAMBEEIR - P - BERRESBEVANA
MEERER - RBTARBEMEEAR -
EXRAEARAERBERKRER  EEZHERA
= BRUBES  AIHOIKREE - SERR
HESFRARAEEERN KA RNERF
g - EAFER  BEEETHBRIARFNK
B e

REW=

NEBZIREYWERFAZEHFBENGA
B ERRMIEE14 o

RE

—hWF+-A=1+—8 £B&EHEE
% ﬁgﬂhgfﬁﬁwﬁﬁ LEBITAER
E o HAEER_Z—AF+_A=+—8
BEE11%  BREEDEEFIAESR ALY
SHR-ZFEEILERELTNABNAT=EH
T hEERZE-NF+ZA=t—B8R%E
E DR ARIB% 8% - EmREBILAREE

GRFTEIR T2 B FRE B HEBRAT
IWimz RIBITHES - AEEBBMH
%A%%ﬁ%‘&ﬁ%lﬁ REETRFER
BHEREHFERNED  WHEKARERER

&



21 BEEEAERAA

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEERE

INVESTMENTS (continued) ?ﬁﬁ(%ﬁ)

Breakdown of the Group’s Significant Investments REBEERERMA

The following table sets out the breakdown of significant investments held by TREEAEENR _ZE—NF+_A=+—H
the Group as at 31 December 2019: BHEZEBIRERM

Fair value
as at % to the Bond Unrealised
Number of %of Investment 31 December Group’s interestfor  Gain/(loss) gain/
Name of investments bondsheld  bonds held cost 2019 total assets theyear  on disposal (loss)

R-B-7E

t=A
BRz  BEES TR fBRE HERE, FERKE/
it G BAlt  REHA AVE BEERAL  SMESAE (68 (B8
000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
Tk TERL Thn Tin TER Tin

Bonds lsted on Singapore Exchange Securties Tracing BEEERARLA (MBI LA
Limited (*SGX") by Country Garden Holdings Company RARE : 2007) ETMRESR AT
B

Limited (HK stock cod: 2007) AR ]) L%
() fixed coupon interest 7.125% per annum and ) EEERTIBE/ERRS

maturity date in January 2022 HBRA-5-"%-f 130,000 30.6% 1,011,025 1,093,492 11% 81,235 13,890 82,467
(i) fixeol coupon interest 8% per annum and maturty i EEESOEZERES

Gate in January 2024 HBAASomE-F 66,000 6.6% 512,673 573,955 0.6% 84,397 60,210 61,282

Bond listed on SGX by Guangzhou RF Properties Co,  BME A ERMARAR (RERH L -

Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777 BRRE : 271 TR L B -
() fixed coupon rate of 5.875% per annum and (i) EAESS8TOEEERS -

maturity date in February 2023 i St 5 200,000 333% 1560000 1,506,569 1.6% 91,399 - (83,431)
(i) fixedl coupon rate of 8.75% per amumend maturty (i) EEEE8T5EZERZS

date in January 2021 TR=E--F-FHH 95,000 19.0% 739,333 795,864 0.8% 64,833 1,702 56,531
(i) fixeol coupon rate of 7% per annum and maturity i) BEFSTEZERZS

date in April 2021 PR-E-—FMmA5H 104,000 17.3% 811,200 828,049 0.9% 62,105 384 16,849
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.875% per annum and (V) EEES88TSE/ERRS

maturty date in September 2021 TR-F--FNAHH 80,000 40.0% 624,000 672,565 0.7% 63,801 7,079 48,565

Bond listed on Stock Exchange by KWG Group Holdings ~~ ASRE£EZRARAA
Limited (HK stock cod: 1819) (Mﬂ*&ﬁm TRIARE - 1813)
R L

() fixed coupon rate of 6% per annum and maturity () EEESEEZERZES

date in January 2022 e 1 - 82,000 126% 639,209 662,585 0.7% 38,375 - 23,376
(i) fixed coupon rate of 9.85% per amumend maturty (i) EEEEISBE/EFZE

date in November 2020 TR-Z-FE+-R3E 96,000 17.5% 748,800 791,630 0.8% 75,287 1,938 42,830

6646200 6924709 % B4R BA 2846

' —T-NEEH
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Save as the investments, as set out in the table above, the Group did not
hold any other significant investments during the year ended 31 December
2019.

All of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) (“CGH”),
Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) and KWG
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1813) (“KWG”) are principally engaged
in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of CGH dated 20 September 2018 and 2
October 2018: (i) the senior notes (“CGH January 2022 Senior Notes”) were
issued by CGH in September 2018, and due in January 2022. The CGH
January 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of
7.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds
from the CGH January 2022 Senior Notes were intended to be used mainly
for refinancing CGH'’s existing offshore indebtedness; and (i) the senior notes
(“CGH January 2024 Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September 2018,
and due in January 2024. The CGH January 2024 Senior Notes are listed
on the SGX and carry an interest of 8% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January 2024 Senior Notes
were intended to be used mainly for refinancing CGH’s existing offshore
indebtedness.

According to the announcement of annual results for the year ended 31
December 2019 of CGH, as at 31 December 2019, its group’s net gearing
ratio was 46.3%, representing a year on year decrease of 3.3 percentage
points.
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Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 13 November 2017, 4 January
2019, 18 April 2018 and 19 September 2018: (i) the senior notes (“GRFP
February 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in November 2017,
and due in February 2023. The GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes are listed
on the SGX and carry an interest of 5.875% per annum and interests are
payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP February 2023 Senior
Notes were intended to be used to refinance debt and for general corporate
purposes of GRFP; (i) the senior notes (“GRFP January 2021 Senior Notes”)
were issued by GRFP in January 2019, and due in January 2021. The GRFP
January 2021 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and carry an interest of 8.75%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from
the GRFP January 2021 Senior Notes were mainly for offshore refinancing;
(iii) the senior notes due April 2021 (“GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes”) were
issued by GRFP in April 2018, and due in April 2021. The GRFP April 2021
Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 7% per annum
and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP April
2021 Senior Notes were intended to refinance debt and for general corporate
purposes; and (iv) the senior notes due September 2021 (“GRFP September
2021 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in September 2018, and due in
September 2021. The GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes are listed on the
SGX and carry an interest of 8.875% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP September 2021 Senior
Notes were mainly for offshore refinancing.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2019 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP increased
to 199% at 31 December 2019 from 184% at 31 December 2018.

Based on the announcement of KWG dated 16 March 2017 and 15
November 2018: (i) the senior notes (‘KWG January 2022 Senior Notes”) were
issued by KWG in March 2017, and due in January 2022. The KWG January
2022 Senior Notes are listed on Stock Exchange and carry an interest of 6%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the
KWG January 2022 Senior Notes were intended to be used for refinancing
certain of KWG'’s existing indebtedness and for its general working capital
purposes; and (i) the senior notes (“KWG November 2020 Senior Notes”)
were issued by KWG in November 2018, and due in November 2020. The
KWG November 2020 Senior Notes are listed on the Stock Exchange and
carry an interest of 9.85% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually.
The proceeds from the KWG November 2020 Senior Notes were intended to
be used for refinancing certain of KWG’s offshore debt.
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According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2019 of KWG, as at 31 December 2019, its group’s net gearing
ratio increased from approximately 66% that as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately 75%.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Significant
Investments

By leveraging our experience in sales and rental properties, our major
investments in available-for-sale investments/equity and debt instruments
have focused mainly on the debt instruments of issuers engaging in the
properties sector. Our investment objective is to generate stable additional
interest income.

PROPERTIES, PLANT OR EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in properties, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF BRI R

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to ARNBW AL - BRAEAZFE AR mE
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares. SR AT R ALIE o

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF §BE - HESEEK K
SHARES

During the year, the Company purchased 1,824,500 Shares on the Stock RERN  B-T-NFAA-TERBTHAR
Exchange for an aggregate consideration of HK$39,089,145 before expenses RRBRRBERE ERRBIBELRNNE
pursuant to the share buy-back mandate approved by our shareholders at HE - AR B SZPTIA (B 39,089,145/ 7T
the annual general meeting held on May 27, 2019. The bought-back Shares (REFIX ) RE[EI1,824,5000% 8% 15 © BEEI 8RR (D
were subsequently cancelled. The purchase was effected by the Board for HEEWTH ZEFHTEEREERERS
the enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. Details of the shares BREE - BRRNDOFENT

purchases are as follows:

Purchase consideration

per share
BREERE
Highest Lowest No. of shares Aggregate
price paid price paid purchased consideration
Date of for purchase Frfs Frfs BE Frfs
BEHH BEE RIEE REEE RRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
September 25, 2019 20.00 19.90 196,000 3,917,420
—T-NFHhAZTHA
September 26, 2019 20.80 20.80 50,000 1,040,000
ZZ-NAFRAZTRA
September 27, 2019 20.80 20.75 30,000 623,900
ZT-NFhAZTER
October 14, 2019 21.00 20.85 200,000 4,193,700
—ET-NEF+ATHEA
October 15, 2019 20.85 20.55 500,000 10,365,200
—E-NF+ATEE
October 16, 2019 20.70 20.55 200,000 4,126,750
ZE-NF+ATRHE
October 17,2019 20.85 20.85 48,500 1,011,225
—ET-NEF+ATLEH
December 20, 2019 23.00 22.95 366,000 8,406,000
—T-NFt+ZA=+H
December 23, 2019 23.10 23.05 234,000 5,404,950

“T-NFt-A-t=H

Total 1,824,500 39,089,145

At
‘ “E-NEER
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES (continued)

During the year, the Group has, by way of a voluntary unconditional cash
offer via Excel First Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, purchased 75,838,928 ordinary shares of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited with an aggregate sum of HK$259,824,000.
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited was listed on the Main Board of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and the purchase
of the relevant shares was conducted on the SGX-ST. Following the above
mentioned purchase, Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited was delisted
from the Official List of SGX-SX on 10 June 2019.

Please refer to the joint announcements of the Company and KLHL dated 4
and 18 April 2019, 2, 5, 13, 16 and 21 May 2019 and 4 and 6 June 2019 for
full details.

During the year, apart from the above, there was no purchase, sale or
redemption by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
December 2019 comprised the retained profit of HK$150,432,000 (2018:
retained profit of HK$174,067,000).

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium and the
special surplus account of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2019, the sum of the retained profits and the share premium

of the Company amounted to approximately HK$6,717,287,000 (2018:
HK$6,248,970,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Mr. Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheung Ming Man

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Chan Wing Kee

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, each of Mr. Ho
Yin Sang and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, being executive Directors and
Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being independent non-
executive Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will be eligible
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s articles of association. Mr.
Ho Yin Sang and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, being executive Directors,
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being independent non-
executive Directors, will offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

ESzROER

RZZE-AF+_A=+—H EFKESE2
BEATHRARF REBHEE(ERLES R
HIE ARG ([ 5 R G &1 1) SEXVER) Z B fp
HEBRMOHEST  HARRRIRIEZES LB
BIRPIFEI5216FE 2 BrLMATACE 2 e - 3k
REBELEHEITAERETESIHNRETH
EHEAR A LB FT 2 ST

Long position EE
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a) AABEREEIABITZEER (TR

% 1)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Number of share capital
issued of the Company
Shares held L[ N
Name of Director Capacity Fride T BRITRA
EEpE HmtE RGEE ZBHBE D
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1) Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 5,985,905 0.5413%
SREIEE S A (Mt 6t PN E
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 9,087,228 0.8218%
BB S A (M 5E2) EnlEAA TBEzR
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 4,457,000 0.4031%
REELE EmEAA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 3,746,700 0.3388%
A A 5 A (M RE3) EnEA AN Bk
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie (Note 4)  Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 709,000 0.0641%
sRiEE L (FiEE4) ERABE A/ TiBkEms
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 1,481,000 0.1339%
REK L BEnEBA
Mr. Cheung Ming Man Beneficial owner 35,000 0.0032%
SREAGISEAE EmEE A
Dr. Chong Kin Ki Beneficial owner 200,000 0.0181%
GrERIHEe BnEBA
Mr. Chan Wing Kee Beneficial owner 285,000 0.0258%
PRACHESE A4 BEnEBA
Notes: BT
1) Out of the 5,985,905 Shares, 5,770,905 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung 1) 7% 5,985,905k fk R - H A

Kwok Wing and 215,000 Shares were held by his spouse.

5,770,905% f% 15 Ty R ok B &8 Se E AR A
¥H - 215000815 Al 1 A B 3%
75 °

©) Out of the 9,087,228 Shares, 8,416,488 Shares were held by Mr. Chang ©) R % 9,087,228l kB R - H A
Wing Yiu and 670,740 Shares were held by his spouse. 8,416,488/ & 0 JTh R &P KB S HE AR A
B - M670,740/% A% 17 Bll By H B (B 5
5o
Q) QOut of the 3,746,700 Shares, 3,312,500 Shares were held by Mr. Ho Yin ) MR 3,746, T00 R R h & + H &
Sang and 434,200 Shares were held by his spouse. 3,312,500/ f& {7 T R {a] #e A o HE AR A
H - M434,2008%f% (5 Bl A E AL (B 3F
5o
@) Out of the 709,000 Shares, 689,000 Shares were held by Ms. Cheung Wai @) B 7% 709,000 A% A& 1H & H - H

Lin, Stephanie and 20,000 Shares were held by her spouse.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEzRHOEDZ®

(continued)
Long position (continued) REW®
(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”) (b) ELRTZEEBERE(ELBERED

Interest in
underlying Shares
pursuant to the

Share Options
Name of Director Capacity RIBELERE
EElR RRME REBR DR
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 1) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 1,940,000
AT A S A (FFRE) EmEa A LBk
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie Beneficial owner 1,750,000
sRIBE R+ EmEA A
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 1,980,000
SRR ST EmEA A
Note: BIsE -
(1) Out of the 1,940,000 Share Options, 1,500,000 were held by Mr. Ho Yin (1) T5%1,940,0000 B LB EE S - &
Sang and 440,000 Share Options were held by his spouse. #11,500,00017 1 42 B8 B Ty R (AT 3 A

FER ARG © 440,000 8 2 B
AR ERBREE -

‘ —T-NEEH
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEzRHOEDZ®

(continued)

Long position (continued) RE®

(c)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“KLHL Shares”) in KLHL, a (c) KATKZERENMBRARREEER
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company BREEIIBIZ2EER([EHERE

ARG

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Number of share capital of
issued KLHL KLHL
Shares held HEEREER
Name of Director Capacity FiFERTEY EEBTRAR
EEng REntE BERRGEHE 2R B
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 1,623,000 0.0527%
R B8R S A (BT EE) EnEE A TRiBEE
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 8,300,000 0.2694%
sk R S A (M EE2) BRI iBE
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Interest of spouse 543,000 0.0176%
fal A e A [IRLEEr
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 379,000 0.0123%
SRE K ST EmEB A
Notes: BT
(1) Out of the 1,623,000 KLHL Shares, 1,143,000 KLHL Shares were held Q) M 7%1,623,000 B2 B TE E R D &
by Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 480,000 KLHL Shares were held by his s HAr1,143,0000% 2B TE iR A 1D
spouse. TheRREI & S AR AR5 -+ 480,000
R ErE BRIk B AR B iEA -
7 Out of the 8,300,000 KLHL Shares, 7,500,000 KLHL Shares were held by @ 7 # 8,300,000 i 12 VB 75 [ 1R 40 &
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and 800,000 KLHL Shares were held by his spouse. s+ E#7,500,00008 522 E 1 fE Rk AR 1)
TheR oK R S AN AF5E - 11800,000
R EREERIR D BB A BRE -
(d) Share options of KLHL (“KLHL Share Options”) (d) EEEERCELERE(EEEER
BEBRE]D
Interest in
underlying
KLHL Shares
pursuant to KLHL
Share Options
BERTEEER
BB E
Name of Director Capacity REBHEEER
EEnE e EHERG AR
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Interest of spouse 11,300,000
AL & BB R
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu Beneficial owner 550,000
REEFELEE EmEB A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(e) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share
capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

E=nA

Capacity
fEsME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner

SREIEE S A BEmlEBA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner
LIPS v BEmlEBA
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner
REELE BaERA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner
Al e A EmEEA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited are
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

(f) Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in the share capital of EEIC, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

EBHR

Capacity
EatE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner

SREISR ST 4 EREEA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner
BBk EREBA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner
Al A S A BRERAA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2019. Further details of the share
options of the Company and its subsidiaries and the Directors’ interests in
them are available in the section headed “Share Options” in and Note 35 to

the consolidated financial statements of this Report.

BEEEAERAA

EECRDER

REW®)

() FARFZEHEAWEBARNRBEER
FRLAFDREADEREABEIEBTZER
SRR R 1

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held
(Note)

FrisERRREIRLE
IR 8 E
(i)

1,904,400
423,200
846,400

529,000

e AEEHERSEREEERERARZ
BEREEELERD - ZERTEM) I E
B A U BB R AR A PR A RUE A%
RRGBEHHFEERAGENE L&
EZHEM - TRAWER B B RE
ERERDIRZ ERET -

(f KATFEZEREH B X TEEICKRAF
@R (TEEICKA )

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued EEIC share capital
Shares held of EEIC

FrFE 1T {REEICE RTIRZA

EEICR 3 & B ZHHABE D
1,647,200 0.8277%
486,600 0.2603%
486,600 0.2603%

B TEIN RoE-NFt - A=1—
B BESEFIEEIHEALNARRLE
EEAREOAE (B R R ESF B RAIEXVED)
Z Rt - AR RIESF B A
HER - BEARRLEMBARNELER
BAREENETHEDFE - R AREE
SRR | —ERIA R AR & AR R FTRESS -

—T-NEEH
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company, and EEIC and KLHL
(including their vesting and exercise period) are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As further disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements,
the 2009 Scheme was terminated on 27 May 2019, when the Scheme was
approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting. There
were no movements in the Share Options under the 2009 Scheme during the
year.

Under the Scheme, on 18 November 2019, 25 November 2019, 3 December
2019 and 6 December 2019, an aggregate of 23,830,000 share options were
exercised at the exercise price of HK$17.304 per share with a closing market
price of HK$20.85, 22.45, 21.85 and 22.25 on the immediately preceding
business day respectively when the options were exercised for ordinary share
of the Company of HK$0.1 each.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options under the
Scheme during the year:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BrBRE

ANAT] - EEICKEEHEBIRE BT S5
B(RELRBHRITES SR GREMBIRE
MIEESS5 ©

HREA M BHRARMEESS - BRENIRRER
AEBBZTER  —ETNFHEER T
—NFRAZ+EAKLE - FR —ZTTNF
ETEITE TR B ) o

BiEZTE > =T —hFE+—A+NH8 -
—E-hAE+—-A-+EHEA —E—-hE
+ZA=ZHERZZE—HAF+=_AXHB  HHF
23,830,00017 B St AR T - 1TTEEARE
B817.80478 70 - BEEEBREEITE —@E
BER  ARRFREEAEITHL R IR
B AFH20.85 + 22.45 + 21.85F122.2575 7T °

TREBRZ A TEABRERFAZE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December
2019 2019
g :3 Granted Exercised R-E-—1&
—HB—H duringtheyear duringtheyear +=H=+—H
18 RAT B REARRH RERT i RATE

Category 1: Directors £ EF
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing REIREE - 5,000,000 (5,000,000 -
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Bk - 5,000,000 (5,000,000 -
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan REBLAE - 5,000,000 (5,000,000) -
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 1) AT S AR (P 5E1) - 5,000,000 (3,500,000) 1,500,000
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie KEEBELLT - 2,250,000 (500,000 1,750,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing KRR AE - 2,310,000 (330,000) 1,980,000
Mr. Cheung Ming Man SREAGULAE - 285,000 (285,000) -
Dr. Chong Kin Ki HEHEAE - 285,000 (285,000) -
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu DT - 285,000 (285,000) -
Mr. Chan Wing Kee BRI A& - 285,000 (285,000) -
- 25,700,000 (20,470,000 5,230,000
Category 2: Employees (Note 1) F288 : R (1) - 3,800,000 (3,360,000) 440,000
Total for all categories PR R AIE 5T - 29,500,000 (23,830,000) 5,670,000

Note 1: In addition to 1,500,000 Share Options held by Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the spouse of Mr. BRRET + B fa) 3% AE 5t A 5 7B /91,500,000 19 18 4t B8 AR 4

Ho Yin Sang held 440,000 Share Options.
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S fEFRAE ST A 2 BOAE TR 4 440,00010 B S EE
P -



33 BEEEAERAA

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

SHARE OPTIONS (continued) @%Eﬁﬂﬁ*&(%)

The following table discloses movements in KLHL Share Options during the TREBBEESEERELEBIRENER &
year:

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December

2019 2019
R=ZB—-h& Granted Exercised
—H—B during the year during the year
e RATFE RERRH RERTTHE

Directors and employees of KLHLNee BEREREERESN - 39,000,000 - 39,000,000
Total =Xl - 39,000,000 - 39,000,000
Note:  Including Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, a director of KHL and KLHL, who is interest in 550,000 Wi : BEEEEEELEEEERESREBLER
KLHL Share Options. For further details, please refer to Note 35 to the consolidated 550,00017 12 EHE B IRE LB ERERS - 5515

financial statements in this report. BRMGA M REMFESS

Save as disclosed, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or had Br E PR BEE HN - BIEEFE AN A &) gl H I

lapsed under the Company’s or its subsidiaries share option schemes during BARIZELABREFSBETTERLY - 17
the year under review. - B BARE BB IRE R -

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES BEROIEF2ZHE
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the options as disclosed above, at no time during the year was Bk £SO TR RB SN - AR R REAEMA M
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable BRAINFENEMEERES2ET I ERZR
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or B B E SRR ARRRISEMEMEAA
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. E g2 IR ES MR o

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR BEARS » RHI
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE Gy

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this ARSI BERS | — R MG A BRI
report and in Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no ATFIHEEN  BERBE=Z—NF+=
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at A=+—BULHEFERSINERDAERMES
the end of 31 December 2019 in which a Director or an entity connected with SNEEEAME EREEENMEEEE A

a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there HZEARS  THEED  (D)ARAFHET
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, E I ENGIL 35 R NN =R S Gl D= R/N=] Bd
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; TRARRETLERE L) 5 (o)A Al sk H AT farft

(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the BARZ R E|IILEREL - LAEAR
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the AR E (I E A AR AR -

Company or any of its subsidiaries.
‘ ZE-NEFER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2019, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following
Shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of shareholder Capacity

RS ERME

Hallgain Management Limited (“Hallgain”) (Note) Beneficial owner

() BmBEAA

FMR LLC Investment manager
REKTE

Fidelity Purition Trust Investment Manager
REKTE

(] The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Note:  As at 31 December 2019: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors were not accustomed to
act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
being a Director, was also a director of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2019 which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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FERR

RIBARRBIZE S M EGIIFEIB6IHATE
ZEXZEREAMMALE  RZE-NF+A
=t—B  TIBRR(EXMEEETEEZ#E
wmRIN BB ARRRERARR D BITHRA
THRAZAMAESSRER -

Approximate
percentage of
the issued

Number of issued share capital of
Shares held the Company
FrfEE 1T HAR AT E BT
RGEE BRAEZBABEDHE

431,500,000 (L) 39.02%
108,266,700 (L) 9.79%
86,079,500 (L) 7.78%

L [LIFRERE -

ek : RZZ—AFE+=A=+—8 : ()i EHallgainh%
AR Hallgainf R A S 1T sk B i sk ik
FIFTE = — kA _E 2 RRHE - Hallgain & H
ERWTMERRBEMBREERTE  R()ES
SREIER S A TR AHallgain s EE o

B LA BEEI ARG EENER _F
—NFTZA=+—RAZEARRBZEITRAS
RIEFEF MG RHIEXVEE2R3D 2 TE
ARAANRIWE 2 EMEMAEESRRER -
FARIEE K B G0 533615 R E AR RAR
72 B aik 2 (R EtiRRR SR -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principles of
good corporate governance and complied with the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2019, save for the deviation that independent non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code.

For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during
the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual
report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2019, the Group had the following non-exempt connected transactions
(which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules:

(@) Acquisition of Properties

On 8 January 2019, Kingboard Property Development (HK) Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
agreement (the “OTB Purchase Agreement”) with Hallgain Investments
Limited (“Hallgain Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hallgain
Management Limited (“Hallgain”), to acquire the entire issued share
capital of Above Top Limited (“Above Top”) for a total consideration
of approximately HK$910 million. Above Top was the sole owner of
each of the other target companies, which held certain properties at
the Overseas Trust Bank Building.

The transactions contemplated under the OTB Purchase Agreement
constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules on the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and
hence Hallgain Investments, Its subsidiary, is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

(b)  Acquisition of Target Equity
On 14 August 2019, Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement (the “Share
Purchase Agreement”) with Hallgain Investments, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hallgain, to acquire 100% issued share capital of Nippon
(Boluo) Electronics Company Limited for a total consideration of
HK$600 million.

The transactions contemplated under the Share Purchase Agreement
constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules on the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and
hence Hallgain Investments, its subsidiary, is a connected person of

the Company under the Listing Rules.

BEEEAERAA

AN\ AL gt o/
1F B/A

EERn BREUFRTESUIIRBLRE
ASTRI(TRRERST A R EA41BIRS
EEMZREZREEBRZ  RABRBRE-T
—NFE+ A=+ —HEFERNDRBREE
EERRAFET EHARRM S+ TAT 20
FEATRIPTHE 2B T AR -

BRARBFANGEERTRNESHE
FLHAFHANZEEERRSE

FEXS

R-ZF—NF ARBEETUTETHRASE
1AAB I TER R R 5 (R R T
R5) ¢

(@ WEWE

RZZTE—NFE—ANR ARFE2E
BEWBARIREEX(EE)AR
~al#Hallgain Management Limited
([Hallgain]) 2 &% B M E X &
Hallgain Investments Limited([Hallgain
Investments ] ) &1 32 ek (B IMEFEIRTT
REKERZE])  WEREBHNE—T
B T Above Top Limited([ Above
Top ) MZIMEEITHA - Above Top
REMEBARISENME—ERA  H
b B IR RSB EIMERRITRES T
E

A Hallgain B A AE X ZRE -
ItE AR ¥ AR Bl E B B A 7] Hallgain
Investments B A A BIREE AL © BIME
AREBERHZE FHHETHR ZEK
FHRAIFE1AAZFIIEORIER S -

(b) WEEBERR
RZZE—NFNATMB » ARAZE
BB N B E R & AR A Rl #Hallgain
2 BB E A AlHallgain Investments
It ([ERGED) - LBRENE
BLWERG (BB ETERA A
100% 2 B TARAR ©

AR Hallgain BRA A" EBRE -
It AR 45 £ T AR B E K 8 2 §Hallgain
Investments B AN A RIBIEA L - BB
WEIE NEETTHR SBAK EMARAE
14AZFTIEMER S ©

B NEER
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Sale of Properties (c)
On 23 November 2019, Golden Concept Development Limited,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
preliminary sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with each of the purchasers for the sale of a total of two
apartments and 10 houses, respectively, under the Cavaridge Project.

BERXF @)

MIEHEE
R-ZE—hF+—A=-+=H ' AAQ7a
EEWBELRIAIEHERARESS
BEFHEE®REEER T o84 K2
NERI0EERETIY —BIS BB i
([BEW=] -

TEREJIREBEEEBAKLEZMER

The following table sets out the properties to be sold under the Sale

and Purchase Agreement and their respective purchasers:

HEAWMET ¢

Major Connected relationship Saleable
with the Companytrote 1) size  Consideration
BAQN T 2 EEAEREFRMED AIHEEE 1B
(sa.ft.) (HKS)
(FHER) (&7T)
Apartments:
AE:
1. Ms. Ho Kin Yan Daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, 2,784 55,750,000
an executive Director (note 2)
flRE L PITESMEELREZ LR (Mi5E2)
2. Ms. Chang Pui Lam Daughter of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, 2,984 59,755,000
an executive Director (note 2)
Ep A £ BITESERBIEAE 2 5 (FiE2)
Houses:
FE
3. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Executive Director 5,376 134,831,000
SREBIZ A4 WITES
4, Mr. Cheung Cho Yee, Son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, 5,976 149,879,000
Jason an executive Director
SRR AE BITEEREREE S RT
5. Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Executive Director and son of 4,317 108,271,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
an executive Director
SRR HAHTEEMRTEETRESRELE
ZRF
6. Ms. Cheung Ho Ling Daughter of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, 4,068 102,026,000
an executive Director
B L PITESREEREI LR
7. Mr. Cheung Kwun Yat Son of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, 4,039 101,299,000
an executive Director
REERE WITEFREELRECRT
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BERS

(c) Sale of Properties (continued)

Houses: (continued)

) MEREEE

Major Connected relationship Saleable
with the Companytrote 1) size

BAQN T 2 EEMERER®ED AHEEE
(sq.ft.)
(FHER)

Consideration
RE

(HK$)

(&)

FE ()
8. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 4,315 108,221,000
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie,
each an executive Director
SREIGR 4 PITESREREER
HITERRBELLTZ AR
9. Ms. Cheung Chun Ming, Emily Niece of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 2,710 67,968,000
(note 3) Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie,
each an executive Director
SROANS 22 £ (FEE3) PITESREREER
HITERRBEL L ZELX
10. Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 4,326 108,497,000
brother of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing,
each an executive Director
RRFRE PITESREREEZRFR
HITERRRKEEZ LA
11. Ms. Liu Mei Juan (note 4) Sister-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing 4,777 119,808,000
and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie,
each an executive Director
BB (Mi4) PITESREREER
WITESREELZ T ZRR 18T
12. Ms. Cheung Nga Ting, Sandra Niece of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 4,103 102,904,000
(note 5) Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie,
each an executive Director
sRAEE 2 L (FiEE5) PITESREREER
HITERREEL L ZEL
—E-NFEFER
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(@)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Sale of Properties (continued)
Notes:

1. There are other family relationships mainly by virtue of (a) Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, each an executive Director, are
siblings; (b) Mr. Ho Yin Sang and Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, each an executive
Director, are brothers-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung
Wai Lin, Stephanie, each an executive Director; (¢) Mr. Cheung Kwong
Kwan, an executive Director, is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, each an executive Director; and (d) Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping,
each an executive director of Kingboard Laminates, are siblings of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, brothers-in-law
of Mr. Ho Yin Sang and Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and cousins of Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan, each an executive Director.

2. The sale of the apartment also includes two car parking spaces.
3. Ms. Cheung Chun Ming, Emily is the daughter of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung.
4. Ms. Liu Mei Juan is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa.

5. Ms. Cheung Nga Ting, Sandra is the daughter of Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping.

As each of the purchasers is a connected person of the Company,
each of the sales under the Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted
a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

In 2019, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (which are also related party transactions)
within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into
a purchase framework agreement (the “KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase certain materials for the production of PCBs such as
copper balls and drill bits from Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the
“Hallgain Group”) from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under
the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement, the amount of
materials to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market
price) of the materials under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed by the
Group with the Hallgain Group.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BERXF @)

(c)

(@

YIRS E ()
fia -
1. WERERERE - TBAR (@B

EERERELERRITESREERL
RILBEIR - (D)ITERAMRAELLE
RHTESERAEE RNITESRE
BEERPITERREEL T ZEX
K (OMITERREERERRITE
EREREERPITERREELLZ
TR R()REBLE  REIELLE
FORB T EE R RRBEERZNITE
£ PARITEFRESREERNITE
FREEL L Z BRI TEEHE
RERMITEREIBAEZKRE, /)
ERRTESREELE IR -

2. REHEREREMEEERL
3. FREARL T ARBEEE LR o

4. BERIBU T RREEREZIRE -

5. R AL RARBETHREZZSR o

HRERETBARARBEEAL
It BEWGHEE THSEEERE LD
RABRARR]—IREERS -
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UABEFTREN T ER R EWER S
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2 HEE Hallgain# EHER 7%
MRZTE—XRE+A=1+7"8 "  AQF
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AREBRER-_Z—+F—HA—H8%
—ZT—AF+ - A=+—HMAHallgain
MEWE AT ([HallgaintkE |) #E = iR
KREHELEENRGEROSE TH
B BIEEEEE HallgainfE BEZR
g BIEE 2 MEBEWIERERTE -
RHINFITRHRETRRE - 2ES
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@

(b)

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement
dated 26 October 2016.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement by the end of 2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company
entered into purchase framework agreement with Hallgain (“the
2020 KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement”) in relation to
the purchase of certain material for the production of PCBs such
as copper balls and drill bits from Hallgain Group by the Group for
a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.
The annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2022 are
HK$610 million, HK$640 million and HK$672 million, respectively.
Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October
2019 for information.

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement

On 26 October 2016, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to supply
copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement the amount to be supplied is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the KLHL Group.

BEEEAERAA

BERXF @)

(@

(b)

2NEE, HallgainiE BiEL 155
(8)

M Hallgain BEZE © RIE LTHHE
AAARRRZBEAL  SIRE TR
AIF14A% - EEEE HallgainfE BiE
BIBBBE N 2R HERA BB 2 HER

HHEME HallgainBE BEERBEE
IRGBE_T-NF+=-_A=+—H
HFEZFELREERISERAT
o BEEE HallgainfE EIEZE 3
ZHBERARRBHAE-T—AFET
AZ+RBZHBAERERHEE -

FEHRESE £ E Hallgaing B1E R 73
HRZE—NFRER  RZT—NF
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VBEBEERRHR(IZZ_SFEEE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the table below.
Details of the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement dated 26 October
2016, and KLHL's circular dated 21 November 2016.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement by the end of 2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company
entered into a supply framework agreement with Hallgain (“the 2020
KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement”) in relation to the
supply of copper and laminates by the KLHL Group to the Hallgain
Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022. The annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2022
are HK$568 million, HK$625 million and HK$687 million, respectively.
Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October
2019, and KLHL's circular dated 21 November 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 26 October 2016, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a purchase
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to purchase
materials for production of laminates such as drill bits and machineries
from the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2019. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement,
the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market
price) of materials under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KLHL
Group with the Hallgain Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement
dated 26 October 2016 and KLHL’s circular dated 21 November
2016.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement by the end of 2019, the Company entered into a purchase
framework agreement with Hallgain (the “2020 KLHL/Hallgain
Purchase Framework Agreement”) in relation to the purchase of
certain materials for the production of laminates such as drill bits and
machineries from the Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group for a term of
three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual
caps for the three years ending 31 December 2022 are HK$345
million, HK$362 million and HK$380 million, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October 2019, and
KLHL’s circular dated 21 November 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BERS

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected TRV EXFFEE EE-_ZE—NLE+ =B

transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set Tt HISEENBERERSZFELRE
out in the table below. BERRS52E -
Amounts Annual caps
©8 FEELER
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
() Purchase of copper balls and dfrill bits from AREBIREZEEEE,Hallgain 571,505 629,000
the Hallgain Group by the Group under B EEZR I MHallgain & &
the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework BB E IRk S S8R
Agreement
(i) Sales of coppers and laminates to the Hallgain 3 & @ = MR B E 495,127 847,000
Group by the KLHL Group under the KLHL/  F&E R HallgainfitfE
Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement HE 22 5% [ Hallgaint= &
o S 8 I B SR T AR
(iii Purchase of drill bits and machineries from EEEEREEREEE 311,581 424,000
the Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group under  1&E1R Hallgainf &
the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework HEZR 1353 [E)Hallgain = &
Agreement R B GBNE Mk Es

The amounts of the above transactions did not exceed the corresponding il GHESET THBeNERMABEE
annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as announced E-NFF+A=+—BUEURFEZHEBATF

by the Group. ELBR -

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing BYFNTEFCEM LMBERERS - &
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been SHERZERXG A AEBENB T Rk —RER
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on BIRPIRIE BB EGERGIN - BZEERRE
normal commercial terms and that the terms thereof and the relevant annual BFEELFRAATFABEFNARNAN R RRE
caps thereto are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and BEENE o

the Shareholder as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2019 disclosed by the Group
from pages 38 to 42 of this annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditors has confirmed that
nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019:

(@) have not been approved by the board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2019.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in Note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to a senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2019 was within the following band:

HK$2,000,001 or above

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there was a sufficient
public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
agent, auditor, secretary or other officer for the time being and from time to
time of the Company (and the personal representatives of those persons, as
the case may be) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges,
expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by him in or
about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or
discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including, without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or
liabilities incurred by him in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any
civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether
in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s
liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined or suppliers combined were less than 30%
of the Group’s sales or purchases respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year under review.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

23 March 2020
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance practice of a
listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for
a listed company to operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of
various self-regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, save for the deviation from
paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code since the independent non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
deviation, all the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
As such, the Company considers that steps have been taken with a view to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are in line with
the principles of the CG Code.

In addition to applying the principles in the CG Code, which is mandatory
in nature, the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which are
suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will continuously
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to
the Recommended Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he or she has complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2019

DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board'’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanation
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he or his
associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in the quorum
of the meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and
are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A.

DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

During the year under review, the Board had held four meetings
and the Company held an annual general meeting. The Directors’
attendance at Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and the
general meeting was as follows:

Board
Meeting
Bxe

g3

Number of Meeting R EE 4
Executive Directors BITES

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) RELFE) 4
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) BxBEFELE) 4
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4
Ho Yin Sang gt 4
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie KiFE 4
Cheung Ka Shing REK 4
Chen Maosheng 53 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES

Cheung Ming Man KA 4
Chong Kin Ki e 4
Leung Tai Chiu R 4
Chan Wing Kee Bk 4

Note:

General meeting refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on 27 May
2019.

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and no less than four times
in the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities

During the year under review, the Board was headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director were segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

. scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

° preparing meeting agenda after consultation with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between Management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

. assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director was mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .
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A.

DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, seven of whom are
executive Directors and four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors who are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of the Directors. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses appropriate professional qualifications
(or accounting or related financial management expertise) as required
by the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board as of the report
date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Cheung Ka Shing

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors
Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Leung Tai Chiu

Chan Wing Kee

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing. Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and
Mr. Ho Yin Sang are brothers-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. Mr. Cheung Ka Shing is the son
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Ms. Cheung Wai Lin,
Stephanie and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the nephew-in-law of
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

During the year under review, the independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The Board
considers that although such arrangement deviates from paragraph
A.4.1 of the CG Code, sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the CG Code.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards, property developments
and chemical products, administration and management experience
in the PRC factories, financial and accounting skills. The Company
believes that the current Board with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting (in the case
of filing a casual vacancy) or annual general meeting (in the case of
an additions to the Board) after appointment. The appointment of
Directors are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by Shareholders.
The Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being but shall
not be taken into account in calculating the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for re-appointment shall
have their biographical details made available to the Shareholders to
enable them to make an informed decision on their re-appointment.
Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation of Director
shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by announcement and
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation shall be included
in the announcement.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own

expertise, qualification and professionalism.
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Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against possibility of
legal action to be taken against the Directors and the management.

According to A.6.5 of the CG Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the
following trainings:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors HiTE=S
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) REIR(F/E)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) kg (EFaE)
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE

Ho Yin Sang BE:%

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie REE

Cheung Ka Shing RE

Chen Maosheng 5321
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Cheung Ming Man SREABL

Chong Kin Ki HEEH

Leung Tai Chiu Rt

Chan Wing Kee 553

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the CG
Code on Directors’ training for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the date of the report. The role of
the Remuneration Committee is to formulate policies and procedures
for determining the remuneration of Directors and senior management
and other remuneration related matters. The Remuneration
Committee is set up with written terms of reference which set out
clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board, including the
following duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (ontinueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

° recommend specific remuneration packages including, where
appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each executive
Director and the Managing Director and such other members
of senior management as it is designated to consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors (including non-executive Directors,
if any), taking into account factors such as effort, time spent
and responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to
him by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for
similar position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year under review is set out on pages 149 to 153 in Note
11 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in terms of
Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings during which the Remuneration Committee,
among other things, assessed the performance, and determined
the remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial performance
and operations of the Company to the Audit Committee and the
Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit
Committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 66 to 72 of this annual report.

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the systems
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessment, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above

procedures are properly carried out.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board (continued)

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2019, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct the senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.
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Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy

of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
embedded within our business processes so that it functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which includes establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identification to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit
services to the Company, the Committee will keep the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services PRIEMHEE
Audit services ZEARTS
Non-audit services FERZEARTS

()  Tax services () RS
(i)  Other services (i) EAbARTS

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audited services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in their opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditor as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

° to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report,
namely Mr. Cheung Ming Man (Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr.
Leung Tai Chiu.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

° review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

o discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu
(Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the
date of this report. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise;

° assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of
the Board; and

° re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered which should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Ho Yin Sang and
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, being executive Directors and Mr.
Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being independent
non-executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Mr.
Ho Yin Sang and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, being executive
Directors and Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being
independent non-executive Directors, will offer themselves for re-
election. During the meetings of the Nomination Committee, it had
considered the policy for the nomination of Directors, and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship.

It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors. All the above-named Directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the CG Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of
the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kingboard.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each Shareholder is
permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2691 0445/2691 5245
Email: enquiry@kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up to date version of the Company’s articles of association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s articles of
association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kingboard.com)
immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 73 to 264, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Eﬁﬁ@%ﬁ'%lﬁ(%)

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFSOMHRRETSHETEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

AL EFRERME(FRRME W TERFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of PHD
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the amounts
and judgements involved in estimating their net realisable
value and the future costs to completion of the PHD.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to HK$21.1
billion as at 31 December 2019. The Group’s PHD are all
situated in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices. The future selling prices are estimated by reference
to the recent selling prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations. In addition, the management
estimates the future costs to complete the PHD by reference
to the actual development costs incurred and the completion
status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the costs incurred and the completion status;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to recent transaction prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations, based
on our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations; and

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis,
based on the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Eﬁﬁ@%ﬁ'%lﬁ(%)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNHFSFONAHRARETERETRE

Key audit matter

HRETTER

Valuation of investment properties

REYENGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective investment properties included:
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judgements and complex estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$19.1 billion, accounting for
approximately 19.7% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2019 with a gain on fair value change of HK$6.3
million recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair values of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation.
The valuation committee of the Group provided information
to the Valuer and the Valuer established and determined the
appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation model. The
significant unobservable input of the approach is the price
per square metre of comparable properties. Changes in the
comparable properties adopted may result in a significant
increase or decrease in fair values.
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Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;

Understanding the key assumptions applied to the
valuation based on available market data and evaluating
their reasonableness; and

Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and
information used by the Valuer and the valuation
committee in the valuation model, including adjustment
factors for location and other individual factors such
as road frontage, size of property and facilities, on a
sample basis, in order to assess the appropriateness,
completeness and accuracy of these inputs and
comparing the comparable properties adopted with fair
market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concemn.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2020

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

RE R BEITEE
AENET

RS

WERE BB ERT  RAEEWLSEE
ARG EMBREANBARAEE - AME
PSR ESH I8 - RPERBEI RS hHiE
UL BIDERERTATARKEELS
o SERRERNBERLT - IREEEME
BMBETBEBRFHENNERRRBEE
HEHRBHE - BPVRE T EERSE P BBZ
EH e

HARNBYZBMBENETERAGBAZRK

‘e -

=g e BEMR A ETHATLT
S e

a5
—E-TF=ZA=-+=H



73

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZ =ZT— NG+ -A=+—HILFE

BEEEAERAA

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\&F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
BaaE FET FBT
Revenue BER 5 41,160,851 45,994,419
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE RIBHARB A (32,146,545) (35,691,963)
Gross profit EF 9,014,306 10,302,456
Other income, gains and losses HMWA - Wax RE1E 7 (93,519) 169,786
Distribution costs 7 $HRAR (1,185,765) (1,199,959
Administrative costs TR A (1,965,741) (1,959,820
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of RAFEFAERZ
equity instruments at fair value T EY
through profit or loss N EZ S (BE) 40,920 (148,297)
Gain on disposal of debt HEZRAFERA
instruments at fair value Hibh2mm o EHFITAY
through other comprehensive income Wzs 142,140 3,578
Gain on fair value changes of WEWMENFEEH 2 K 14
investment properties 6,263 174,896
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary i —FRINE A Bl 2 W 38 - 2,089,808
Share-based payments AR D AP 3R 35 (229,234) -
Finance costs BhE KA 8 (752,001) (589,222)
Share of results of joint ventures e NI 22 93,867 86,515
Share of results of associates i NI 21 51,677 192,169
Profit before taxation [ B Bl Vs A 5,122,913 9,121,910
Income tax expense FriSHif sz 9 (1,353,933) (2,051,710)
Profit for the year REZF 10 3,768,980 7,070,200
Profit for the year attributable to: NEZ A EIEDEE
Owners of the Company ZN/NSIESYEDN 3,094,421 6,075,760
Non-controlling interests iR 674,559 994,440
3,768,980 7,070,200
Earnings per share AT 13
— Basic —H K HK$2.8508 T HK$5.69278 7T
- Diluted — B8 HK$2.84978 7T  HK$5.655/8 T
—E-NFFR
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OE_I:ROFlT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRaRkHEMAZEKER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE—ZE—NEF+_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET

Profit for the year REE R 3,768,980 7,070,200

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year AN [E H b 2 E Uz (FIs)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T & EH S E 18752 1HE -

Translation reserve: P 3 RE 4
Exchange differences arising from ENEZ2REEmMEEZ
translation to presentation currency b o =58 (472,420) (2,333,128)
Investment revaluation reserve: WE SRS
Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair BAEF AR MR ERE 2
value through other comprehensive income BT HAEZ AN FHERE (1,206) -
Property revaluation reserve: MRS EE
Gain on revaluation of properties, plant and ME - BMENMEEERSE
equipment upon transfer to investment A YRR E GRS
properties 24,211 -
(449,415) (2,333,128)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HERAEWE IS
profit or loss: B A -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEMEEE
Fair value gain (loss) on debt instruments BAFEFARMEERE 2
at fair value through B TA A FEKE(EE)
other comprehensive income 786,356 (633,782)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal HERAFEFALMEE
of debt instruments at fair value through W BERITAMESHHES
other comprehensive income B (142,140) (8,578)
Translation reserve: P W e
Exchange differences arising from AT EIMbEEmMEL Z
translation of foreign operations P 5 Z=%E 41,538 (122,092)
685,754 (659,452)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEERZ
(expense) for the year (net of tax) (X)) (BrFE8) 236,339 (2,992,580)
Total comprehensive income for the year ANEE2HEKHAEE 4,005,319 4,077,620
Total comprehensive income AEE2EEE
for the year attributable to: HEEBFE(R DR
Owners of the Company PA/NCIESZDN 3,244,353 3,425,901
Non-controlling interests FEFE S RE S 760,966 651,719
4,005,319 4,077,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maE MR RE

At 31 December 2019 R —ZE—hFE+-A=+—H

2019
—E-hF
HK$°000
FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties B E 14 19,082,748 16,925,863
Properties, plant and equipment M - BERRE 15 14,800,958 14,879,768
Right-of-use assets RS E 16 1,692,326 -
Prepaid lease payments FERHEERE 17 - 1,639,781
Goodwill kS 19 2,670,528 2,467,076
Intangible assets A E 20 60,840 27,000
Interests in an associate EAﬁﬁﬁ NI 5 21 397,950 540,681
Interests in joint ventures RE B AR 22 2,536,434 2,466,504
Equity instruments at fair value through IRAFESF B ST A 23
profit or loss 2,366,024 1,291,634
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFEF AR MEEREZ 24
other comprehensive income BRI A 162,918 164,124
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFEF AR MMEEREZ 25
other comprehensive income BBITA 7,016,503 8,876,637
Loan receivable FEU S 2R 26 600,000 -
Entrusted loans B 30(a) 465,859 605,789
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEYWE BMELREENR
roperties, plant and equipment o
anpinvestrr?ent proper’?iesp BANK BN 611,724 332,890
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBEE 27 2,539 3,653
52,467,351 50,121,300
Current assets MENVEE
Inventories Ty 28 2,962,386 2,956,116
Properties held for development IRy 29 21,115,592 20,023,136
Trade and other receivables and ZBo R EmEWES RTENZE 30
prepayments 8,771,416 8,514,957
Bills receivables FE W =4 30(b) 4,085,752 4,545,599
Equity instruments at fair value through WP ESF BRI EXTA 23
profit or loss 491,397 -
Debt instruments at fair value through RAHER AR EERE 2 25
other comprehensive income BEHEITA 866,041 78,195
Other current assets HivmnBEE 18 - 659,429
Prepaid lease payments FERHEERE 17 = 38,410
Taxation recoverable E{EEE 18,227 19,873
Bank balances and cash RITHBR RS 30(c) 6,256,964 7,473,324
44,567,775 44,309,039

' B NEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBRRE
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Current liabilities mEaRE
Trade and other payables Z 5 R HMER IR 31 5,841,173 6,424,456
Bills payables [ IRE$7 31 359,920 512,566
Contract liabilities GHBE 31 6,374,105 3,448,068
Taxation payable FEFIIE 1,369,201 1,167,261
Bank borrowings AT — 32
— amount due within one year —FREH 2 FIE 7,862,991 7,254,600
Lease liabilities HERE 33 2,906 -
21,810,296 18,806,951
Net current assets mEBEEFE 22,757,479 25,502,088
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABEBLBAEE 75,224,830 75,623,388
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 27 697,954 731,036
Bank borrowings RITIEE — 32

— amount due after one year —F 1B EIH 2 508 16,546,918 20,259,081
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 10,308 -
17,255,180 20,990,117
57,969,650 54,633,271
Capital and reserves B A 2

Share capital &N 34 110,576 108,315
Reserves & 50,077,989 47,224,670

Equity attributable to owners RATFE ARG
of the Company 50,188,565 47,332,985
Non-controlling interests FEPE R RE RS 36 7,781,085 7,300,286
Total equity EARLBRE 57,969,650 54,633,271

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 264 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2020 and are
signed on its behalf by:

FI3EFRBAB ZIRAMBHREREN _E=Z
FoZAF-AEEZESSHEREERE I
HTHIESREEE

Cheung Kwok Wing Chang Wing Yiu
REISR BRIk B
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BE BE

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEDBER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZ =ZT— NG+ -A=+—HILFE

Share
capital

Share
premium

HKS 00

Attrbutable to owners o

Share-
based Special
surplus

acoount

Efih
HK$'000

HK$000
T

Tranglation
reserve

HKS 000

77

BEEEAERAA

Retained
profts

Non-
controling Total

Sub-total  interests equiy

Balance at 1 January 2018 RE-N\E
-A-Bzts 106645 5,866,532 191 2,560 10504 705148 266370 1810841 109145 2066022 35103751 46039519 7684201 53723720
Adjustments due to adopting new RaEREy
standards 8% - - - - - - - - ®m - oBm - - -
Balance at 1 Janvary 2018 (Restated) ~ #=E-/\E-A-AY
Ea(EEl) 106645 5,866,532 191 2,560 10594 705148 256370 1810841 50373 2,066,022 35162523 46039519 7684201 53,723,720
Proft for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - 6075760 6075760 994440 7,070,200
Fairvalue loss on debtinstuments —— RATESAEH
atfar value trough 2AkE BRI
other comprehensive income ATEER - - - - - - - - [uTe) - - (lTesn) (@809 (T8
Reclassfy to proftor loss upon disposel  RiHERATE AL
of deot instruments at far value PAkEBRIER
through other comprehensive ncome B EZ R - - - - - - - ALl - - B {6 @578
Bxchange dffeences aisingfom - R EZ2HEET
franslaton to presentaton curency B4 VEREE - - - - - - - - - (2088532 - 0865%) (4650 (23312
Exchnge diferences arising from RAEMEER
translation of foreign operations B EREE - - - - - - - - - (122529 - (1250 81 (12209
Tota comprehensive (expense) TEERA(RR)
income for the year histes - - - - - - - - (H0804) (2209055 6075760 3425901 651,719 4,077,620
Issue of new shares fomexercise of - T EERBRIER
shars opfions K7l 1670 208371 - 2560 - - - - - - AR - A
Final dhvidend for the year ended HECR-1F
31 December 2017 Note 12) ToA=T-ALEE,
RERE (i) - - - - - - - - - - (1086452 (1,086,452 - (108645
Interim dhidend for the yearended  EE-E-/\E+-f
31 December 2018 Note 12) SH-REFE R
8(HH2) - - - - - - - - - - (40891 (B49891) - (p4989)
Special inteim dhidend for teyer ~ EE-F-\E
ended 31 December 2018 Note 1) +=A=+-F
FERRRIRERE
(o) - - - - - . - - - - (p41576)  (541,576) - (b41,576)
Acquistions of additonal WENELTE MR
interests n subsidiaries - - - - - - - (60260) - - - (60260 (4e4Tey  (25024)
Disposal o partal intrests HEMBAAGHER
nasubsday . . . . B, . ] . . I X
Capital contrution from HBLTEER
on-controling shareholders of REHEE
astbsiday - - - - - - - - - - - - 66,418 66,418
Dividends paid to non-controling HFHBARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FEkRE RS - - - - - - - - - - - - (63 (686354
Transfersto reserve EREhE - - - - - 5080% - - - L) : i -
160 208371 - - 0% ] - - RTEBIH RIRAE) (1056 (3168069
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
ToR=T-AzE8 108315 6,074,908 1,911 - 10504 1213203 266370 1728844 (300431) (143,033 38472309 47332985 7300286 54633271

“E-NEFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company
ROTREAEEES
Share-
Capital based  Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share redemption payments  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Goodwill revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve profits  Sub-fotal interests

5 HRGYR KAl % B& FER
kx  R#EE BERE GREE  BBEE  ieBE  EGEE  BERE  EHRE ENRE  REE Nt RREE
HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TR TEn  TEn  TEn  TEn TR TR TR TR TR TER  TEn  TER

(Notea)  (Noteh)  (Notec)  (Noted)
(W&a)  (Wib) (M)  (Wid)

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-hE

-A-Bzts 108,315 6,074,903 1911 - 10594 1213203 256370 1728844  (390,431)  (143,033) 38472300 47,332,985 7,300,286 54,633,271
Proft for the year TEEEH - - - - - - - - - - 3004421 3004421 674550 3768980
Fair value ganon debtnstuments AT EAZf
atfar value through other EhEZERIAL
comprehensive ncome NTEhE - - - - - - - - 624507 - - 64507 161849 786,356

Reclassify to proft orloss upon disposal Bt ERATESTA
of debt instuments atfar vale EWREKEL
through other comprehensive income BT EMENHEZ

Ba - - - - - - - - (111799 - - (11799 (30347) (142,140
Fairvalue oss on equiy nstruments 1A TEst A&kt
at fairvaue through other PAlEERTEY
comprehensive income LFEEE - - - - - = = = (838) = = (838) (368) (1,209

(Gain on revaluation of propertis, % BER
plant and equipment upon trensfer  REEHERE

to investment properties bE e - - - - - - UM - - - - U - U
Exchange diferences arising fom RfEZ2HENm

franslafionto presentation curency  EX7EEE - - - - = = - = - (®0284) - (40284 (42136  (12420)
Exchange diferences arising fom LT

ranslaton of foreign operations EE/EREE - - - - - = = = - 41 - M1 ) 4538
Total comprehensive (expense) TEERE(FR)

income for the year hies - - - - - - 24211 - 511876 (386,155 3004421 3244353 760966 4,005,319

Issue of new shares fomexercise of R BXBRER

share options BAHRG 2383 517,105 - (10,134 - - - - - - - M35 - 42354
Recognion of equty-settled B EREEN
share-based payments (Note 35) ( - - - 102605 - - - = = = - 102625 %6609 229234
Finl dvidend for the year ended
31 December 2018 Note 12) tZR=T-RLLEEL

KEke(H2) - - - - - - - - - - (198207 (7807) - (158207)
Interim dhidend forthe yearended ~ HE-E-NE
31 December 2019 (Note 12) TZA=T-ALEE?

wEkE (M) - - - = = = = = = - (303.206) (303,206) - (303,200)
Acquitions of additonl hENBARENER
interests n subsidieres (Note 480))  (H5548(p)) - - = = = = - 10268 = = - 10208 (44874 (414616)
Disposal of partal inerests in HENBAASER
asubsidiry (Note 480) (M3k48) - - = = = = - 156492 = = - 156492 72765 529,267
Capital contributon from HBRRELR
ion-controling shareholders of hRitEE
asubsidary - - - - - - - - = = = - 128000 128,000
Dividends paid to non-controling FHFHEBAFL
shareholders of subsidaries FERREZRS - - - - - - - - - - = - (A2067)  (452667)
Repurchase and cancelation of BERHEEER
ordinary shares (Note 34) (Ksk4) (122 (2515)  (13811) - - - - - - - - (39,089 - (39089)
Transfers o reserve i - - - - - 2507 - - - - (2o9,747) o - -

2061 4910 (fagM) 25401 - B - 166750 - - (30160 (88773 (80467 (663040

Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE

TZRZT-BER 110576 6566852  (11,900) 25491 10594 1472060 280581 10895504 121445  (529,188) 4045570 50,188,565 7,781,085 57,969,650
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share
capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company under the Group
reorganisation in 1993.

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, represents
capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds
shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of
certain properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of those properties
from properties, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Goodwill reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership in certain
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.
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80 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZ =ZT— NG+ -A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZEK
Profit before taxation MR R R A 5,122,913 9,121,910
Adjustments for: FEE
Share of results of joint ventures [ e N (93,867) (86,515)
Share of results of associates NI S (51,677) (192,169
Depreciation of properties, ME - BB RERETE
plant and equipment 1,880,145 1,968,043
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 44,849 -
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEESE 3,960 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables, HE SRR 2
net of reversal SEETE - N 183,210 137,003
Finance costs BMEKAK 752,001 589,222
Interest income on bank balances, IRITREES - Bk ZrEER R
deposits, entrusted loans and FEUE S 2 T BURA
loan receivable (120,720) (85,280)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of BAVEFABR E=TAY
equity instruments at fair value N EZE (W) EE
through profit or loss (40,920) 148,297
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERAFEGTAEM
at fair value through other 2EWNE BB TE W
comprehensive income (142,140) (8,578)
Gain on fair value changes of WEWENFEES 2 K
investment properties (6,263) (174,896)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — T8 A Bl s 2 e 38 - (2,089,808)
Release of prepaid lease payments AR EFIEE R = 33,612
Write down of inventories MisEs 181,093 34,954
Loss on disposal and written off HERMEEDE  BREK
of properties, plant and equipment L2 EiE 228,249 916,161
Share-based payments AR D AT R 229,234 -
Operating cash flows before Ret@BEEEBRIZ
movements in working capital KEHESRE 8,170,067 10,316,956
Decrease (increase) in inventories GFERAGEm) 472,461 (906,085)
Increase in properties held for development 1525 E ¥ 18 N (2,416,214) (6,147,406)
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 K& H A FEU AR R TR /I8
other receivables and prepayments (38:0n) > (265,118) 2,511,999
Decrease in bills receivables e ZEIER D 450,489 308,946
Increase in equity instruments at fair value  ZAFEE AEZ 2
through profit or loss W xs T E N (29,526) -
Decrease in trade and other payables H 5 R H A RO (726,879) (768,294)
Decrease in bills payables RN EIER D (55,505) (147,456)
Increase in contract liabilities ABHEEEN 3,121,405 96,506
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEEERER
2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Cash generated from operations EEESES 8,721,180 5,265,166
Other income taxes paid HEmBE e (834,786) (1,713,663
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (‘LAT”) paid 2 447 B 1 i 18 E 7
([ EHbIEERL ) (523,748) (70,668)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EEBEBNEH (71,835) (32,416)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEBMBREFH
ACTIVITIES 7,290,811 3,448,419
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Purchase of equity investments at BEERATEFABR I ERIRE
fair value through profit or loss (1,495,441) (6,430,116)
Purchase of debt investments at fair value BB AT EFAREME2E KR
through other comprehensive income BESHRE (1,589,896) (5,429,438)
Acquisition of joint ventures WHEA & QT = (2,296,619
Purchase of properties, EEME  BENMEE
plant and equipment (2,093,742) (2,255,679)
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEYE BERSBRICEDE
properties, plant and equipment and &l &
investment properties (611,724) (832,890)
Purchase of investment properties BEIREYHE (39,190) (173,346)
Purchase of equity investments of fair value §& B2 A FET A KM 2 E RS 2
through other comprehensive income ERRE = (156,000)
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEEMNR (92,787) -
Prepaid lease payments made B TR EERIE = (146,726)
Proceeds from disposal of HERAFEFABTEZ
equity instruments at fair e TESHIA
value through profit or loss = 6,541,115
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE B A RERTERIEA 38 - 1,165,875
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of  HERAFEFF A LM EEIE 2
debt instruments at fair value through B TA(HKEIE) TS FIE
other comprehensive income 3,600,136 1,006,100
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEME MR NLBERERIE
plant and equipment 305,119 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEFEREEEMSHE
right-of-use assets 1,116 -
Interest received BUFLE 120,720 379,457
Loan to an independent third party BTBIE=ZFER (600,000) -
Repayment received on entrusted loans ZAERBWER 127,458 160,056
Dividend received from an associate [ Gl /NIl 35! 184,043 131,018
Dividend received from a joint venture Bl —HEaEa aRE 75,302 -
Net cash outflow arising on WM B AREL 2 F RS mH
acquisitions of subsidiaries 37 (1,445,540) (489,069)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFAREERE
ACTIVITIES (3,554,426) (8,336,262)
“E-NFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER
2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REED
New bank borrowings raised FILRITEE 10,344,987 11,377,103
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITIEE (13,470,267) (3,108,570)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEBR (2,342) -
Dividend paid on ordinary shares B E R B (1,061,413) (2,257,919)
Dividends paid to non-controlling TRFHEATZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FEFERR AR R 2 IR B (452,667) (685,354)
Interest and other finance charges paid ENFEREMHEER (849,201) (639,074)
Consideration paid for acquisition of U B M A BB ME =
additional interests in subsidiaries FRTHRE (414,616) (525,024)
Proceeds from the partial disposal of HEMTE A R S
a subsidiary FriS5k18 529,257 26,329
Proceeds from exercise of share options 1TE B SRS R0R 412,354 207,481
Payment on repurchase of shares [51 BE A A7 - 3R (39,089) -
Capital contribution from non-controlling MEA R 2 IEIER R L ERE
shareholders of a subsidiary 128,000 66,418
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM BMEEH(FAA)REREFR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4,874,997) 4,461,390
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRLEEBEARDEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,138,612) (426,453)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHAZzRERRLEHEER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,473,324 8,113,756
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ERSHT
CHANGES (77,748) (213,979)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FERZESRBELESEEE -
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTING BRITHEBRERES
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 6,256,964 7,473,324
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE—ZE—NEF+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 48.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and
sales of laminates, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
magnetic products, property development and investments
(“Properties”) and investment business.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which the directors of the Company (“Directors”)
considered it is more relevant for the users of the consolidated
financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA?”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle
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ERBARFHERAD L) 2
IR LT AAFEMER Y b
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LT -
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T EEBRHIE48
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(ML 2IEREMBRREEM[ESE
RIER - MR TRERINVETZY -

REAFEBRFERNEBYHH
R R B E R R S ET
AATREKBAR (SR AEE )R
AEEHERERATHEEGTMAE
(BFAEMAg ) BEMNEBIM S
AR FER RAERTA -

AEMBRREAE 6% HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases” (“HKAS 17”), and the

related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease” and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of

initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract

contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related lease
liabilities adjusted by any prepaid lease payments by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits and comparative

information has not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ HKF RSS”) (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at transition, the Group applied the practical expedient to leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts
that elected that not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the date

of initial application.
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HE BEXHEEAMMAEEE &
B AN ERER B BEF 128 A
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f& -
On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments upon
application of HKFRS 16: EER AEERERAETSHMERRE
RSG5 EL AT 9%
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified
as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant

group entities range from 2.56% to 4.75%.

ERERENSEALEHENHE ZH
EaE AEERVGBERZAERE
FEBEFEREILESRIE - BESHE
B BEFE A A9 A DN TS IR I fE R R A
F2.56%%4.75% °

At
1 January
2019

R-ZE—hF
—H—H
HK$'000

FHET

RZZ—N\F+=-—A=+—H

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at

31 December 2018 HERME S TR E R IE 17,771

Less: Recognition exemption — short-term lease B ERES - EEEE (339)
17,432

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental RZZE-NF—A—BEABBNE

borrowing rates relating to operating leases recognised RRERE165 % - HEERLEHE

upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 BRREISEFRNENENHEERE 12,386
Analysed as DATHE

Current =E) 2,111

Non-current ERE 10,275

12,386

' —T-NEAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FEHAHFEEKRE:TIZE
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG BB %R RER ([ FE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS MR ERER L)
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued) ERVHPREREAF 165 AE]

(58)

As a lessee (continued) fERBEBA(E)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1 RZZE—NF—A—H BRFERAEER
January 2019 comprises the following: EMEEERE

Right-of-use
Note assets

BeE EREEE

HK$’000
TAT

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases ~ #1fAFE A& BB 75 R ER)E 165812 -

recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 HERRGCEHETENTRREE 12,386
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments wrENHENRET DB (@) 1,578,191
1,690,577
By class: ZERElS
Leasehold land HELH 1,578,191
Leased properties HEMZE 9,588
Plant and machinery B M Es 2,798
1,690,577
(@) Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC for own @) RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—
used properties were classified as prepaid lease payments as H +EHERMENHE LI
at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the HENZ BEABNMNEEN
current and non-current prepaid lease payments amounting o ERBEMERIFERSE
to HK$38,410,000 and HK$1,539,781,000 respectively were 1655 1% @ mE RIERB BN
reclassified to right-of-use assets. MENREFIBEARERESR

E ° % 738,410,000 & 7T M
1,539,781,000/ 7T,

Effective from 1 January 2019, leasehold lands which were classified BE-Z—NF—A—BBER 28R

as properties held for development are measured under HKFRS 16 at FERRYENTE LR IEF B EEH

cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. RAEBR| 165 IR A m 25HITE MR E
BT & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ HKF RSS”) (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and

comparative information has not been restated.

(b) Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application relating
to the same underlying assets under existing lease contracts
are accounted as if the existing leases are modified as at
1 January 2019. The application has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at 1
January 2019. However, effective from 1 January 2019, lease
payments relating to the revised lease term after modification
are recognised as income on straight-line basis over the

extended lease term.

(©) Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as obligations under leases to
which HKAS 17 applied under trade and other payables.
Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16,
such deposits are not payments relating to the right-of-use
assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at
transition. The discounting effect has no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

current year.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessor (continued)
There is no impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on retained profits as at
1 January 2019.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January 2019.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

Non-current Assets FREBEE
Prepaid lease payments TENMAERR
Right-of-use assets REEE
Current Assets REBEE
Prepaid lease payments TENAERR
Current Liabilities b h=R
Lease liabilities HEAE
Non-current Liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE

i
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=
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BRMBEHHFERE1655E HE
()

fEREAA ()
R-ZB—NF—A—B  BEEEEH
BRREE 1R ERBEF L EY
2o

R-F—NF—A—BHEEPHIRR
BERNERNSHEELUTRE - T8

AT

Carrying
amounts
previously
reported at
31 December
2018

BAER
—ZT—-N\F
+=-—A=t+—8
EWmRAE
HK$’'000
T

FHEMIAR -

Adjustments

B
HK$’000
FHT

Carrying
amounts
under

HKFRS 16

at 1 January
2019
RoT—h4F
—HA—H
RIREBI
SER ]l
E165TE
Z IREE
HK$’'000
FAT

1,539,781 (1,539,781) -
- 1,590,577 1,590,577

38,410 (38,410) -

- 2,111 2,111

- 10,275 10,275




89

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform#

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, “the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards”, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ HKF RSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality

judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could

influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial

statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

° reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

° discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;

° states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

o discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the
framework. These amendments are effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the framework,
the Group will rely on the New Framework on its effective date in
determining the accounting policies especially for transactions, events
or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the accounting
standards.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
above, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

3.
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PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKRFS 16), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the

results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at

the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investeg;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ji) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which are
subsequently measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain

purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see accounting

policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not larger than an operating

segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the

unit (or group of CGUSs).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate
and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of an
associate and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the

recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or

joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the

particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to

date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of laminates, PCBs
and chemicals is recognised at a point in time. Under the transfer-
of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from these sales is
recognised when customer acceptance has been obtained, which is
the point of time when the goods are delivered based on the agreed
shipping terms and the location specified by the customers, and when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the respective properties.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FESFEE @

BEEEHWES

REBREITRAORTE (Sptit) R
Wi MEEEBROEFEBNER
SARTE A 2 B4 | B T X PR R

N3
Z5 o
I

BHEAEE —AREEm IR (i —
HERKIRY) H— R ABAER Z A
HEE MR -

HF A T EP —IRRE - Bl IR
EIEHIRE R EANEE - mRME
BE-BRERADERERENRENE
[EHER Y -

ZFREEREEIEERRAEEE
HIPT R R A2 -

. REBBEHOEHAEIEFNA
SEBEASHEPIEHNEE
%

. FEEROLBELHAEER
BRBEZNEE  BAKEAN=Z
BRHIITHE - WEERESERE
HIEB D HYFOR -

BRI RSN E P SRR MR
HFR R B R

REBEBHEBRAER - EIRIARER -
b T2 PR EE A A W TR S — S Rl B
R - RIBFBMBHBERIFE 155K
ZHEERE  ZFHELEBRINE
BEPEXBHER - ARG EEXIGR
REFEEMNERXNER  UREEP
BRI TEREFEMNEARESZE
EMmBAREBD 8 T FIasrO R, o

AEBERAEEBBETHENEESL
M EREFPESAEBMENTEHIEZ
fiy ] B DARERR



101

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time.

Revenue from property investment and licence fee income will be
accounted for accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019)
or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), whereas dividend
income and interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods, properties or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods, properties or service is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a significant
financing component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses
during the period between the advance payments were received and
the transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted for
on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance

with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of leased properties that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the

lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises right-of-use assets
at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property or inventory are presented
within “investment properties” and “properties held for development”
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term

reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

3.

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to

the leasee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance

lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease and licence agreement. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for

investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of

business are presented as revenue.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon application of
HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS
16) in the consolidated statement of financial position except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between the non-lease building elements and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are

classified as property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

3.

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

The Group transfers “right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS
16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16) to
properties held for development when there is a change of intention to
hold the properties for the Group’s redevelopment rather than owner
occupation. The previous carrying amount of the “right-of-use assets”
(upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before
application of HKFRS 16) assets becomes the cost of properties held
for development upon the date of transfer.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to be sold upon
completion of development are classified as current assets. Except
for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets
upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties held for development
are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

The Group transfers properties held for development to investment
properties when there is a change of intention to hold the properties
to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the inception
of an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the
fair value at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale to
properties, plant and equipment when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties for the Group’s own use rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Its previous carrying amount of the
properties becomes the deemed cost upon transfers to properties,
plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than freehold land and properties,
plant and equipment under construction as described below) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are net depreciated and are measured at cost less

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land under HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained

profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for office
aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value paintings with
indefinite useful lives and estimated residual values of not less than
their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold land and properties, plant and equipment under
construction) less their residual value over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of properties, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Licenced properties, plant and equipment

Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in properties,
plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee income are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items of licenced
properties, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value

at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary

to make the sale.

Licenced inventories

Licenced inventories shown as either other non-current assets or
other current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position

are stated at cost less impairment, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on properties, plant and equipment, right-

of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its properties, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment

loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of properties, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the

asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying

amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on properties, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than

goodwill(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets
of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangements or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the

owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re —
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Company’s
net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before 1 January 2005
is treated as non-monetary foreign currency items of the acquirer and
reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sales, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to

them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based

payments reserve).
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3.

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group
(continued)

At end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
payments reserve. For share options that are vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, the
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference

arisen from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,

rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are

attributable the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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3.

ARE I IRARMEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxation entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”") are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income from equity
instruments which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue. Interest income from bank
balances and deposits are included in other income, gain and losses.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual

cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FESFEE @

ERMIA®H)

ERNF LR B EEREENER
B (B B 55 P 7N B2 AR B HARE 0 TR A B MR
RMBX 2% - ERFIEER &/
BEXTRABENMBTERFHL
(anE ) B BRI A et R AR 2 WA
AR (BEMEENRERAL B E
BRHE—HD 2 &M XHMAREM
HEEINE) BENRENIHERR 2
FREVFEZ L -

RAKEREEBBRETRERAFE
AEARMEE U E A ER T AN SR
ARKE#ETANMNEBAZIIRE
R o RITRBRFRNBUAG AR
A~ Wz B 1R o

SRAE

SMAED ARG 2

& TP 9% A ZE R (4 FR I B
At

. FAETREENFHRIZ N
WREHREARERBER &

. BRBTRE  NEERBES
WESREER/UAERAEER
AREHFIBASAT o

e TGRS REERRIRAFE
FEARf Y

. A TREENEBRAREIA
HERKBAERRERERE
(3

. BRGTRE  REERHEL
MR EREESHAE MAER
AEHF BRI o



121

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
(continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

BEEEAERAA

FESFEE @

ERMIA®H)
TMEEE)
EHMEESTEREETE(F)

AR R EERER AT EF AR
@ ([BRAFEFARRE]  ERER
ERERBUBRMERESERS &
BB EVIAHERE - ISR E I
RSB H - RIFEEBHEHRER
EIW[EF AP IRBH XA Gt
BHREANKELE  AKE R AAHE
[Bl3E F K %S IR E R FENRES
FREMmemka((EteEmks]) 2
5l e

AR TEE - @REEBNFFEER

=

MERSIETENENLEE
R

. VISRERES - BE R AR E S —
BRI BN R TAESH —
8 MTHZEAEE L2HEH
MR 3%

. WIEEE BB RS TANITAE
ITA-

BESN - AT & DA SRR A Rt B 3R
FEFAEBEZEREFRENSREE
HE SR AFEF ARG BREEE
BAEEHRAC - AKE AR BRI IE
HEZIRIE

B NEER



122

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset

(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt
instruments are recognised in OCI and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts
of these debt instruments. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
(continued)

(iii)

v)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in revenue.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Gain (loss)
on fair value changes of equity instruments at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables, bills receivables, loan receivable, debt instruments
at FVTOCI and bank balances) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually and/or collectively using

a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk of financial assets
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

v)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial

instruments are grouped on the basis below:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables, bills receivables, other receivables, debt
instruments at FVTOCI, bank balances and loan
receivable, are each assessed as a separate group);

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying

amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these debt instruments. Such amount represents the
changes in the investment revaluation reserve in relation to

accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the

investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred

to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity and recognised in capital redemption
reserve. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payables
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts liabilities are initially measured at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payables is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision

affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 27)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2019, and concluded that
the investment properties located in the PRC with carrying amount
of approximately HK$11,012,868,000 (2018: HK$9,926,051,000)
are held under a business model which objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in
respect of changes in fair value of such investment properties but has
recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax on the assumption

that these investment properties will be recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 27)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$4,074,990,000 (2018: HK$3,107,690,000) and
HK$3,994,890,000 (2018: HK$3,892,122,000), respectively are
not held under a business model which objective is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value change in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The group
is subject to capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in
the United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the
fair value change in such investment properties located in the United

Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.

Depreciation and impairment of properties, plant and

equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its properties,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to be
shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Changes in
these estimations may have a material impact on the results of the
Group. The management reviews properties, plant and equipment
to determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of properties, plant and equipment will be determined based on
discounted cash flow method of each asset or CGU. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, no impairment loss (2018: Nil) was
recognised as the Directors consider that there was no indication of
impairment that require the estimation of the recoverable amount of
the properties, plant and equipment including the licenced assets.
At as 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of properties, plant
and equipment was approximately HK$14,800,958,000 (2018:

HK$14,879,768,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of goodwill (Note 19)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the CGU (or group of CGUSs) to which goodwiill
has been allocated which is the higher of the value in use or fair value
less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or
a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash, a material impairment loss may
arise. At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of goodwill was
approximately HK$2,670,528,000 (2018: HK$2,467,076,000). Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 19.

Allowances for inventories (Note 28)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management estimated the net realisable value of inventories based
on the most reliable information available at the time the estimates
are made. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations
in price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospects and the
condition of the inventories. A write down of HK$181,093,000
(2018: HK$34,954,000) on inventories has been recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$2,962,386,000 (2018:
HK$2,956,116,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 29)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down is
made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to completion
of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the actual net
realisable value on properties held for development is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material write down may
result. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of properties
held for development was approximately HK$21,115,592,000 (2018:

HK$20,023,136,000).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Notes 30 and 40)

Trade receivables credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
trade receivables which are individually insignificant. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 40 and 30.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$6,764,450,000 (2018: HK$6,315,685,000),
net of allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$1,139,894,000
(2018: HK$1,033,494,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted
prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available,
the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any
changes in the price per square metre in reference with recent
transactions will affect the fair value of the investment properties of
the Group. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties are

disclosed in Note 14.
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e MR M EE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at
FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt instruments at
FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors will
assess the valuation of financial instruments based on quoted bid
prices of the previous trading day in the over-the-counter markets at
the end of each reporting period. The fair value of the Group’s bond
securities listed on the Stock Exchange, the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”), SIX Swiss Exchange (“SIX”) and
Deutscher Aktienindex (“DAX”) is determined with reference to the
pricing vendors’ estimation, who will assess its fair value, taking
into account primarily the fair value quoted by the brokers which is
adjusted for the lack of marketability of the bond securities at the
end of the reporting period. The pricing vendors will exercise their
judgements based on their experience to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the valuation
model. Where there is a material change in the fair value of the
equity investments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt
instruments at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported
to the Directors. Any changes in the marketability of the listed bonds
will affect the fair value of the investments. Notes 23, 24, 25 and 40(c)
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs
and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the
Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI
and debt instruments at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
5. REVENUE 5. X
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FAMEEELTAT
2019 2018
—E-NEF
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FH&T T4
Revenue recognised at a point in time R — B TER A & R
Sales of chemicals SHEL TEMR 12,808,236 15,383,741
Sales of laminates HEBINE R 14,077,581 14,928,663
Sales of PCBs $HE EN R 4R BE AR 9,623,169 9,754,081
Sales of properties HEYHE 2,137,697 3,630,003
Others (Note i) EoAb () 356,852 478,459
Revenue recognised over time (Note ii) BE Iy R RR Y & 22 58 (PR RTN) 153,015 126,986
Revenue from contracts with customers BEE WS 39,156,550 44,301,933
Rental and licence fee income (Note 43) e MREFEREWA (MiFE43) 1,215,342 1,175,784
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR SWA 679,560 401,497
Dividend income from equity instruments T ARBMA 109,399 115,205
41,160,851 45,994,419
Notes: Bi5E -
0] The amount mainly included sales of magnetic products of [0) ZeBTERLRUMEEREES
HK$308,615,000 (2018: HK$314,600,000). 308,615,000 3% 7T ( = & — J\ 4 :
314,600,000/ 7T) °
(ii) Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel (i) FERS R MR R 2 R IR R A -
accommodation.
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5.

PR AR M

REVEN U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers

All sales contracts, apart for sales of properties, have an original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for these contracts is not disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

BEEEAERAA

EER

TREHRTEFANBENEMEN
RZE®%

BRIEEMEIN  FTAHEANRENF
HIR—FRAT - BEWHBERER
FIFAADEELFTANBTENE
ENRHERTBERE -

RZBE-NAFR_ZE-NF+_A
=t—H HEVMEIRERTREOE
EORER D RZK) R HERE K
RS XEEREMT

Sale of properties

SHEWE
2019 2018
—E-hF =5

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T BT

Within one year —F R 6,461,272 5,003,820
More than one year but iR —F

not more than two years BTN EBEBEMRT 1,299,564 2,585,505

7,760,836 7,589,325

“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of
the Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive directors
of the Company, who are the Chief Operating Decision Makers
(“CODM?”), in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 are organised into six main operating divisions —
(i) manufacture and sale of laminates, (ii) manufacture and sale of
PCBs, (i) manufacture and sale of chemicals, (iv) sales and rental of
properties (“properties”), (v) investments (mainly investment income
from debt instruments at FVTOCI, equity instruments at FVTPL and
equity instruments at FVTOCI) and (vi) others (mainly including service
income, manufacture and sale of magnetic products and hotel
business). The management aggregated the sales of properties and
rental income business into one reportable segment because the
financial performance of both businesses are affected by changes
in the property market. In addition, the management aggregated
service income, hotel business and manufacture and sale of magnetic
products into one reportable segment because the revenue, results,
assets and liabilities of each business are insignificant to the Group.
No other operating segments identified by the CODM have been

aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit or loss represents the profit
earned by each segment with certain items not included (share
of results of associates, share of results of joint ventures, gain on
disposal of a subsidiary, finance costs, share-based payments and
unallocated corporate income and expenses). This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

o EBE R

ARV BRMERNESRE L ENTMIE
KARR Bz T BEEREE (AT
B [Z22ERREDEHDEIE
BIRD B M A B R IR _E AT E #IZE R R
ERAAEBETRMBPIZAMREER
BERE A2 EE - AEME @ &
EEMBRMAERESRT - AEFZ
RmOFO RANEERLENE — ()
ERHEEINER - (i) 55 M 3H & R
AREEMR ~ (il BERHELTER * (iv)
HERBEME(YE]D - (VRE(E
ZRERATEHARMEZEKRENE
BITA  RAFEFABENEZTA
MEAFEFAREBEERENER T
BERRE W) Rvi) Bt (EZBER
BRA -~ BUENHEHEERLBEEE
%)  EERERBEMEHE RES WA
EBRIN—ERHRDED  AREM
AEBOMBRI|EBURRFIET 5
EEE o AN - RRARISIA - TBE %
BANBIE R HEH EEMB EHNE
X XE AENEBHASEERR
MLLETS  IAERERELBEER
FAR—{ER RS P - FERAEE
RO B - WERA T BEERKE
s pl ) B AR 2 0 8D o

AEBERBE BN RHRERFE8RA
EDH2 M GETHR - BERAREE
HHERREAN G EMBEHRER K -
2B E MBI B RE D HRERIA A
o EBXREEEETHRR (BEBER
AI¥EE  BHALLRRIESE HE—M
MEARZWE - BEKA - MY
ANARARDEZ REBARZE) °
ERMERIBLERRE  ARER
DA RFHE RO o



139

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BEEEAERAA

DEPE R @
(@) DEPEHEIEREE

VAN AR Bl ) BRI 7 ZZIK%
BREREE N

JiE)

BE-_ZF-hAF+=-A=+—H

IEFE
Laminates Properties  Investments Others EI|m|nat|ons Consolldated
I & Eff &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
ThR TR ThR TR BT TR
(Note a) (Note b) (Notec) (Note d)
(HsFa) (HiEEn) (W) (Hd)
Seqment revenue HPesE
Extemal sales HIMHER 14,137,581 3,293,039 788,959 509,367 - 41,160,851
Inter-segment sales HHEHER 2,213,957 - - 8146 (2841,729) -
Total At 16,351,538 3,203,039 768,959 518,013  (2841,729) 41,160,851
Resut Ei
Segment resus L] 2,185,346 1943012 966015 1,537 6,318,066
Unallocated comporateincome ~—— &ATLZAFMA 94,400
Unallocated comorate expenses AR AFRH (483,862)
Finanoe costs HERK (752,001)
Share-based payments HRBFARE (229234)
Shere of resufis of oint ventures ~ FE(RAEATIER 93,867
Share of results of associates Eyb‘a‘/ﬂ%i‘ 51,677
Proft before taxation ik 512913
E— NFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)

(a) Segment revenue and results (continued) (@ PHEXBREE&D
For the year ended 31 December 2018 gz2-E2—N\E+=-BA=+—8
LEFE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals s Investments Others ~ Elminations ~ Consolidkted
BEAER f (LTER
HK$000 HK$'000
¥%;E / ',i %%i eB;E
(Notea) (Note b)
(Fiita) b)
Seqment revente HPesE
External sales HIEER 16,048,663 9754081 15383741 4,685,787 516,702 605,445 - 45994419
Inter-segment sales APEEER 2,096,233 - 766600 - - 6921 (2869.754) -
Total A3 17144806 9754081 16150341 4,685,787 516,702 612366 (2869754 45994419
Resut |
Segment resuits e 2,937 445 473521 13781650 2,340,266 325,306 70278 7,524,965
Gain on disposal of asubsidiary ~ HE-HHEA T2 Mz 2,089,808
Unallocated comporateincome & AELZAFMA 101,629
Unalocated coorate expenses ~ &ARZ AR (283,954)
Finance costs BEAE (589,222)
Share of results of ot ventures AR ATER 8,515
Shareof esults of associates  EREELNTEE 192,169
Proft before taaton IHAAR] 9,121,910
Notes: BT
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (a) EEERHEBREDREZE
of laminates and licence fee income into “Laminates” segment. EREREEABRAGHA
[ERER]HE0 -
(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (b) BEEEHHEMESERR
of properties and rental income into “Properties” segment. HEWAEHAIDEIDE -
(© The management aggregated the revenue derived from the () BEEEHEHFIARNSKA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from Rz TAERSKRAEETE
equity instruments into “Investments” segment. AHEAIRE |DES -
©) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (d) BEREHHEUEERESE
of magnetic products and income from hotel accommodation and OBEEBWA REME
income from other businesses. BBAEB
Inter-segment sales are charged on a cost-plus basis with an HEE 2 SHEBEERKAINA
arm’s length margin. SFAE e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable segments:

At 31 December 2019

BEEEAERAA

DEPE R @

(b) SHMEERAE
T RIZBRD BED 2 AKH
BENABEZDN

R-B-AF+=A=t+—H

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others  Consolidated
BHER L TER VES RE Eff ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T 7 T T7 T
Assets 2z
Seqment assefs HHEE 16495757 12968543  6,140028 42500953 10902884 1,011,000 90,110,155
Intrests in an associate RBELEER 397,050
Inerests n ot ventures IAERRES 2,536,434
Unallocated assets ROREE
- Bank balances and cash -BtaREE 3,307,623
- Deferted tax assets —FEfELE 2539
- Taration recoverable -hEHE 18,221
- Others £ 662,198
Consolidated total assets GREELE 97,035,126
Liabilities &f
Segment libilties PHEE (3,082,231)  (1,909519) (1,006,155  (6,364,924) - (83,087)  (12,395,916)
Unallocated fibilties FORAE
- Bank borrowings -§1iE8 (24,409,909)
- Taxation payable - &R (1,369,201)
- Deferred tax lbiltes -ithEas (697,954)
- Others -5t (192,4%)
Consoldated torl fabiies GABELE (39,065,476)
—E-NFER
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mEMBRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) APBEEREE®
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NF+=ZA=+—H
Laminates PCBs Chemicals Properties  Investments Others Consolidated
{tIER 4 k& Eff
HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn BT AT BT Th1 Thn
Assets gE
Segment assets HHEE 17437583 12,399,234 6,008,691 39,044,104 10,648,610 1,147,151 87,345,373
Intrests in an associate NEELAER 540,681
Interests injoint ventures NAERTZER 2,466,504
Unallocated assets FALEE
- Bank balances and cash -SEaRE: 3458847
- Defered tax assefs -ithEEE 365
- Taxation recoverable ] 19873
- Others -Et 595,408
Consoldated total assets GREESE 94,430,339
Libilities af
Seqment e S8 DUOTH)  OVACS (1076408 (4055119 STy (10139819
Unallocated fabilties KALER
~Bank borrowings -REE (27513,681)
- Tavation payable ~FEsRE (1,167,261)
- Deferred tax lbiltes -EERESE (731,036)
- Others =i (245,0m1)
Consoldated total iablfies GREREE (30,797,068
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and BERSEHRARIESHBE
allocating resources between segments: IR
. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BB E DR MRS
than interests in an associate, interests in joint NEEENER R
ventures, deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, L*R HEE - Al fgE
certain bank balances and cash and other assets; and H - ATRITEHRKER
SUARHEMEESN -
EEETRELED
bR
. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . BRERITEE - BERIE
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and BERESTEIN
taxation payable. EEBENEREEDHES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(c)  Other information () HMER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—NF+=-A=+—H
LEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or DEERADIEENTER
segment assets: &

Unallocated
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others amount  Consolidated
BOER  ORisRR  LIER VES e Aft
HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000
T Thn Thn T Thn T T
Captal addftions BT 780278 1031880 61155 3652813 - 81,275 - 6,157,781
Depreciation of properties, % BER
plant and equipment RiEnE (593790) (596,964 (620,229 (4719 (1817 (62639 - (1,880,145)
Depreciafion of ight-of-use assets [ FEEENE (11,786) 7352 (8782 - - (16929) - (w49
(Gain on fair value changes of equity 52T (E3H A B8
instruments at FVTPL ERDANTESYNE - - - - 40920 - - 40920
(Gain on disposal of debt HERDFE ALK
instruments at FVTOC! SEMENERTI ARG - - - - 14140 - - 140
Impairmentloss on trade HEARNES R
receivables, net of reversal REER(IRAD) (152,138) (11507  (19475) - - - - (183210)
Wite-down of inventories WeGE (96,279) (27605 (40486) - - (16,723) - (181,099
Interest income on bank balances, {74 3
deposts, entrusted loans EHERR
and loan recgiveble BUETIHELA 29,400 2242 2,563 2873 6,379 101 %162 120720
Loss (gain) on disposal and
writen off of propertes, E R -
plant and equipment BEkiEz B E) (10,498) 3355 (220,388) (561) - (157) - (28249
Ganonfarvaue changesof — FEMEATE
investment properties 29 20m - - - 6,269 - - - 6,269
ZE-NEFER
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mRENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HERE
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z—-\F+=-H=+—H
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or DEERIADIBEENTER
segment assets: ¥
Unallocated
Laminates Chemicals ~ Properties  Investments amount  Consolicated
EOER  ARGER  (IEm A o #5 |
HK§'000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$1000 HK$'000
Th1 T Thn ThL AT AT AT Thn
Capital addtions BRI 960,144 1,565,299 579988 8411371 - 7,061 - 11523863
Depreciafion of properties, 0% BER
plntand equipment Hh7E BB BT (T8 B0 (24 (B4 )
Release of prepaid lease payments - B E3UERM (6,336) (3.923) (6,879) - - (16478) - (33612)
Lossonfai value changesof AT ABRE
equity instruments at FVTPL EaLELTEEDER - - - - (148297) - - (14829
(ain on disposal of HERRTETA
debt instruments at FYTOCH R EREOERIEE - - - - 3578 - - 3578
Impaiment loss on HERENE L,
trade receivables, net of reversal BB E(HIK AR (1683 (13548 (711772) - - - - 3T
Wrte-down of inventories WeRE (16,689) (11,579) (6,694 - - - - (34.954)
Interest income on bank i S
balances, ceposis and RitEMEnA
entrusted loans 20,01 29,028 28,005 5,008 - 63 3,106 85,280
(Loss) gain on disposal and HERHENE
Writen off of properties, BRERRE (BE)NE
plant and equipment (31,304) (43,054) 39,793 (463 - (149 - (36,177)
(Gain on fai value changes of REMELTA
investment properties 29 20m - - - 1748% - - - 1748%
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of AEEREZEBHARFRE
domicile). EBER) -
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

()

Other information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend
income, the principal place of business of the debtor or
investee:

6.

BEEEAERAA

DEEE @)

()

Hib &R (&)

REEREE P RA PR
S fin B I S A 2 i B A BIIAR
BEBASERETHNEEEZE
MBI RS EEES TN
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1+t—HLEE

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

The PRC (country of domicile) R (FTERIZ) 36,658,300 40,750,156
Other Asian countries (including Thailand, — EfbasHEK (B#EZEH -

Japan, Korea and Singapore) HZ - B2 KT ) 2,102,731 2,684,884
Europe B 1,657,659 1,730,037
America FM 742,161 829,342

41,160,851 45,994,419

No single external customer of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2019.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
other than deposits paid for acquisition of properties, plant
and equipment and investment properties, deferred tax assets,
equity instruments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI
and debt instruments at FVTOCI by location of assets is
presented as follows:

HE-_Z—)\F+=-A=+—8H
rMZF-NF+ZA=+—HL
BEE  AEBWEE—ZIND
BPEAREE S XEEEB10% °

BB - BE RRE &R
BYMFEeNZES  BEHEE
B BRAFERABRSNERT
A - BAHER AR 2SS
Migm TAER A THE AR
EHEEMHEB AN KEE
SEMBEEREEMHONZD
LI

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-AF —E—\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
The PRC (country of domicile) PR (FTERIS) 35,633,007 32,614,128
United Kingdom kS 6,277,949 6,440,982
Thailand B 396,687 397,352
42,307,643 39,452,462
—E-NFER
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HMEWA - s RkESE

2019 2018
—E-hF TE—)N\E
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEsE
Interest income on RITHEBR R
bank balances and deposits Be 2 FBHKA 64,929 43,420
Interest income on entrusted loans ZREERZFERA 34,210 41,860
Interest income from loan receivable EWE 2 M BEWA 21,581 -
Government grants AT Bh 83,000 42,550
Loss on disposal and written off of HE R TE - BB R
properties, plant and equipment REZEE (228,249) (35,177)
Others HAith (68,990) 77,133
(93,519) 169,786
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERAK
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEEZFLE 819,619 645,104
Imputed interest on contract liabilities SREEZEENE 24,007 2,441
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 584 -
Less: Amounts capitalised in the properties B FERMER
held for development BRI &5 (78,193) (44,602)
Amounts capitalised in the construction FEIENERLERE
in progress (14,016) (13,721)
752,001 589,222
Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include FEANBRENME 2 RITREAMEERAE
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$24,007,000 (2018: FEENAEZHEF S /24,007,000
HK$2,441,000) as well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the BT (ZZF—/\F : 2,441,000/ 7T) &
general borrowing pool which were calculated by applying a weighted —REBBELEZRITEERAS - UE
average capitalisation rate of 2.95% (2018: 2.63%) per annum to BREERIMEFEIERCEFE
expenditure on qualifying assets. 2.95%(=ZF—\F : 2.63%):T& °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. Frf8Himx

2019
—E-hF
HK$'000
FET
The amount comprises: HIEELE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax BTSSR 1,059,608 1,463,040
PRC LAT AR B B (E T 248,146 511,934
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEABEMER 46,903 62,456
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions HA e AR 2 BiIE 20,164 37,028
Underprovision in previous years BAFEREBTR 9,379 641
1,384,200 2,075,099
Deferred taxation (Note 27) IR A (M7E27) (30,267) (23,389)
1,353,933 2,051,710

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

BRPBEMERMETOE([RERBHR
B REERGH - B —FTN\F—A
—HR%  ERARTEMBARZEE
PRSI R 5525% °

TR TR ER B S R E AP ERE
RABIMERGE - It E S8
(IRBEMEHEERANEIETEERAN)
LA 23 T R 30% 2= 60% £ L <X + Jih 1
BN - EEEBERARE AT AR
BRENMEERA  REMEREELRE
A - ZBERBELREZETA
= SHEYERET AL HIGER - B
BEBRTNES SEERMBKE -

RZZ—N\F=ZA=+—8  FBLE
ERBT T —EFHRBKUER]) (F7
SOGPIEZ J([EPIEZR]) - ZI&HE
RoIATHEHMES c WERR_-F
—NF=Z=A-_+N\BEER/ER "
WHRRBEBRTE - RIBFS MR
H AEREEERNE _BSETH
%IR8 25% M - Ml _— B &ET
BRI RIZEIZ16.5% B » T A FIS
754 P A o) Y 55 (81 22 B8 e MR S AR AR 4R
16.5% KB E R B o

BERAE  BHFESHERAASFTERE
CRBMGAVHERATEEREER - W
EFEEEFERIEEERTE
FILA16.5% 2 TR EAE o

ity AR AR 2 BTy B A A
ZEARELE -

B NEER
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ARE I IRARMEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

rEHAXZ e

REZZRIREGA BamRAMEERTA
Az SRS

2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHAT
Profit before taxation Fr AT A 5,122,913 9,121,910
Tax charge at the AR S E25%
domestic income tax rate of (ZZE—)\F : 25%)
25% (2018: 25%) (Note a) SrEZBR(MTa) 1,280,728 2,280,478
Tax effect of expenses not OB ERZ
deductible for tax purpose M E 59,597 44,974
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7B R Uzs 2 BT 2 (151,563) (677,031)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures I & &R FI¥EE 2 TG E (23,467) (21,629
Tax effect of share of results of associates JEMEE N T EE R E (12,919) (48,042)
PRC LAT o bR (E R 248,146 511,934
Tax effect of PRC LAT AP IR T 2 B A R 2 (62,036) (127,984)
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) HEER 2 BT 2(H:Eb) (59,943) (90,729)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RTPERBIEBE BB E 126,857 153,698
Utilisation of tax losses previously RN
not recognised R BIEEE (25,431) (20,807)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREINMZERTSTIRIN - REM
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other AVEHERE MRS EHB AR
than the domestic income tax rate ZRAME 8 (13,164) (12,023)
Effect of tax exemption (Note c) Biase 2 228 (M) (22,251) (41,770
Underprovision in previous years BEFEBETR 9,379 641
Tax expense for the year AFEZBBEFRX 1,353,933 2,051,710

Notes: B e

@ The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2018: 25%) represents the PRC (@ NEEMREHRRE26%(ZF—N
Enterprise Income Tax of which the Group’s operations are substantially F : 25%) RASKB RSB XBER
based. AR EAEHE -

(b) Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (b) RIBCERERE - Rkt as
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially EEHRUIBRZEBI=FMN15%FHE
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC obtained official BE - AREETHBENBAREET
endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax Concession”) REARBTEMEE(HBESRD 5
and with the expiry dates on or before 2021. HRAZZT=—F= A

(©) Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (0) RARNARFZETFHBRARMES
exempted from profit tax. Zim FERR R BMFISEL -
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been
arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration ZE NS
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEERE
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA
Cost of properties sold EEMEKAR
Depreciation of properties, W - WE K
plant and equipment BAEITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE
Direct operating expenses in relation to BRREYHERN
investment properties HEEERY
Impairment loss on trade receivables, EZ WSR2
net of reversal REEE (kREE)
Net exchange loss M 5 51 5
Release of prepaid lease payments FERTHE 708 2 # 0
Total staff costs, including directors’ BT AR
emoluments (Note 11) BIEEEME (HE11)
Write down of inventories, WoRIFE -
included in cost of sales T ASEERAR

N i H B AR HIRR
IATNIER

10.

BEEEAERAA

RNEEimA

2019
—EF-NF

HK$’000
TR

12,750
3,960
30,532,366
959,077

1,880,145
44,849

213,219

183,210
17,762

3,145,023

181,093

2018
ZE-N\F
HK$'000
THETT

13,050

31,833,996
2,103,757

1,968,043

208,356
137,003
9,637
33,612
3,211,618

34,954

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows:

11.

EX - THRAIRES
[l

(@ EE=Me
B EM ST ¢

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—N\fF

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Fees we 1,128 1,128

Other emoluments: HEmie -

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 17,649 18,073

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R /K@ FEH &I 2k 882 834
Performance related incentive payment TERIFHERE

(Note i) 22 B IA (B e 103,059 104,194

Share-based payments (Note ii) BARRAD 72 2045 3R (BT =) 115,540 -

238,258 124,229

“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

11. DIRECT O S’ CH
AND EM YEE

(continued)

(b)  Chief Executive’s emoluments
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors had
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(c) Employees’ emoluments
For the year ended 31 December 2019, four (2018: four) of
the five highest paid employees are Directors and the Chief
Executive.

Details of the emoluments of the remaining one (2018: one)
highest paid individual were as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

n.%%xﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé

(b)

(©)

&)

THARMS

AR ETAARBITHE
2 HMER EXWE - &t
R H & RITRAAE R4 IR
Z3REH o

TREH SRR ESHEREE

—NEFERZF-N\F+=A
=+ —BIEFERESIRERE
EfRIB S o

BEME
BE_Z-NAF+-HA=1+—H
HFE - ARERFALHED
#2(ZE-)N\F  OB)REER
TTHARE, -

BT —R(ZE—N\F: —B)%
mHA TR ST ¢

2019 2018

—E-hF —ZE—N\F

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FET T

Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 3,133 3,202
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme & /K@ F 5t &I 2k 157 148
Performance related incentive payment TYERIFIRR B I8 19,780 20,042
Share-based payments AR AT R 14,863 -
Total emoluments & 4258 37,933 23,392

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid to or receivable by the Directors or
the Group’s five highest paid individuals, including Directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(d)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 31 and Note 47, the Group entered
into sale and purchase transactions with the directors and
subsidiaries of a shareholder with significant influence on the
Group. The price is to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time with reference to the prevailing
market price.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the executive Directors,
are interested in these transactions to the extent that they
have beneficial interests in these companies.

Save for the aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

1. B
)

(d)

BEEEAERAA

E THEBRES
CAC)

=

EERRS ZHHEN
ZERER

W FES R sE47 B - A&
BHEEUR—BHAEEEE
SN ENNERARETT
BERS - BEASHTR2R
BN TSERMEEREE

MITERRESEE - Bt
& REFESLERMAHELER
ZENRTHE Btk - BN
RILER S EAER °

Br i BN - MERKERE
MREARREERERAAT
IAREEREF - ZHEMER
X5 BHEREHNPHEREMNE
ANEELFEE R -
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2019 2018
—E-hF -z
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FET T
Dividends declared and paid ERRIRERE
2019 Interim dividend of ZE-NFREREER
HK28 cents (2018: HK60 cents) AL 28
per ordinary share (ZZE—N\F : 60781) 303,206 649,891
2018 Special interim dividend of HK50 cents == — )\ F 45 Bl|d HiR 2 &A%
per ordinary share A 508 L - 541,576
2018 Final dividend of —E-\FKREKREER
HK70 cents (2017: HK100 cents) AR 70
per ordinary share (ZZ—+tF : 100781L) 758,207 1,066,452
1,061,413 2,257,919

2019 2018
—g-nE  CFNF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THTT

Dividends proposed EERE

Proposed 2019 Final dividend of HK60 Cents HEIT-NFRIKRESR

(2018: HK70 cents) per ordinary share TR Ae0A L
(ZZ—)\F : 70740L) 662,795 758,207
Proposed 2019 special final dividend of HET - NFERIRERE
HK50 cents (2018: Nil) per ordinary share T BAR507 L
(Z2—N\F : 8A) 552,329 -
1,215,124 758,207

The final dividend of HKB0 cents and the special final dividend of
HK50 cents per ordinary share amounted to HK$662,795,000
and HK$552,329,000 respectively in respect of the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: final dividend of HK70 cents and special final
dividend of Nil per ordinary share amounted to HK$758,207,000 and
Nil respectively in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018) have
been proposed by the Directors and are subject to the approval by
the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BRERK
BERBN 2 BF

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted
earnings per share

BEEEAERAA

13. BREF

ARBEAANEBIEERERA R EERT
BT BIETE

2019 2018
—EF-NF

—E-N\E
HK$’000
FHT

HK$’000
TR

3,094,421 6,075,760

BRERENZ

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Number of shares

R B

2019 2018

—B-nE T )\F

for the purpose of basic earnings per share LR N & 1,085,720,924  1,067,373,737
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares AELEREEyNAE
arising from share options BuE s Tlik e B 381,238 6,989,986

BREERNZ
ERBNE T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

1,086,102,162 1,074,363,723

—T-NEEH
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEYE

HK$’000
TAT

FAIR VALUE NFE
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—HA—H 17,151,915
Exchange adjustments P& A% (674,622)
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) EREAGEERYEIT) 100,328
Additions ??J'—\_‘\E 173,346
Gain on fair value changes N EZHHW R 174,896
At 31 December 2018 RZEBE—\F+_A=+—H 16,925,863
Exchange adjustments P 3 2 (110,723)
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) B EREE (M) 1,016,991
Transfer from properties, plant and equipment EREYE BB REE 265,918
Additions NE 39,190
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note 37(a)) U BE R B A R (M 5E37(a)) 915,035
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment AR EEUNESHE

upon transfer to investment properties included in WE MR EEE IR AR

other comprehensive income 2 EfmEs 24,211
Gain on fair value changes N EZE W 6,263
At 31 December 2019 R-_F-NF+-_A=+—H 19,082,748

Note: Certain properties held for development and properties, plant and
equipment were reclassified to investment properties upon changing in use
as evidenced by inception of operating leases to independent third parties

(see Note 29).

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of

1to 25 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase

the property at the end of lease term.
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ma

14.

PR AR M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2019 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2018: Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified valuer not connected to
the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was determined
based on direct comparison method by reference to the market
observable transactions of similar properties and adjusted to reflect
conditions and locations of subject properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

BEEEAERAA

14, BEWE »

FEBZREVEN_Z-NF+A
=t —BZAFETIZEAEEL EEE
2 BN A BB Im S IR IRET A
ABRRR(ZF—N\F : ImERKF
MEABRAR)  RZAETHEZ
AR o In QIR LB ABRAA]
REBAEBMBGEERE - RRMEEDZ
ZRUMEZABRMERZAEEKL
BOREETE W F38 LA R BRI 1 3 10
RAIE - WBEFEMRA 2 MERNL
EEE -

RETHENENATE EFSCK
UHEZEE  HEEAKENKEY
MALHE  URATEAEETEE
H b E S K s A B -

REBRF 2B A ERMETHE -
MEZRSRBYMAEMETAE B
MEEEEE N EERT B AR
B BEMBEBENALEFTAEER
SHEZEENER  ABREBEENEA
BERAFENREREA -

R-E-NE+-_A=+—HBEK=-ZF
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques  Significant unobservable

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs inputs Sensitivity

fre MR R N¥HE AT & BBARTAER

AEERFEZREME EEAR  EEHRASR B ABUR BRAE

Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in

Hong Kong method with price per  using market direct the price per square metre
square metre comparable properties used would result in a

and taking into account of  significant increase in the
location and other individual fair value measurement of
factors such as road the investment properties,
frontage, size of property and vice versa.

etc., which is ranged from

HK$40,979 to HK$61,440

(2018: HK$41,426 to

HK$47,368) per square

metre.
REBH TRYE FE=MR BRLLEVER RATSEZRILEYER ST KERAELTHE
B IRER ZEMNEAREMERNRE BREVMEARIFEFEX

% (FefFERE - MEKR  BLEF RZIFA -
NE) ETTIRER -
N T 5 K40,979%8 T
£61,44087T (ZE—N
F 1 41,4268 05247,368

BIT) e
Commercial properties  Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in
in the New Territories, method with price per  using market direct the price per square metre
Hong Kong square metre comparable properties used would result in a

and taking into account of  significant increase in the
location and other individual fair value measurement of
factors such as road the investment properties,
frontage, size of property and vice versa.

etc., which is ranged from

HK$56,712 to HK$58,459

(2018: HK$54,147 to

HK$54,337) per square

metre.
REBNANERANE F=R HELREER RATSEEALEMER BFFHRERKELA5E
GETORER ZRABALREMERNERZ SREMENATFEFEX

& (WMERETENS - MER  BLEA R2HA -
NE) METFITRER

T EHFF5K56,71247T

%58,45078 7T (ZZT—/\

F : 54,1478 T %54,337

BIT) o
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ARE I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position

fre BB RS
REEFAZREME

Fair value
hierarchy
AFAE
ZUEAR
Commercial properties  Level 3
in Hong Kong Island,

Hong Kong

REBBEENEAY F=R
ES

Commercial properties  Level 3
in Shanghai
R EREAmE E=MR

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
fh{ER &
FEWABUE

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

ERLLEOER
SE R

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BERILEER
F¥IRER

BEEEAERAA

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

EATABE

Bl AR

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties
and taking into account
of location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property etc., which is
ranged from HK$204,351
to HK$213,072 (2018:
HK$200,090 to
HK$203,981) per square
metre.

RAMSEZER LR
12 B B LA R ELAD{E B
FEE (NREEK - %
ERNE) WEBFHAKE
1% - NP8 FI5K204,351
BT E213,0728 7L (=%
—/\% : 200,090/ L%
203,98187T) -

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB28,953 to RMB34,000
(2018: RMB30,458 to
RMB34,523) per square
metre.
RAMISEEAILEYER
ERALE AR E (AR E =
& (WERETERS - MEA/N
F) NEFHARER N T
HIFHARARM28,9537T
EARM34,000T (=ZF
—N\F : AR¥30,4587T
& AR¥34,5237T) °

Sensitivity

BURE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

FFIRERKE LY
BUREMEN A FERFER
fEETt RZIA

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

¥ IRERKIE LF5E
HIREMENH RN FEFEKR
f&LET - RZIRA ©

—T-NEEH
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value
hierarchy
NFE
2B

of financial position
ira MR R T
REEFAZREME

Residential properties in  Level 3

Shanghai

REBnEEME B=M

Commercial properties  Level 3
in Guangzhou
REMNEEAME E=MR

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
(AR &
FEWABUE

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

EBLLEOER
SE R

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BERLEEER
F¥ITRER

Significant unobservable
inputs

EATABE

Fal AR

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account

of location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property etc., which is
ranged from RMB127,551
to RMB161,538 (2018:
RMB125,000 to
RMB158,333) per square
metre.
RATMSEERAILLEME R
ZEMEIAKREAMERIEZE
& (AERETERs - MERD
%) WEFHRER  NF
GEHARARE127,5517T
EARME161,5387C (=ZF
— )\ : AR¥125,0007T
= ARH¥158,3337T) ©

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB16,019 to RMB27,840
(2018: RMB16,510 to
RMB28,013) per square
metre.
RAMISEEAI L EYER
ERALE DA R E A (AR E =
& (WERETERS - MEA/N
F) NEFHARER N T
BFHRARE16,0197T
EARM27,840T (=ZF
—N\F : AR¥16,5107T
& AR#28,0137T) °

Sensitivity

BURE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

BYIKERKE LY
BUREMEN A FEFER
fEETt RZIFA

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

FFIRERKE L 5E
HIREMEOH LN FEFER
BT RZIRA -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position

fre BB RS
REEFAZREME

Fair value
hierarchy
AFAE
ZUEAR
Commercial properties  Level 3
in Shenzhen

SR FE)EEUE S B=&

Commercial Shops in Level 3
Qingyuan
B R AL E=R

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
fh{ER &
FEWABUE

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BHERLEEER
FFIKRER

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BEERLEEBER
FFITRER

BEEEAERAA

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable

inputs
EATAEER
BABUR

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB13,750 to RMB15,800
(2018: RMB15,794 to
RMB16,207) per square
metre.
RAMSEEAI L EYER
B EIAKREAMERIEE
& (WNERETERS - MEA/N
Z) NBFHKRERE  NF
GEHARARE13,7507T
EARKE15,8007T (=&
—N\F : AR¥15,7947T
EAR¥16,2077T) ©

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB9,171 to RMB10,909
(2018: RMB10,000 to
RMB10,360) per square
metre.

RATIS AR ER
Z BB A REAMEREZE
& (WERETERS - MEAR/D
Z) MBFAKRER N
FHFIRAREI71T
ZAR®10,9097T (=%
—/\fF : AR¥10,0007T
& AR¥10,3607T) ©

Sensitivity

BURE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

SRR LTS
B AL AT ETEA
B EA - RZ A -

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

¥ IRERKRE LTS
HIREMEOH DN FEFEXR
fBEF  RZIFA -

—T-NEEH
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14.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
REMBARR R NFE
AEERFEZIREME  RELR
Commercial properties  Level 3
in Kunshan

REWLEE R F=H
Commercial properties  Level 3

in London

N GEZGOIEYSEUE S B=/R

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
(AR &
FEWABUE

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

ERLEER
SERER

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BERLLEER
¥ IRER

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use

of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2019, certain investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$1,850,000,000 (2018: HK$1,780,000,000) have

been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable

inputs
EATAEER
BABUR

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB7,647 to RMB11,176
(2018: RMB7,692 to
RMB11,053) per square
metre.

KRS EELLEYER
Z BN B AR EAERIE =
& (AnRERETERs - ME R/
Z) MEBFHKRER N
THFEFRARKET7,6477C
ZEARB11 1767 (=ZF
—N\F : ARKET7,692TE
AR#11,0537T) ©

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties

and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road
frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
Great British Pound (“GBP”)
5,694 to GBP12,888 (2018:
GBP5,656 to GBP14,439)
per square metre.
RAMSEEALRYER
Z BN B A R EAERIEZE
& (WNERETER - MEX
NF) BEGFIIRELR -
T8 77K5,604 1 8
£12,88858 (—%F—/\

F 15,6565 5%514 439%%
%) o
FA o WES

Sensitivity

BURE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

FFIRER KRG LT 5E
BIREMEN R FEFTEKR
fEEF RZIRA

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

FFIRBIRKE LT 5E
BIREMEN R FEFTEKR
f&LET - RZIRA »

NEZRHEAREL -

W MEZ ATER - MEZ&RR
REMRZRSBRIRE -

W-Z—-hAE+-_A=+—80 K&
B 4 = T B ® & A 1,850,000,000
%ﬁz&ﬁmﬁ(:gfﬂﬁ

1,780,000,0007%8 7T ) + LAJER IR 1T &l
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15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT

Freghold ands

Buildings

Leasehold

Plant and
mechinery

15.

Fumiture,

fixtures and

Transportation

BEEEAERAA

W%~ BERRE

Properties,
plant and
equipment

00ST RE

At 1 January 2018 W-E-N\§-F-A 573 3712992 102001 5545166 2301381 1947600 149810 7800 %1525 35709158
Exchange adustments EjgE 4Tty (132521) BT M3 (10608 (69,792 (5347) - 34317 (1.20891)
Acquired on acquistion of WE-HHBARNE

asubsidiary (Note 37(c) (Hs70) - 4817 - a3 - 2801 1430 - 12521 303,000
Additions 7E - 21572 %79 T2 5619 20887 16351 - 14955 298390
Transler fomproperies heldfor ~ BESEEENE

development - 430444 - - - - - - - 430444
Disposals and wit off HERHS - 239 (632 6M9T5) - (80,085) (13083 - (10750 (2696,589)
Reclssfications BiiAR - 188,509 7678 532018 - (176,788) . - (351,417) -
At 31 December 2018 RZ3-N\ETzA=1-R 51263 423400 1021456 24100097 2200088 1866762 149,181 7800 18TLHE 35501062
Exchange adjustments Efaz (1,121 1) (M754 (35800 (8,109 (65.021) 2.200) 64 (10249 (521,229
Acquired on acquisiton of KE-EHBAAMNE

asubsidary (Note 371 (HisEa7) - 3016 - 314749 - 1245 kY - - 31,042
Addions bt - 2348 67,493 436,480 1030 52010 8901 DAL 182418 2454054
Tranfer o ivestment properties ~ ERERENE - (285912) - - - - - - - 285912)
Disposals and wrtg off HERHE - m) (12691)  (1.405617) - (63657) (14677 - (14576 (1541990)
Reclassfication from lcenced assels ~ EREFRAZENNE - 308,465 - 1821 [2153890) - 9,154 - - -
Recassfications B - 175,728 %306 14076% - 48901 - - (1657630 -
At 31 December 2019 WE-NFTZA=1-A 50142 4403260 1089810 26340673 - 1830240 150,391 1942 2041078 359500
DEPRECATION AND IMPARNENT &R 5&

At 1 January 2018 W=Z-N\5-F-B - 757,081 5661 16662064 2025209 107582 101,864 - BRI
Exchange adustments Ejxag - (2573) (1891 (663¢7) 4918) (36,566) (3462) - - (745,946)
Provided for the year TEERE - 459 0265 1639739 67,576 162,453 13411 - - 198043
Fiminated on disposasand wrte o~ 4 B R - (018) (6608 (1716471) - (42.991) (10340) - - (178049
Reclassifcation EfiAE - 3958 - 13 - (397) - - - -
At 31 Decamber 2018 R=Z-NETzA=1-R - 775,888 571427 16019798 1997967 1154750 101473 - - 61
Exchange adjustments Efa% - r018) (6865 (267721) (&3671) 21,762) (1713 - - (348751)
Provided for the year TEERR - 47687 WUET 1630810 12,190 131,279 13632 - - 1804
Eiminated on disposdsand wrte o 1 B R# - - (10,709) (018,569 - (65,710) (13638) - - (100862)
Fiminated on ransfer foinvestment ~ BRZRANEETE

properties - (19,99 - - - - - - - (19994
Reclassfied from loenced assels ~ EREFFAZENNE - 12173% SR [1,966476) - 8040 - - -
At 31 December 2019 WE-AETZAZT-A - 94298 5839 18295023 - 1198558 107,794 - RV
CARRYING VALUES i

At31 December 2019 RZE-AFt-A=1-B 50142 3478966 9141 8045650 - 631,682 Q507 10432 2041078 14800958
At31 December 2018 RE-NET-A=1-A 5283 34475 B009 808929 23011 01 47,708 T80 1875 14879768

—T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

EQU IPMENT (continued)

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction or artwork) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account of their residual values at the following rates
per annum:

Freehold lands Nil

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired
terms of leases ranging from
twenty to fifty years

10-20% or over the term of
the lease, which is shorter

Leasehold Improvements

Plant and machinery* 10-20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/3%
Transportation equipment™® 10-20%
* Including those grouped under licenced assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, plant and machinery
related to the production of coal and coke with a carrying amount of
HK$219,096,000 has been written off due to the de-capacity policy
of the PRC.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s freehold lands of HK$50,142,000
(2018: HK$51,263,000) are situated outside Hong Kong.

15.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

M- BERRE=

BERYE - BFERREREMRI
Lt - BERRERB ERT REF
HERRUAEREER TIIFEL X
RITE

IKAERELI L]

= REBMBLRNFIER
RFERFHB
20F BE50FEE

THEMEEE 10-20% 8 FH A
(LA EB%E)

BB Kk zs 10-20%

B - HEREME 10-331/:%

E R 10-20%

. BESASREAEELIER -

2T -NF+ZA=1+—HLHF
- BRPEMEESRBE  REEBEA
219,096,000 JT # A£ = E R ME KA
BB R S I A 2R A S o

R-_EBE—-hE+-_A=+—8 K=&
B £ 550,142,000 0 (=& — )\ F -
51,263,000 7T, ) sk A EERE L M A &
BB o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND 15. Y% - BERRZRE@
EQU'PM ENT (continued)

Note:  Details of licenced assets: Miz:: BWEEREEFE

Plant and Transportation
Buildings machinery equipment Total

BF ENSE BRRE a&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT TR TR BT

COST A
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\FE—HA—H 326,061 1,965,907 9,413 2,301,381
Exchange adjustments [E 5 7% (15,159) (90,439) (434) (106,032)
Additions NE 4,456 1,163 - 5,619
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—\F

+=—A=+—H 315,358 1,876,631 8,979 2,200,968
Exchange adjustments I 5 (6,893) (41,019) (196) (48,108)
Additions NE - 659 371 1,030
Reclassification BHHE (308,465) (1,836,271) (9,154) (2,153,890)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF

+=ZA=+—H - - - -

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT  #78 R Bi{&

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\FE—HA—H 130,949 1,885,831 8,619 2,025,299
Exchange adjustments IE 5 % (6,141) (88,383) (394) (94,918)
Provided for the year AN E 3,249 64,268 59 67,576
At 31 December 2018 R \F

+=-A=+—H 128,057 1,861,716 8,184 1,997,957
Exchange adjustments [E 5 7% (2,799) (40,693) (179) (43,671)
Provided for the year N E R 2,477 9,678 35 12,190
Reclassification BN (127,735) (1,830,701) (8,040) (1,966,476)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-NF

+=A=+—H - - - -
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZTE—N%F

—A=+—H - _ _ _

At 31 December 2018 R \F

+=—A=+—AH 187,301 14,915 795 203,011

‘ —T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (continued)

Note:  Details of licenced assets: (continued)

On 3 August 2011, 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a subsidiary of
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“‘KBCF” or the “Licensor”) (KBCF
is a listed subsidiary of the Group in 2018 and delisted in 2019), entered
into a licence agreement and a letter of extension and amendments with
Harvest Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a third party,
to licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang
and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2017. On 30 August 2017, the Licensor entered into a letter of
extension and amendments with Licencee and extended the licence period
for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019. The details of the
licence arrangement which remained unchanged, are as follows:

() to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings in
Fogang and Lianzhou;

(b) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall
include consumables and stocks in trade; and

(c) to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and
facilities as from time to time located at the properties in Fogang
and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated above and
the licenced inventories in Note 18 were licenced for licence income of
HK$10,000,000 per month receivable in advance on the first day of each
and every calendar month, as a measure by KBCF to generate income from
the manufacturing facilities, pending the resolution of the interested party
transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing and trading of copper foil,
with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF (Note 42(b)) and the approval
of the interested party transactions mandated by the shareholders and/or
when KBCF clinched new third parties customers for the sales of copper
foil. In the prior year, the licenced properties, plant and equipment had
been reclassified as licenced assets under properties, plant and equipment.

The licence agreement between Licensor and Licencee has been early
expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any Letter of
extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend the licenced
period. Accordingly, the licenced assets have been reclassified to
respective buildings, plant and machinery and transportation equipment
under properties, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. EFRAEEE

Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties  machinery Total

HA L HEMEX BERHESE #at

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR THTT THTT

As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE-NF—HA—H

Carrying amount BRE{E 1,578,191 9,588 2,798 1,590,577
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE—-NF+=A
=+-—H
Carrying amount BRMEE 1,679,477 7,962 4,887 1,692,326
For the year ended BE-Z—N%F
31 December 2019 +TZA=t+—HLFE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 42,259 1,876 714 44,849

Expense relating to short-term B34 HAFE & &% 78 EF
leases and other leases with B YA & R BB %
lease terms end within 12 FR¥R2ERIZE 1655 E H

months of the date of initial HE12{E A N fEm A

application of HKFRS 16 HiuAERERNMAX 339
Total cash outflow for leases ~ FHER & H4ELE 96,052
Additions to right-of-use assets (& BEEERE 197,037

AEBEREERKEERELZEAO LT
i - MEWEREE RS - LI
B EAEN F1FEE50F5]3  FEK
IR LhEr - BESETE

The Group leases various leasehold land, leased properties and
plant and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms

and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
properties. As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed in this note above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$13,214,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$12,849,000 as at 31 December
2019. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

ARG - REE R KA E TR
EHFENRER - AEBERBAINE
EWETE A REINTHORE -

REBETFRABEY X LIEHEE -
R-ZE-NF+-_A=1+—H0  BHH
SHEA BN EXEEHESRX
2 EAEE -

FHERFIRZE

N R=ZE—NF+=-_A=+—H"
EERNAE A E13,214,00058 T)5
fFREEE12,849,000/8 AR - HE
Wl e AR 2% - A ASE
HEEEMBRERRIN - HEEET
BIEEFIETRAR -

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. AHEFRIE
Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows: TENHEERBEZ EHIAT
2018
—E—)N\F
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—\F—HA—H 955,392
Exchange adjustments T W % (33,147)
Additions NE 146,726
Transfer from properties held for development (Note 29) #ERASGEREMEM:E29) 542,832
Charge for the year RNFEEZH (33,612)
At 31 December 2018 W2 N\F+_A=+—H 1,578,191
2018
—ZT—-N\F
HK$'000
FBT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEmEDITT -
Current assets BB E 38,410
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,639,781
1,678,191
The lease term over which the prepaid lease payments are amortised BN TREFIRIZN TI5FE50F T EH
ranged from 35 years to 50 years. HAMESH o
Prepaid lease payments has been reclassified to right-of-use assets BNEEFRERZ=ZZ—NLF—A A&
on adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. MEBIERBRENF1FREEND

BEEREEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

18. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

In the prior year, this represents inventories licenced to the Licencee
(see Note 15). Under the licencing agreement, the Licencee may
use, consume and dispose of the licenced inventories which
include consumables and stocks in trade. However, the Licencee
was required to replace and return the quantities of the licenced
inventories used, consumed or disposed of during the licence period

to the Licensor at the end of the licence period.

The licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed of during
the licenced period were secured by cash and bills receivables of
a related party of the Licencee, with a total receivable value of not
less than the value of the licenced inventories used, consumed or
disposed of as at the end of each reporting period before the licence

period expired.

The licence agreement between Licensor and Licencee had been
early expired on 1 July 2019 and Licensor had not entered any Letter
of extension and amendments with Licencee to extend the licence
period. Accordingly, the other current assets have been reclassified as

inventories.

19. GOODWILL

18.

19.

BEEEAERAA

HttRBEE

EF - hEREEREA(RRE15)
ERANEE - RIBREER DR B
BAFTER AL ERRERR
5 ETERESIREMRESFE - R
i R AR - BREAR
AREAEE REREEERBBD
EH - ERARHENREEAFER

=
= °

RIZHEE R EARE M AT - R R A
AR EREERFERER
BA—ZBEATHR S REREEIE
B BRAETINEHREMRER
EHEMER AL EZEEERT
SPAI=

RN BLEIRRE ART SR IR BE(E R 17558
ERZZ-NFLA—BRAER &
EFNEEY 30 YNARVE TS IS
AT RIFAEE MR - Bt - HAbiR
PEECEHOERTE -

[

i

HK$'000
TET

CARRYING VALUE BREE

At 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—HA—H 2,288,149

Avrising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37(c)) R E U BB T B A | (MIFE37(c)) 178,927

At 31 December 2018 RZE—\F+-_A=+—H 2,467,076

Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37(b)) 8 Uk BB B A B) (B EE37 (b)) 203,452

At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+-_A=+—H 2,670,528
—E-NFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following groups of CGUs:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

[

BRERETE
SELEMAR

i

(&)

CEEDHETATR

2019 2018

—E-hEF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T T
Laminates BIRER 390,781 390,781
PCBs ENRIARBE AR 2,099,898 1,896,446
Chemicals IEITER 179,849 179,849
2,670,528 2,467,076

The recoverable amounts of the laminates’, PCBs’ and chemicals’
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations.
Cash flow projections were extrapolated based on a five-year period
financial budgets approved by the Directors.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations for the CGUs of
laminates, PCBs and chemicals business segments are as follows:

Laminates
BHER

2019 2018

BINER - BIRIARBE R MM E TEMRZ R
SELBMZIRESRREREER
BAEE - ARt eRnE NERESH
ER R F BB ETAE

e .
Ean

BIER - EIRIARBEIR AL TEmET

- Sy -

FR% 12% 12%
BEE(125F) 4% 4%

Discount rate
Growth rate (for year 1to 5)

—E-RE

NEREEEEN 2 FEREEFEEZ
FE2HEEFAT
PCBs Chemicals

ENlE 5 AR VITER

2019 2018 2019
—E-\E

11% 1% 12% 12%

4% 4% 5% 4%

The key assumptions are determined based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development and the growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow
projections in the first five-year period do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the relevant industries and growth rate
ranging from 0% to 3% (2018: 0%) is used beyond the five-year
period.

Since the recoverable amounts of each group of CGUs were higher
than their carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in any
of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of each
group of CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BMILEE
Customer
base
KPR
HK$'000
T4
COST BN
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZ—/\F—H—H -
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37(c)) 8 U EE M B A B (B #E37(c) 27,000
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—)/\F+-_A=+—H 27,000
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37(b)) 0 B Uk B BT A B (B 3E37 (b)) 37,800
At 31 December 2019 N-E—-NEFE+-_A=1+—8 64,800
AMORTISATION i
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F—H—BK
- )\F+_-_A=+—H -
Charge for the year AREFHH 3,960
At 31 December 2019 N-E—-NEFE+-_A=1+—8 3,960
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2019 R-_E—-NF+-_A=+—H 60,840
At 31 December 2018 R-E—)\F+—A=+—H 27,000
The customer base is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period BEPHM10FNIL B E#E -
of 10 years.

' —T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

21. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. RBE QT2 e

2019
—EF-NF

2018
—TE-)N\F
HK$’000
TATT

HK$’000
TAT

Cost of investments in an associate unlisted R EFE S A F]

in the PRC ZIEE KA 185,066 185,066
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEIEU B 1R R &
other comprehensive expense, Hib 2 mEUe
net of dividends received (BB WEE) 212,884 355,615
397,950 540,681

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had interests in the RZE-NFRZFTE—-—N\F+ZA
following associate: =+—R  REBEHEEATEE QTR

<

BX

Place of
establishment

Equity interest held
by the Group
AEBEERE
2019
“E-hE

Name of associate and operation

AR SR

BHENREB

2018
—F)N\F

Proportion of voting
rights held by the Group
FEEEERERELS

2019 2018
v

Principal activities

TEFH

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited* H of methanol
RERBRE L IBRARY RER D HEFE
# The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign # L RABTIARINE B S EARERESR
Equity Joint Venture. BT ©
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

21. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (ontinueq) 21. RNEE DT 2R )

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited

B LREEETARAR

2018

—E-hEF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FHBT

Current assets MEEE 956,778 1,287,691
Non-current assets IERBEE 219,946 267,691
Current liabilities nEE & (181,848) (203,679)

2019 2018
—E-hF — =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FH&T

Revenue Wk 1,232,954 1,622,892

Profit for the year REEHF 129,192 480,423

Other comprehensive income for the year AFEEM2EI S (25,912) (61,388)

Total comprehensive income for the year AEE 2R 103,280 419,035
Dividends received from the associate FRE Y= N T

during the year & B 184,043 131,018

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the B B RS A R B AR A B IS TRER A
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the BRI E A PR BREENY
consolidated financial statement. R o

2019
—g-NnEF

HK$’000
T

Net assets of CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PEAMEEEIERAR

Limited BEFE 994,876 1,351,703
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 2N & E {8 A HEB(E T

in CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited BRAREEEER 2 LE 40% 40%

NEB AR SRR T
BRARER 2 REE 397,950 540,681

' —T-NEEH

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited
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22,
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 22. REELNTINER
Details of the Group's investments in joint ventures are as follows: KEER NRIIRE BN T

b
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
Cost of investment in joint ventures REERAZREKAK 2,503,655 2,503,655
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEAEU B 12 R &
other comprehensive income (expense), Hipzmkss(FAx)
net of dividends received (FOBREUWAZE) 32,779 (37,151)
2,536,434 2,466,504
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period RBMEER - AEBEERAAINFIBED
are as follow: N

Country of
incorporation/ Principal place Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity registration of business interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
R/ FEEEEN FEEEEH
Ei2R BauliEES ITERHY FEERR REEADL TEXH
2019 2018 2019
Z2-NF Z2-NF
Lucky Yuen Ho\ding Limted  Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
[EETARER AR 35 &b business management
WEERREHER
Smart Source Management BV United Kingdom 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
Limited EBRNES kel business management
EREERRAT WEERREHER
Summarised financial information of joint ventures SE NN BEERMEE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

AEBRSERAZHBERRERR
TX - THFBERBRIES SRR
BREMBRMENRUNTBRER 22
L

S
EI

A S ERDAR R B M ®RE

o

A
£

> o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 22. REENTINER =
(continued)
Information of joint ventures SENTNESR
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TERERAR
2018
—Z=—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHIT T
Current assets TENE E 280,157 2,962
Non-current assets (Note) EmehE E (M) 694,670 694,670
Current liabilities mENEE (12,323) (4,252)
Non-current liabilities SEREAE (261,120) -
The above amounts of assets and T EERBESREEE
liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESFMEIER 4,649 2,596
Smart Source Management Limited BREEERLT

2019 2018
—E-hE —=-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
Current assets BB E 13,666 1,809
Non-current assets (Note) IEmENEE (ML) 4,391,196 4,252,211
Current liabilities mENE & (33,378) (14,392)
The above amounts of assets and TMEEREBEEEBLE
liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents Re MREeEBEIAR 4,665 1,809
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and & /B E(TEEE S M
other payables and provisions) HbERBRR N BEE) 541 1,641
Note:  The amount mainly represents investment properties located in Hong Kong Mzt : SBEFZBRUAEEREBENKREY

and United Kingdom.

£

—T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 22. REENTINER =
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) BERTNER (B
The two joint ventures are individually material in relation to the cost FZMRAEERNAIMEER AR EEFE
of the investments and net assets of the joint ventures, but the profit M= EARBEKX  HZREEZEN A
or loss and other comprehensive income of each of the two joint BRkEMEPEKRETTAEKX - Btz
ventures are not material respectively and hence disclosed on an B EERE -

aggregated basis.

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\&F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FAT FHET
Revenue ] 185,185 191,041
Profit for the year INEEE % F| 187,734 173,030
Other comprehensive income (expense) AFEEM2ERESFIL)
for the year 102,730 (247,331)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEFEErEKE(FX)E%E
for the year 290,464 (74,301)
Dividend received from a joint venture FREREENFIRE
during the year 75,302 -
The above profit for the year includes the following: EMAFE N BEATIER ¢
2019 2018
—E-hF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Interest income FLEMA 3 6
Income tax expense FriSHif sz 15,095 13,090

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 22. REENTINER =
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) BERTNER (B
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the e B S E B B4R S BT ISR R A
carrying amount of the interest in two joint ventures recognised in the PHERMEME A S AR 2 REE
consolidated financial statements: FYETER ©
2019 2018
—E2-hF —=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Net assets of Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TR ER AR EEFE 701,384 693,380
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest & B F{5 B E T2
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited BRARHAEER 2 LE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REEBFTGIEE TR
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited BRARERZ 2 REE 350,692 346,690
Net assets of Smart Source Management BREEBRAREEFE
Limited 4,371,484 4,239,628
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ ANEE TR IR E IR
in Smart Source Management Limited BRAREAERSZZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEBFHERER
in Smart Source Management Limited BRATEZ 2 REE 2,185,742 2,119,814

' —T-NEEH
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23. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 23 RAFEMABRZE

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS g =
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FABT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE T2 #ERE S 2,855,449 1,282,278
Equity securities listed in Shanghai REBEmZERFS = 6,782
Equity securities listed in United States RER 7 #EREH 1,972 2,474
2,857,421 1,291,534
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
— Current assets MENEE 491,397 -
— Non-current assets IERBEE 2,366,024 1,291,534
2,857,421 1,291,534
At 31 December 2019, the fair values of the listed equity securities RZE—NF+ZA=+—H8 &&H
held by Group, determined by reference to the quoted market BEMNIMEGEF 2 ATFE(ESE
bid prices available, amounted to HK$2,857,421,000 (2018: ASMHMREETE ) B2,857,421,0007%
HK$1,291,534,000). TT(ZZ—)\4F :1,291,534,000/87T) °

24. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT 24. #A¥EAEM4ZE
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER WE2ERZTAR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHT
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value: JEETRESIRE  HAFE
— private equity investments in Hong Kong —EEBRFPEZALE

and the PRC (Note) SR E () 162,918 164,124
Note:  Included in the balance mainly is the Group’s United States dollar (“US$”) M SEHTEBEAEENRFMC Cayman
20,000,000 (2018: US$20,000,000) (equivalent to HK$156,000,000 /945 & 20,000,000E L (=T — \F -
(2018: HK$156,000,000)) investment in FMC Cayman, an exempted 20,000,000 7T ) (#& 7 156,000,000
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, acquired B (=2 — \F : 156,000,000 %
in the prior year. The Group has a 0.85% (2018: 0.91%) equity interest in T0)) ' A RRIERS B S A E MK
FMC Cayman. FMC Cayman is an investment holding company and its NAERERR  AEBRE—FE
subsidiaries are engaged in manufacture of premium automobiles focused WigZ AR o AREEHEBFMC Cayman

on electric passenger vehicles in the PRC. 0.85%(=Z—/\F : 0.91% ) f& 4 -

FMC Cayman&iZ =R AR - B8
ARRFREESRTERE - EE
FEE o

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘



179 BEEEAERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

25. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

HK$’000
TR

Listed bond securities at fair value:

— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued
by listed issuers in Hong Kong with a
fixed coupon interests ranging from
6.00% t0 9.85% (2018: 6.00% to 9.85%)
and maturity date from 21 May 2020 to
11 January 2022 (2018: 21 May 2020 to
11 January 2022)

EHESES  BAFE

— BB L EIT ABITW R
Frtm - ABF BN T6.00
Exzo85@E(=—ZF— /\F :
6.00EE9.858 ) 7 [EFE =
B UWR-ZE-ZTFHA
_+ HE-_ZT—-—F—H4
+—HEHB( = N\F :
—E-EFFA-_+—HZE

2 ZF—A+—H) 1,526,825 1,534,702
— listed on SGX and issued by listed issuers ~ —&B T EEITAREITH R
in Hong Kong with a fixed coupon FrEm - ABFEENTF5.75
interests ranging from 5.75% to 10.875% EZx10.875E(=ZF—N\
(2018: 4.75% to 10.875%) per annum F : 4.75BE10.87512) 2
and maturity dates from 24 August 2020 ETFTES  WR_ZE_TF
to 27 January 2024 (2018: 25 April 2019 NAZ+OEZE=Z [
to 27 January 2024) F-AZ+tBEH(=2
—N\F: ZF—-NFMHA
“+HRBE-Z_NFE—A_
—++H) 6,240,701 7,161,134
— listed on DAX and issued by a listed — BB EMEITABITENER
issuer in Hong Kong with a fixed coupon FrEt - ABEFE6.25EE
interests ranging from 6.25% to 6.375% B6.37EZEERE RN
per annum and maturity dates from 25 —E--FMNAZ+HAZRE
April 2021 to 17 September 2024 ZE-PFNAATEREE = 151,717
— listed on SIX and issued by a listed issuer — — I+ RFER _E T AT
in Switzerland and United States of RETR S LT ABF
America with a fixed coupon interest B7A25E (=T —)\F :
of 7.125% (2018: 7.125%) per annum 7A25[B) 2 EERE - Wik
and with no fixed redemption date but ElEE e H% ﬁ% TAE
redeemable at the option of the issuer R —ZE=——F\A+HE
after 10 August 2021 =] 115,018 107,279
Total = 7,882,544 8,954,832
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BIREREmMONA
— Current assets —RENEE 866,041 78,195
- Non-current assets —JEMBEE 7,016,503 8,876,637
7,882,544 8,954,832
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair values of the listed bond RZE-NER_ZF-NE+_A
securities are determined by reference to the valuation provided =+—H ;ARBRZERMYE - EWE
by the pricing vendor based on its own valuation techniques on FRFNATELEEEEAREBER

adjustment for lack of an active market.

SHHERMASHERBRETE -

—=F—

NEFR
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25. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
|NCOME (continued)

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

25.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

b=1]13

2
b

Bit AHt2mH
B IR

v

Z

w>
NG

Bl

s

BAVERAREEZERE ZEHTA
BRETIINEEERAM 2 EEEN
SNEREETHEZ R

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT—-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

Uss$ eV

THIT TET

7,882,544 8,954,832

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 40(b).
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mEMBRRME
26. LOAN RECEIVABLE 26. EWWER
2019 2018
—T-NF —T)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR
Fixed-rate loan receivable FEU & TE FI R B
In more than one year but not more —F LA HETBBEMRE
than two years 600,000 -
The unsecured loan receivable was advanced to an independent third EEFERERDEN T —EBIE
party and carries interest at 7% per annum and is repayable in July =7 BEMNEI%EER =T =—
2021. Details of impairment assessment of loan receivable for the FLABRE -BE-T-NAF+-A
year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in Note 40(b). =+ —RAIEFERWE RO RET G
BRI FE40(D) ©
27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. ELEBIIE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TRAKRERERBEFREND MR
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior BREEHRBABREEARER 28
years: #:

Fair value

change of

Fairvalue  assets arising
Accelerated change of from  Undistributed
tax Write-down investment  acquisition of profits of

depreciation Taxlosses  of inventories properties  subsidiaries  an associate
REWEAR  WEHELF

EANEE  ELMEE -EREN

nEHHTE HBES FEME  ATERY  AVERD  ZAAREA

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR Thn TR T Thn Thn

At1 January 2018 R=E-N\E-A-A 2213 (12522) (9,286) 690512 79493 2,240 779,650
Bxchange adjustments A% (1,169) - - (27619 - [0 (28.878)
Credit to consolidated statement HAREE

of proft orloss for the year (Note 9) GABER

(Hi9) (1,011) - (8,739) - (13,639) - (23,389

At 31 December 2018 W25-/\F+=A=+-A 27,08 (12522) (18,025) 662,803 65,854 2150 727,383
Exchange adustments ERf (541) - - (13.258) - 43 (1384
(Credit) charge to consolicated stetement (A AIRAEE

o proft orloss for the year GABGR

Note ) (zx9) (1,120 - 45273 - 16,126 - (30267)
Acauistion (Note 37) e (Bsan) - - - - 12,141 - 12,141
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NFT-B=1-A 26,372 (12522) (63,298) 649,635 94121 2,107 695,415

‘ —T-NEEH
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mEMBRRME
27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 27. jﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ(%)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial AT A B S Rshimim &2 IR f T8 45
reporting purposes: RO
2019 2018
—E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHAT

Deferred tax assets RIEF IR & B 2,539 3,653
Deferred tax liabilities REHIABE (697,954) (731,036)
(695,415) (727,383)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses RERBERERD  AEE A #
of approximately HK$2,306,634,000 (2018: HK$1,900,930,000) BEHARKREFNzABHHARBEE
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax assets A #)2,306,634,000 8 L (=& — N\
has been recognised in respect of HK$50,088,000 (2018:  : 1,900,930,000 & T ) o Bt
HK$50,088,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been 850,088,000 B ;L (=& — J\F
recognised in respect of the remaining HK$2,256,546,000 (2018: 50,088,000 % 7t ) B ¥ R IR LT H 1B &
HK$1,850,842,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit B o BRRIEFRAATEA - B
streams. All tax losses will be expired gradually within five years to B EREE2,256,546,00078 T ( —Z— )\
year 2024 (2018: 2023). £+ 1,850,842,0007%8 7T ) HE R (E AR AE

RIBEE - 2BHEBEERAFAE
FHPEE T _NFE(ZZE—N\F:

—T=F).
4
28. INVENTORIES 28. FE
2019 2018
—T—NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Raw materials R 1,377,594 1,377,294
Work in progress EEE 732,558 728,597
Finished goods UK 852,234 850,225
2,962,386 2,956,116
During the year ended 31 December 2019, a write-down of HE-_Z-NF+-_A=+—HIEHF
inventories HK$181,093,000 (2018: write down of inventories = MR 7F & 181,093,000 T ( = F
HK$34,954,000) has been recognised and included in cost of sales. —N\F : WORmIFE34,954,00087T)E
EERRET AHEA -
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29. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

ARE I IRARMEE

Movements of properties held for development are as follows:

29. SFREYHE

ERBRMESBIT ;

HK$’000
TAT

At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZZE—NF—HF—H(&E7) 15,707,508
Exchange adjustments P& A% (746,813)
Additions NE 8,239,802
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) HEER T EYE (ME14) (100,328)
Transfer to properties, plant and equipment (Note 15) EEYE - BE K E(FIFE15) (430,444)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments (Note 17) RS TENHEEZIE (M EE17) (542,832)
Transfer to cost of sales R EEERAR (2,103,757)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H 20,023,136
Exchange adjustments PE H TR (398,976)
Additions NE 3,467,500
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EREREYE(E14) (1,016,991)
Transfer to cost of sales EREHERA (959,077)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+—A=+—H 21,115,692
Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held for & A3 R M2 MR L) L 1180
development is set out below: AHTEAT -
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-NF—A—H
Carrying amount BREE 14,437,558
As at 31 December 2019 R-E—-NAF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEIE 13,270,405
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-NAF+-A=+—HLEFE
Total cash outflow Rembass 16,514
AddlthﬂS //J\\E 16,51 4
Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold B-ZE—hE—HA—HiE  BHT-E

lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December

2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, properties held for =1
development with carrying amount of approximately HK$959,077,000
(2018: HK$2,103,757,000) were completed and sold to third parties.
The remaining balance as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was

related to properties that were still under development.

FREERBEEEMERRERFE 165
FRASR AR REHT 8 RAEMDRE R R
B - SMEREH AR 2 HE T
EEEETE - KHAT-AEFE+-A
=t+—AREEEME - TEREL L
AHEITE -

ECE-NET_A=+—HBIF
£ - BREIE%)959,077,000 #Ain(=F
—\% :2,103,757,000/8 70 ) 2 F %R
MEERLETFE=ZH - RZT—hF
RZB-N\F+A=+—HBR T4
MREMDIFERERR

—=F—

NEFH
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29. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT  29. Z&EW#* s

(continued)

One of the Group’s properties development project with a carrying AEBEHREFR -—BHEEEA
amount of HK$1,445,261,000 (2018: HK$4,080,928,000) has been 1,445,261,0008 L 2 %3 RIAER (=
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. T — \4F : 4,080,928,000/%7T) * LA

BIRTTRLE o

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development EERRTERVENERRDEE -
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for TR ERERNETSEERY 58
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s ZEVENBNANIRERIRHE -

normal operating cycle.

30. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 30. EttEmEE
(@) Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ ESZREMEVRERETE
and entrusted loans ARERETER
2019 2018
—T—hF —E=—\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B SR 7,904,344 7,349,179
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,139,894) (1,033,494)
Trade receivables, net FEURBRIE 5 6,764,450 6,315,685
Advance to suppliers TEHE R FIE 338,991 378,561
Entrusted loans (Note) ZHaEZ (M) 505,083 646,676
Prepayment and deposits TERFIERIES 745,897 1,127,862
Value added tax (“VAT”) recoverables AR B ER([EER ) 592,133 358,378
Other receivables H b e W BR 3R 290,721 293,584
9,237,275 9,120,746
Less: Non-current portion of entrusted B EAERSERE IS
loans (Note) (B%E) (465,859) (605,789)
8,771,416 8,514,957
As at 1 January 2018, the gross carrying amount of trade RZE—N\F—A—H REE
receivables from contracts with customers amounted to FAXHNE S RIERREAE
HK$7,210,822,000 with allowance for credit losses of 737,210,822,0008 7T + 5 B
HK$934,179,000. 18R 5934,179,000/8 7T ©
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30. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) HittEMEE )

(@ Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ 25 &ﬁf&ﬂ”ﬁl&ﬁﬁy’

and entrusted loans (continued)

Note:  The entrusted loans of HK$505,083,000 (2018: HK$646,676,000)
are due from certain purchasers of properties developed by the
Group in the PRC through four (2018: four) commercial banks in
the PRC (the “Lending Agents”). The entrusted loans carry interest
at variable rates ranging from 3.92% to 5.39% (2018: 3.92% to
5.39%) per annum, payable on monthly basis and the principal
will be payable on or before 2034 (2018: 2034). The purchasers
of the Group’s properties has pledged to the Lending Agents the
respective properties purchased. These properties are located in
Kunshan, PRC.

As at 31 December 2019, entrusted loans amounting to
HK$465,859,000 (2018: HK$605,789,000) are in respect of
repayments due after 12 months from the end of the reporting
period and are classified as non-current assets.

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2018: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

NREREXTER(E
B e - iﬁiﬁqjlm?ﬁ(—g /\¢ :
MR)EAERT(THRERE
AN EWE FAEERER
)% #) B 5R505,083,0007%8 7T
(ZZ— /\#F : 646,676,000
BLI)ZETER - EXE
2 IFEF EALN T3.92FE
E539B(=F—\F : N
3.92@5&5.39@)2%@%
CBIR B Kﬁ/ﬁﬁ
_q_mﬁ(—i NEF
T 0F ) RARTHR © ZK;%
EMEBREKMSEED
EEHRTFHRERIEA - %5
MEMRPREL -

—hE+-A=+—
B RFEEMERET
+ToEA%BIBERZET
& 34465,859,000/8 T (= &
— J\4 : 605,789,000 7T )
DERIERBEE -

AEELTEFIRFZIEERH
&RA120B(ZZF—/)\F : 120
H) RTEENERME °
RmEPELERER - EHEK
RN (MR EEBERE) 2Rk
ERBEEHES WO

2019
E—
HK$°000
FAT
0-90 days 0£90H 5,465,173 4,852,418
91-120 days 91&120H 652,244 672,327
121 -150 days 12121504 449,808 522,472
151-180 days 1512180H 111,067 178,065
Over 180 days 180H A E 86,158 90,403
6,764,450 6,315,685
As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s trade RZE-—NhhF+ZA=+—
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying A $‘§ EME SRR
amount of HK$905,147,000 (2018: HK$872,564,000) HEERRE B HE SN

which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$108,841,000 (2018: HK$86,589,000)
which has been past due over 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

T 44 15 905,147,000/ T ( = &
— J\ £ : 872,564,000 /& 7T )
B FE UL BR 3K - iiﬁsﬁﬁ* E o
108,841,000 7L( =& — \4F :
86,589,000/ 7T ) Eﬁ,ﬁmo Bk
AL ERBEZERFPRITAE
REEE  MEAHBRT KRB RE
2@ c AEEWEMZSEBRITE
fff—ﬁﬁﬁauu ©
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30 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 30 Ef&ﬁﬁﬂﬁé(ﬁé)

(@ Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ EBEZkRHEMEKERRTE
and entrusted loans (continued) HRERETERE)
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other HE-_ZT-NF+=-A=+—H
receivables and bills receivables for the year ended 31 E—Z—NF+-_A=+—HIt
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are set out in note FE - B NHMBEWERTUAR
40(b). FEU IR B0 R E T SHIBE AT

5F40(b) °
Included in trade and other receivables are the following B NEMEWEREE T
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional EEEEIBEEEE AINEE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: FHEZ FEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FBT
us$ Ev 960,905 1,061,557
HKS BT 380,921 577,621
Euro dollar (“Euro”) B 1,780 62,881

(b)  Bills receivables by EWEE
Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 90 days (2018: RRBEZAE  AEEERER
90 days) based on invoice date at the end of the reporting R AW E BIM & RERQO
period. H(ZZE—/\F : 90H) 2R °
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30. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(c)

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. At 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank
balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing market
interest rates which range from 0.01% to 3% (2018: 0.01%
to 3%) per annum. Fixed deposits carried fixed rate interest of
3.2% (2018: 3.2%).

At 31 December 2019, the Group had bank balances and
cash that were not freely convertible or were subject to
exchange controls in the PRC, amounting to approximately
HK$3,880,138,000 (2018: HK$3,270,391,000).

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

(c)

BEEEAERAA

30. EME®MEE »

IRITHEBRERS

BTGB RESEEASERE
ZHEERRBEAAE=MA K
TZRHRITER - RZF— N
F+ZA=+—8 ' AEEMIR
THEHH R FFIRRTMISFR X
NTFO01EEIE(ZT—\F ¢
NTFO0.01EEIE)FTE - THF
HzETEFLAZE(ZZT—)N\
F32E) -

RZZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H"
AEETA]BHRARFEBEZF
SNEE FIFTARR 2 IRITAE R R IR
£49/53,880,138,000/8 T (=&
—\%F : 3,270,391,000/87T) °

RITAEH LIRS BRI TIIASE
BRI e ERIAINE R
182 R -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHBT
Uss$ eV 336,810 930,122
HK$ BT 792,512 1,461,620
Euro BT 6,840 5,546
GBP B 69,608 339,797
“E-NFFER
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B REMENRRRENRE

2019 2018

“E-NEF ZT—N\F

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FAT FATT

Trade payables B S EERR 3,134,885 3,213,519

Accrued expenses TEIREA 886,941 1,055,844
Payables for acquisition of properties, BEME  BEX

plant and equipment RABRFETERIA 497,637 429,896

Other tax payables H A HIE 652,392 826,845

VAT payables FEAT 1B {ERL 259,849 174,324

LAT payables JE A+ IR (E RS 75,582 344,503

Other payables H A ET BRI 333,887 379,525

5,841,173 6,424,456

Bills payables (Note) FERT SRR (B 5E) 359,920 512,566

6,201,093 6,937,022

Note: Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2019 was payables for
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment of HK$1,379,000 (2018:
HK$57,316,000).
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)
The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

31.

BEEEAERAA

ESRAMENRIRENRE(GE)
REHREAERRLE - ERERBRHN
EHRNRKZREAOMTANT

2019 2018

—T—N4F ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

0-90 days 0%&90H 2,455,074 2,549,851
91-180 days 912180H 304,775 397,210
Over 180 days 180H A L 375,036 266,458
3,134,885 3,213,519

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2018: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2018: 90 days)
based on issue date at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

REBAMOTHEEMNRIOA(=F
—/\F : 90R) - AEERITH B ER
EEBRRERTEENEFIREERA

+3E
S o

ERNBZERE  AEEEMNZEEERERA
MEMBERBHOB (ZE—)\F
QR)ZA °

B LEMENERRENERBET
SIASEE R 2 AR RE R UINESE
FHEZ 2

2019 2018

—T—hE —E—N\EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FHBT

Uss$ =TT 672,056 822,352

HK$ 7T 404,115 164,624

Euro &7t 52 103
“E-NFFER
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31.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

PR AR M

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

31.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2018

—T—N4F ZE-N\F

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FAT T

Sales of properties HEYHE 5,720,151 2,844,281
Sales of chemicals SHEL TEMR 582,356 496,513
Sales of laminates HEE IR 71,598 107,274
6,374,105 3,448,068

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$4,805,340,000.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, certain amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of properties are expected to be realised
after one year at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of
contract liabilities of sales of laminates and chemicals are expected to
be realised within one year at the end of the reporting period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities at 31 December and 1 January 2018.

R-ZZE—NF—A—HB 40HEELHE
/4,805,340,000/8 7T ©

RZE-NERZZFTE-—NFE+=A
=+—R HEVENEHNEEETS
HIEE N wE AR —F R ER -
HEBRARERMEIERNEGHAESR
e EEAE R EmERES —FAE
o

TRENE-_F-N\FF+=ZA=+—H
M—A—REZNANEERHEER
ZEEERE -

Sales of Sales of Sales of
properties chemicals laminates
SHEME HECIER HEBHER
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT FAT
For the year ended BE-_Z-h&F
31 December 2019 +t-BA=+—-RALFE
Revenue recognised that was FACE-N\F+=A
included in the contract liability =t—B&eHaBEEHS
balance at 31 December 2018 REMREEE 1,162,410 496,513 107,274
For the year ended BE_Z-N\&F
31 December 2018 TZA=+—-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was FAZE-N\F—A—H
included in the contract liability BRBEEHE
balance at 1 January 2018 EHREER 3,284,551 163,634 1,030,460
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, included in contract liabilities for
sale of properties was a balance of HK$145,861,200 (2018:
HK$162,290,000) received from certain Directors and close family
members of the Directors for purchase of properties.

Typical payment terms with which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property contract period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

Sales of laminates and chemicals

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

31.

BEEEAERAA

=Y S-LE )
R-ZZE—AF+=—A=+—8 " #HED
ENANBEBRABEYECKRET
BB R EITFAFRI8 145,861,200 7T
(ZZ—)\4F : 162,290,000/ 7T ) °

AR RIEREERRANE N AEDHE
RN
- HEWE

AEERFT I MEEE AR A
EPWEMEER A HEE30%E
50%MiRE - WEFESHER
W) ZEHOFE BIRE RTUCER B2 T A #05R
B o BE RIAN IR SIEHE
BYMEANEERANEE
HERFESKRIT Y6
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AN - AEER R - FENFOER
EHAEARENS - At K
BeREERAREEERENE
BRI FURER EENZEEN
FEE o ST FIRE IR L
BHANBREDRE  ERIVE
MEEEEERPRINEME
ERWERBETHE -

- HEBRER MM TER
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NEE BEEEEEWITHIE
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32. BANK BORROWINGS 32. RITERE
HK$’000
FAET
Bank loans HRITER 24,074,068 26,984,653
Trust receipt loans ErEBUEE R 335,841 529,028
24,409,909 27,513,681
Secured BER 1,032,514 1,795,968
Unsecured MR 23,377,395 25,717,713
24,409,909 27,513,681
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR T EAREE 2 BREE"
Within one year R—FR 7,477,137 6,842,358
More than one year but not more than —F L HETER
two years M 6,663,447 5,699,682
More than two years but not more than M LA LB BB
three years =4 6,971,739 7,024,853
More than three years but not more than —FLHETHER
five years AF 3,007,732 7,630,546
More than five years BB AF 289,854 316,242
24,409,909 27,513,681
The carrying amounts of bank loans that B R BEIE TG
contain a repayment on demand clause B ERHaE)BENUAT
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: HHF? B 7IRTEREREE
Within one year R—FR 24,000 24,000
More than one year but not more than —F L LB R
two years N 24,000 24,000
More than two years but not more than M LA LB BB
three years =F 24,000 24,000
More than three years but not more than =ZF A EETBR
five years R 48,000 48,000
More than five years BB RF 289,854 316,242
409,854 436,242
Carrying amount repayable within one year W A R E K E R IGRA
without repayment on demand clause R—FREENEDE 7,453,137 6,818,358
Amounts due within one year shown under TERBBEZIE
current liabilities R—FREEFE 7,862,991 7,254,600
Add: Amounts shown under non-current liabilities /il : 3EREN & (& 2 718 16,546,918 20,259,081
24,409,909 27,513,681
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * ERESBRARERBEANTETER
respective loan agreements. HERBIH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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32.

PR AR M

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the bank borrowings are all variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest ranging from Hong Kong Inter-Bank
Offer Rate (“HIBOR”) + 0.78% to HIBOR + 1.75% (2018: HIBOR +
0.9% to HIBOR + 1.75%) per annum, London Inter-Bank Offer Rate
(“LIBOR”) + 1.75% (2018: LIBOR + 1.75%) per annum and Loan
Prime Rate (“LPR”) + 1.355% per annum.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, certain bank loans and trust receipt
loans of the Group are covered by corporate guarantees given by
Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as
follows:

32.

BEEEAERAA

BITEE )

RZZE—NF+—_A=+—8 ' R7E
B2 ARZEMEE  FEXNTES
RITRAEFREIMO.78EEEBIRITRE
FEIMI.75E (=T —)\F : HHRT
FEFRENOIEEEBRITRENE
1758 ) TE - MBERITTRIEREM
175B(ZT—N\F : mBERITRER
BN1.75[F ) LA K B 51 45 B A
1.355[E o

R-F-NFR-F-NF+A
=+—B - REEETRTERRIERE
WS B A R E R E WA AL
ARERABRATRHATER -

AEBERTEEZERMNX(MAERE
FTHRR)SBELT -

Effective interest rates BERF|=
Variable-rate borrowings mEEE

2.18% to 5.51%
2.18E £5.51&

1.67% to 4.14%
1.67EF4.14F

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate:

RITEERBETIASE TR 2B
BEEHINERIHEZ 25 -

2019 2018

—TNF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT THTT

HK$ BT 23,681,049 26,889,647
Us$ ETT 106,200 624,034
—E-NEFEFER
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

HERE

2019
—T-NEF
HK$’°000
T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHAE8E
Within one year —FR 2,906
Within a period of more than one year —F LA HBTEBR
but not more than two years R 2,814
Within a period of more than two years LA EBTN R R
but not more than five years R 6,049
Within a period of more than five years BBERF 1,445
13,214
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown & : B & &R 1218 A N5 4
under current liabilities o)t (2,906)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown ERBEET 2B REEGEE
under non-current liabilities oot 10,308

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by
the relevant group entities range from 2.56% to 4.75%. These lease
liabilities were measured at the present value of the payments that are
not yet paid.

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies which are same
as the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘

NEBR] M FT A RO EH ST A E
HiREE  AHEETRERNISE
BHRENT256EE475E - ZSHE
BERMASZ AT RRRESE -

T (X0 50 B SR B ) A S 4
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. R

Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERTRAR

Number of Number of

shares Amount shares Amount
BROEE 2] REE 28
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEIT FHET

Ordinary shares of FRR0A0B T E R -
HK$0.10 each:

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—AF—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,066,452,236 106,645
Exercise of share options ~ 1T{& {8 5 B AR i
(Note 35) (Fft3x35) - - 16,700,000 1,670

At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=A

=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,083,152,236 108,315
Exercise of share options 1718 5 B 4
(Note 35) (PfE35) - - 23,830,000 2,383
Shares repurchased FERE Bl M AE AR
and cancelled (Note) (M) - - (1,224,500 (122)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—hF
+=-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,105,757,736 110,576
Note:  During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares through MiEE :  FR - ARRBBHZATEREARFH
Stock Exchange as follows: LR ¢

Price per share

SRER

Aggregate

Month of consideration

repurchase Highest paid

§BE A 7 BS EfRERE

HK$ HK$’000

BT 7 FExT

December 2019 —E-NEF+=A 600,000 23.10 22.95 13,811

October 2019 —ZT-hEF+A 948,500 21.00 20.55 19,697

September 2019 —E-NENA 276,000 20.80 19.90 5,581

39,089
The above ordinary shares were cancelled during the year, except LatE AR E RN FREE - ETZAE
600,000 shares repurchased in December. The 600,000 shares i [2 /9600,0008% & A BR Fh © 5%600,000
repurchased in December 2019 was cancelled in February 2020. R ZE—NFE+Z AEBERRH R

T TE AREEH -

' —T-NEEH
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35. SHARE OPTIONS

(@

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company

The Company’s 2009 share option scheme (the “2009
Scheme”) was approved by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
23 March 2009. The Company adopted the New Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) which was approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 27 May 2019. The 2009 Scheme was
accordingly terminated on the same day without affecting the
holders’ rights of any options granted and outstanding under
the 2009 Scheme. There were no share option outstanding at
the end of the reporting period under the 2009 Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme and 2009 Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to the eligible participants (the “Eligible
Participants”) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

35. ETERE

(@

ARREEELBERES
gl

AR BTN ERABAE
B[S EAFHERARA
E-TENF=A—+=RBSH
MR RIA R LR -
AR AR E SRR 8
(Tsat81)) - B BIRA R A
— B RER A+ AR
BEHRIAR LEREIE « [
B —TEAEHBIRREL -
B RS TEATHE
B B R B SRR
2B ARER] - NI
— BTN EE T WA
SR E S RRARE -

Zat B R —ETNEFFEIRTL
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of ten years,
the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to Eligible Participants
who contribute to the long term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”), including any executive director of
the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any person or entity who from time
to time determined by the Board as having contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
based on his or its performance and/or years of service, or is
regarded as valuable resources of the Group based on his/
its working experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors. The subscription price for the Company’s
shares shall be a price at least equal to the highest of the
nominal value of the Company’s shares, the average of the
closing prices of the Company’s shares quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of an offer of the grant of the options and the
closing price of the Company’s shares quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the date of an offer of the grant of the options.
The Board, when extending an offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, may impose conditions as it thinks fit, which may
include minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised or other conditions as the Board
may of its absolute discretion determine. The options must
be taken up by a participant within 28 business days from
the date of grant upon payment of HK$1 and are exercisable
over a period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to each grantee, which period may commence from the date
of acceptance of the offer of the grant of the options but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of
adoption of the Scheme.

BEEEAERAA

35. BEBERE®

(@
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group (excluding
options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the
date of adoption of the Scheme. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 108,315,223 (2018:
Under 2009 Scheme 84,473,904) shares, which represents
approximately 9.8% (2018: Under 2009 Scheme 7.8%) of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report. The limit on the number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group must not exceed 30%
of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time. The total
number of the Company’s shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme
or other schemes of the Group in any 12-month period up
to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Company’s
shares in issue at the date of grant unless approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

35. BEBERE®

(@

EATEEELBRES
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KRR BT RIEZTE R A
REEE A AT EIR L AE L ER
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—N\F: ZETNFFEET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME
35. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 35. @%Eﬁﬂﬁ%(%)
(@@ Employees’ share option scheme of the (@ XTAREEELEEREST
Company (continued) (6D
A summary of the movements of the number of share options R ZTTNEFEI RS
under the 2009 Scheme and the Scheme for the year is as BT 2 BB S B S8t
follows: PN

Balance at Exercised  Balance at Granted Exercised  Balance at Exercise
1 January during 31 December during during 31 December price
Date of grant 2018 the year 2018 the year the year 2019 pershare  Exercisable period
H=2-NE R=F-1F

H=%-NF = 123
-R-B MEM Zt-B MEm pEm =18 5B
s GLIN Bt i mER GRS
; .

Granted to directors on;
RTEZ:
19 March 2015 15,040,000 (15,040,000) - - - - HK$12.424 19 March 2015t
“E-REZATNA 1240457 22 March 2019 (Note )
“2-1EZATNRZE
“E-N\FZAZTZR
(BzE)
14 August 2019 - - - 25700000  (20,470,000) 5,230,000 HK$17.304 14 August 2019 to
“E-NENATEA 17.304% T 13 August 2029 (Note i i
“E-NEN\ATEAZ
“E-NENATER
RN
Granted to employees on:
RTES -
19 March 2015 1660000 (1,660,000) - - - - HK$12424 19 March 201510
“E-15=AthA 1240457 22 March 2019 Note )
“Z-REZBTAAE
ey oy =
(Bz)
14 August 2019 - - - 3,800,000 (3,360,000 40000 HK$17.304 14 August 20190
“T-NF/\BTER 17306 13 August 2029 (Notei i
“Z-NEN\BTRAEZ
“EoNENATZA
(i i)
16,700,000 (16,700,000) - 29500000  (23,830,000) 5,670,000
Exercisable at
RUTBEA TR
1 January 2018 16,700,000
“T-)\&-A-H
31 December 2018 -
“E-\E+-A=T-H
31 December 2019 5,670,000
3 e e =

‘ “E-NEFFR
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, options of 16,700,000
shares in the Company at exercise price of HK$12.424 per share
were exercised under the 2009 Scheme. The weighted average
closing prices of the Company’s share is granted on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately before the exercise
date was HK$25.0. The amount of approximately HK$2,560,000
was reclassified from share-based payments reserve to share
premium. As of 31 December 2018, there were no options
exercisable under the 2009 Scheme. During the year ended 31
December 2019, there were no movements under the 2009
Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 29,500,000 options
were granted under the Scheme on 14 August 2019. All share
options were vested on the date of grant. The estimated fair value
of the options granted on that date was HK$132,625,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, under the Scheme,
options of 23,830,000 shares granted in the Company at exercise
price of HK$17.304 per share were exercised. The weighted
average closing prices of the Company’s share is granted on
the Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before
the exercise date was HK$21.38. The amount of approximately
HK$107,134,000 was reclassified from share-based payments
reserve to share premium.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

35. BEBRE
AAAEEELXBRES

(@

gl@)

GEX

(0

(i

(i)

Hz-_Z—-N\&+=A4
=+—ALEE RBRE=ZF
TAFHE  RERAAH
16,700,000 % % 7 & Ix 171
B12.424 T (B BB IR &
AT - ARAIRNBERAE
BEIEAPMAEZIZAE
) BR 19 69 hn ¥ kT
B /25.0/% 7T ° 492,560,000
BT ENBTERER
HEWETHIBEERNDEE
RZE-NF+ZA=+—
B WEELBERETR
B_ZZTAEFE FUMT
F-BE-_T—NF+=-A
=t+—HLEFE ZTTh
FEHEIBTHEEBRET
EmEE) o

Hz-Z—-N&+=A
=+—HILFE - BREZET
& + 29,500,000 17 12 %t & I
ER_T—NFENATHEA
B - TBEEBEBRENE
LHEEE N&ZAREHN
BEBREZEHLTFER
132,625,000/ 7T °

Hz-_Z—-hh&+=A
=+—RLLEE - BIE&
Bl - R A 7] #9 23,830,000
A& AR 1 & AR 17 (55 8 17.304 7
TLEE LB AT - K
DA R T EE1TE B H
AAER S8 EFHOBRG
K NAE 9T B /21,3878
JC ° #9107,134,000/8 7LH &
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date B A HARRE
Exercise price TEfE
Expected volatility TEERR IR
Expected life TE BRI U AR

Risk-free rate 4R R I R

Expected dividend yield TEEANR B

RATT TS 2R

Early exercise multiple

BEEEAERAA

35. BEBERE®

ARREEELBERES
E-L[C))
RFERA = BEA A H A -
HEXOBABIERIT

(@

2019

—E2-hEF
Directors Employees
= &8
HK$16.98 HK$16.98
16.985& T 16.983& 5T
HK$17.304 HK$17.304
17.30478 T 17.30478 T
39.22% 39.22%
10 years 10 years
105 104
1.17% 1.17%
5.77% 5.77%
2.8x 2.2x
2.8 2.2

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 10
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$132,625,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

FEHRIE R BIER B
ETFZELKIBETE - HEE
BEREGET - BAh2EHE
MEHCAERELBRIEZ TR
RN TERBIETAFER
REZZEMABPTRE -

HEZZ-—hF+=—A=*+—
HIEFE  AEBERAREE
B B ok B AR R TR R S 4R RE
132,625,000 . (= Z — N\
FrfE) e

—BHEREBRHEE MR
AT - #HE B SRBRATE
2 BURBRDENEE Y B
#HE - (B SRR M R St
BER #RTRAmEL -

B NEER
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”)

In 2018, a new share option scheme, the 2018 Elec & Eltek
Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the “2018 EEIC Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 April 2018 and was
adopted by the shareholders of EEIC on 12 September 2018
upon fulfilment of all the conditions precedent as set out the
2018 EEIC Scheme. Since its adoption, no options have been
granted by EEIC pursuant to the 2018 EEIC Scheme as at the
date of this report.

The purpose of the 2018 EEIC Scheme is to provide an
opportunity for employees who have contributed significantly
to the growth and performance of EEIC Group and who satisfy
the eligibility criteria as set out in Rule 4 of the 2018 EEIC
Scheme, to participate in the equity of EEIC, so as to motivate
them to greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards of
performance, and to give recognition to past contributions
and services. Additionally, the 2018 EEIC Scheme will help
EEIC to attract and retain the services of appropriate, qualified
and experienced employees who would be able to contribute
to EEIC’s business and operations.
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”) (continued)

The 2018 EEIC Scheme entitles the option holders to exercise
their options and subscribe for new ordinary shares in EEIC
at either: (1) the “Market Price”, which is defined as the
average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares
(as determined by reference to the Official List published by
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST”) for a period of five consecutive market days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant; or (2) a discount to the
Market Price, provided that the discount shall not exceed
20% of the Market Price, save that the exercise price must be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

Options granted at the Market Price or at a discount to the
Market Price may be exercised after the first or second
anniversary respectively, of the date of grant and expiring on
the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

The duration of the 2018 EEIC Scheme is ten years from
the date of adoption of the 2018 EEIC Scheme. The total
number of shares in EEIC that may be issued shall not exceed
18,691,996 shares (which represents 10% of the total number
of shares in issue of EEIC as at the date of this report.).
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”) (continued)

No qualifying participant who is a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their
respective associates shall be granted any options, which, if
exercised in full, would result in the shares issued and issuable
to such person under the 2018 EEIC Scheme in the 12-month
period up to and including the proposed grant date for such
options, unless such grant of options is approved in advance
by the Shareholders in general meeting: (a) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the number of shares then in issue;
and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the SGX-ST’s daily quotations
sheets on each relevant date on which the grant of such
options is made to such person under the relevant scheme, in
excess of HK$5 million.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of EEIC, or any of their
respective associates shall be granted any options, which, if
exercised in full, would result in the shares issued and issuable
to such person under the 2018 EEIC Scheme in the 12-month
period up to and including the proposed grant date for such
options, unless such grant of options is approved in advance
by the shareholders of EEIC and of the Company in general
meeting: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
number of shares then in issue; and (b) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares as stated in
the SGX-ST’s daily quotations sheets on each relevant date
on which the grant of such options is made to such person
under the relevant scheme, in excess of HK$5 million.

Share options may be accepted within 30 days after the
relevant date of grant accompanied by, inter alia, payment of
S$$1.00 (or its equivalent) as consideration by the participants.

Since its adoption, no option was granted by EEIC pursuant
to the 2018 EEIC Scheme.
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

The share option scheme of KLHL (2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of
KLHL on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took
effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose
of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards
to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests, of the KLHL Group (as defined below).

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years.
The directors of KLHL may, at its discretion, grant options
to subscribe for shares in KLHL to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of KLHL
and include () any employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to KLHL, any of its subsidiaries
or any entity (“KLHL’s Invested Entity”) in which KLHL and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”) hold
an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of KLHL, any of its
subsidiaries or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the KLHL
Group or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support to the KLHL Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity;
and (vi) any shareholder of any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL'’s Invested Entity.
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(©

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

The subscription price of KLHL’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of KLHL
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the shares of KLHL as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of KLHL.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon
the payment of a consideration of HK$1. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
The directors of KLHL may, at their absolute discretion, fix
any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL
Scheme and any other share option scheme of KLHL
(excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares of KLHL in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the Shareholders
and the Shareholders of KLHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares in
KLHL, representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of
KLHL as at the date of this report).

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued

share capital of KLHL from time to time.
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

The total number of shares of KLHL issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of KLHL and the
Company in general meetings.

A summary of movements of the number of share options
under the KLHL Scheme for the year is as follows:

Balance at

1 January
2018 and

31 December
2018
RIE-N\E
-A-Bk
—Z-N\f
+=B=1+-H
ik

Grant
during

Date of grant the year

RERRIL

Granted to the directors of KLHL on (Note ii):
RTZEEEREE W) -

3 April 2019 -
—T-NEMA=R

26,200,000

Granted to employees on (Note ii:

RTES (W)

3 April 2019 -
ZE-NEMA=A

12,800,000

BEEEAERAA

35. BEBERE®

Balance at
31 December
2019

A=E-nE
t=A=-E
i

26,200,000

12,800,000

- 39,000,000

39,000,000

Exercisable at
RATREA T4
1 January 2018 -
—Z-)\¥-A-H

31 December 2018 -
- \E+ZR=1-H
31 December 2019

39,000,000

_7 A=

Notes:

(i) All share options were vested on the date of grant, 3 April 2019.

(ii) Including the interests of 550,000 share options of Mr. Leung Tai
Chiu, a director of KHL and of KLHL.

(iii) Including the interests of 11,300,000 share options of spouse of
Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin
Sang is an employee of KLHL.

(c)

per share

EEEERESELEBEBR
ETEI()
PAER+ =8 A B A m & 28
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FRARITEELERE) EITE
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RERFEBEITRALZ1%  BRIE
EEEERERMANT] ZHER
AR A AR R

FRN - @ERERAEET 2B
FTERES B EHHRMT

Exercise

price
Exercisable period

HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to 2 April 2029
8308T —T-NEMA=BZ
_z_ﬂiﬂﬂ =
HK$8.39 3 Apri 2019 to 2 April 2029
839%T Z—T-NEMA=RZ
“E-NENAZA
B -
[0) FEELEBREDRREA
B-ZE-NFMNA=HEE -
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BRI R M o
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35. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, options were
granted on 3 April 2019. The estimated fair values of the
options granted on those dates are HK$96,609,000.

These fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(c)

35. BEBERE®

EEEEREEELAER
RESTEI(8)

BE_T-NAFt+-A=1t—H
LEE R-F-AFOA=R
R Brmieg - RnEERHER
HEEEBRE 2 A HER
96,609,000 7T, ©

NFERAAEAFEGE -

Share price at grant date o A HARRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility T8 H R
Expected life TEERE EHR
Risk free rate R\ )
Expected dividend yield SELI R
Early exercise multiple TRATTTIFE &R

ZEX M ABIROT
2019

—B-NEF
Directors Employees
BE =]
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.397&8 T 8.397&8 T
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.3978 T 8.39/8 T
42.40% 42.40%
10 years 10 years
105 104
1.67% 1.67%
6.26% 6.26%
2.8x 2.2x
2.8 2.21%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 10
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$96,609,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
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36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEEEAERAA

36. FFiEIRMER

Share-based

Share of [EVEN
net assets reserve of a
of subsidiaries subsidiary
—EHEAT
EEHEAR ZB%E
EERE BRERE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL
At1 January 2018 wZZ—)\&—HF—H 7,684,201 - 7,684,201
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries  UtEE B 2 FIEIMERS (464,764) - (464,764)
Share of net changes arising from debt ERATES AL 2 ENE
instruments at FVTOCI (Note) BERIAEENESFAEPIF) (96,556) - (96,556)
Share of exchange differences arising from FEEETEIMEEMEEL
translation of foreign operations EHERE 431 - 431
Share of exchange differences arising from EERTELSREEMELE Y
translation to presentation currency ERESE (246,596) - (246,596)
Share of profit for the year e AEERF 994,440 - 994,440
Disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary HE—FRBARNBHER 48,066 - 48,066
Capital contribution from non-controling —RMB AR 2 FEERAR
shareholders of a subsidiary HER 66,418 - 66,418
Dividends paid to non-controlling YHTFHBARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FIRRAR R 2 RS (685,354) - (685,354)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+=-A=1+—-H 7,300,286 - 7,300,286
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries U f&H B A AIZEIMESS (424,874) - (424,874)
Share of net changes arising from debt EERATE AL 2 AR
instruments and equity instruments at BRIARESTAEEN
FVTOCI (Note) FEFENE) 131,134 - 131,134
Share of exchange differences arising from FEERTEMNEEMES Y
translation of foreign operations ERESE (2,591) - (2,591)
Share of exchange differences arising from EERATE2REEmESL Y
translation to presentation currency iR (42,136) - (42,136)
Share of profit for the year L AFE R 674,559 - 674,559
Recognition of equity-settled R REE R
share-based payments FARR - 96,609 96,609
Disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary HE—FRBARNBHER 372,765 - 372,765
Capital contribution from non-controlling —FEHB L A 2 FE AR
shareholders of a subsidiary HEE 128,000 - 128,000
Dividends paid to non-controlling IHFHBLRZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FERBR RS (452,667) - (452,667)
At 31 December 2019 R=F-NF+-A=1+—-H 7,684,476 96,609 7,781,085
Note:  Share of net changes arising from debt instruments and equity instruments Mzt :  EEERATFEF AEM2ERESER

at FVTOCI consist of gain on fair value changes on debt instruments
amounting to HK$161,849,000 (2018: loss on fair value changes on
debt instruments amounting to HK$96,095,000), cumulative gain
reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of debt instruments amounting
to HK$30,347,000 (2018: HK$461,000) and fair value loss on equity
instruments amounting to HK$368,000 (2018: Nil).

TAREFTAEENEFEEE
BT AEAFEZEHE161,849,000%8
T(ZE-N\F : EEIAXRTEEY
/E51896,095,000/%T) * HEBEBF LA
RFEH D EE B 25T IE30,347,000
B (ZZ—/\F : 461,000/ L) A K&
fEs T HEAF{EE18368,000/8 (=
T-N\F: &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME
37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. WEBRIE A F]
(@) On 8 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% equity @ R=Z=E—NF—ANB £%

interests in certain subsidiaries (the “Target companies”) from
Hallgain Investments Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of a
substantial shareholder of the Group, for a consideration of
HK$909,750,000. The Target companies are property holding
companies and owns certain investment properties in Hong
Kong.

The acquisition was determined by the Directors to be
acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisition of
subsidiaries rather than a business combination as the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed did not constitute a business
as defined under HKFRS 3 (revised) “Business Combinations”.

Consideration transferred

ERE—2TERE2EHH
HIF1E A FlHallgain Investments
Limited & FHBRR ([ B
ZERAR])E100% R - RER
909,750,000/ 7T » BIZ AR A
MEZERAT  EEBEBEET
WEME -

EFETE RN E B RR RN B
AR(WIBRBEBA G BEE
ERBE AARSREBEE
KEGENR BT EBKRE BN
FRIRERIF IR (KERT) X5
O R ERES -

SEERE

HK$'000
TET

Cash RE 909,750
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised I B B B EE &
at the date of acquisition: EEREE -
Investment properties B 915,035
Trade and other receivables B 5 hEMERARR 305
Taxation recoverable AU 1 TE 771
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 4,823
Trade and other payables 5 R EMPERERK (6,087)
Taxation payable FEHIA )
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBE & (6,093)
909,750
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary: U BERT B A IR 2R FEE
Cash consideration paid ENESNE 909,750
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired o TR MRS HEER (4,823)
904,927
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)

On 14 August 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of an entity (the “Entity 1”) for a consideration
of HK$600,000,000 from Hallgain Investments Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the
Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The amount of goodwill arising as a
result of the acquisition was HK$203,452,000. The Entity 1
and its subsidiaries are engaged in the sale and manufacture
of PCBs. The entity was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group’s PCB operations.

Consideration transferred

Cash Be

BEEEAERAA

37. WWEMB AR @

(b)

RZE—NFENA+TIAE K
&% & LA R {8 600,000,000 7 7T
ME-—ZFXZERFR2EHEN
B A FHallgain Investments
LimitediE—EEE([EFE1])
#1100% B2 BEATRRAS « JLUEEE
FERRIEEAR - WETEER
P2 5208,452,000/8 7T ° B
1RENB AR EHE RS
ENRIARESIR o BPIUid =S -
VAR B R R AR SR B 2 ENRI AR BE AR

S eI

HK$'000
T

600,000

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$727,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and
have been recognised as an expense in the current year
and included in the “administrative costs” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

R AR R O A AK 727,000/ 7T
WESADHRENRE - AEHA
FRERRFAN - MEtARAE
SRITTHRRA I8 °

RUEE B I B E SR HERR
BEWT

HK$'000
THAT

Property, plant and equipment Yz - BE REiE 319,042
Right-of-use assets EREEE 95,936
Intangible asset BEEE 37,800
Inventories FE 65,010
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H M eI ER 5K 412,732
Bank balances and cash RITHESREER S 59,387
Trade and other payables H 5 R EMERRR (651,787)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,024)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (32,500
Deferred tax liabilities BRI A E (6,048)

396,548

—E-NFER
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

(continued)

The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date
of acquisition amounted to HK$412,732,000. The gross
contractual amounts of those trade and other receivables
acquired amounted to HK$412,732,000 at the date of
acquisition. All contractual receivables at acquisition date are
expected to be recoverable.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. WWEMB AR @

(b)

()

REEEY  EZREAMmER
BRI A F1E A412,732,00078
T RIEA BB ZEE
SREM IR A HEE A
412,732,000 7T ° FT A R UEE
H 8R40 FE AR AR SRTE 2R mT Uk
@ °

WBEENEE

HK$’000
TAT

Consideration transferred BEEAE 600,000
Less: Fair value of identified net assets acquired B BEWEEREEFENATE (396,548)
203,452

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of a subsidiary because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of a subsidiary. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

mRAHRABEESREE
FE Ui — R E A R E LR
B o bih  MEHFINNRER
IR B 1R TR A 15 R BB AR R Y
B - EXBER - REMSH#H
BE—TMBARNZEET -
I S M 2 3 A P B DA S MBS B
R AETEABIETEE
HVRERRARZE o

BEARIEMEL R EES
AMEHIRL R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)

(continued)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary

BEEEAERAA

37. WWEMB AR @

(&)
WE-EHHNEATINREERE
HH

HK$’000
TAT

Cash consideration paid BENRENRE 600,000
A BEWIERIR S R

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired ReEBEEB &% (59,387)

540,613

Included in the profit for the year is HK$17,546,820
attributable to the additional business generated by the Entity
1. Revenue for the year includes HK$387,865,230 generated
from the Entity 1.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2019, total
group revenue for the year would have been HK$41,640
million, and profit for the year would have been HK$3,799
million. The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes
only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2019, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

AEERFBEEEIEINEE
TS PEIR % T17,546,820/8 7T ©
AEEEEEREEBIELED
387,865,230/8 7T °

BN —E-F—HA—RA2
TR FASEREERER
ME—tARERTEET  FX
BB A=TEHEATHAEE
ABIT c HEEFHEMEG - Wik
BIAEEERBFERER-F
—NE—A—BERNEER ME
BEBMERBEREERE - T
THRIERARKEENEE -

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(©

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

On 8 March 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of an entity (the “Entity 2”) for consideration of
HK$600,000,000. This acquisition had been accounted for
using the acquisition method. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisition was HK$178,927,000. The Entity
2 was engaged in the investment holding and its subsidiaries
were engaged in the sale and manufacture of PCBs. The
Entity was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the
Group’s PCB operations.

Consideration transferred

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. WWEMB AR @

()

RZE—/N\F=ZAN\H ' &%
| LA X {2600,000,00078 7T U iE
—fEE([ZF8E2])W100%E,
BATIRA - P BB B U iE
EAR c WBAELENREA
178,927,000/ 7T - BRE2H F
BEZRREHBARNEHE
R BUEENRIARIER - BPIUKAERZ
T EBEREASE R
IREEIR EIE -

SEERE

HK$’000
TAT

Cash He

600,000

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$236,763 had been
excluded from the consideration transferred and had been
recognised as an expense in the current year and included
in the “administrative costs” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

LUK % AE B Y A A8 236,763 7T
W ADERERE  WERAE
FEMRARAST - Rt AREE
gl fTERAKAN | —I8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. WEMEB QT =

(continued)
()  (continued) (c) (5&)
Consideration transferred (continued) BEEREE)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of FUEE B HAU I M & = SR Y
acquisition were as follows: BEWT
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B kB 393,000
Intangible asset mEEE 27,000
Inventories w8 66,707
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HAth FE U R 5k 247,921
Pledged bank deposits EEPIRITIFRK 30,579
Bank balances and cash RITHBEES 80,352
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMFERIRR (255,432)
Bank borrowings HwITEE (168,472)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBRE (10,582)
421,073
The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date RUWEBE €5 hEMER
of acquisition amounted to HK$247,921,000. The gross BR R A P B /247,921,000
contractual amounts of those trade and other receivables T RWBRHBKENZEE
acquired amounted to HK$247,921,000 at the date of SREMBWIRR , AHBREA
acquisition. All contractual receivables at acquisition date were 247,921,000 7T ° FT B R ULEE
expected to be recoverable. B HAR) & 49 e U R SR T8 B 5 AT Uk
@ °
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEBEENEE .
HK$’000
FH&T
Consideration transferred BEENE 600,000
Less: Fair value of identified net assets acquired B BWEEREEFENATE (421,073)
178,927

‘ —T-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

(continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition: (continued)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of a subsidiary because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of a subsidiary. These benefits were
not recognised separately from goodwill because they did not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition was expected
to be deductible for tax purpose.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. WWEMB AR @

(c)

(#)
WEBELHEHE  (B)
BRAHRABEESREE
BRIt B — R B B A RIS EE AR 7
B o gbih  BEHXINNRER
mt”a%ifiﬁi?ﬁi%ﬁﬁ%ﬂxﬂﬁﬁféé’]
EEBER *Xm%%"
E’&& BB ARINEZEET

HEE AR Iﬂﬂﬁ/\ﬁﬁiu%%iﬁ@
R EAETHA TRAEREE
HRESRAZEE o

BEARIEMEL N EES
AMERIRL R -

WE-EHEARNRESRE
FH

HK$'000
FHET

Cash consideration paid BEEENE 600,000
A BB IR® &

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired HeSEEE &% (110,931)

489,069

Included in the profit for the year was HK$15,957,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Entity 2.
Revenue for the year included HK$470,660,000 generated
from Entity 2.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2018, total
group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 would
have been HK$46,142 million, and profit for the year then
ended would have been HK$7,023 million. The pro forma
information was for illustrative purposes only and was not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2018, nor was it
intended to be a projection of future results.

AEE R IEEE2REINELE
T IE(G 15,957,000/ 7T °
AEELEENIEEE2ELN
470,660,000/ 7T °

BB —_F—-N\FE—A—H
ExElK BE-ZT-N\F+=
A=Z+—HLEFEEERLEE
BEEAONBAT—RET=A
BET FRAENHR
tHE-ZT=A8%rT -HEZE&
FHEHFE - WIFRRASERE
WEEEER - \F—A—
AR R MEEERME R
BREERE - T EHERARE
EENEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 10 January 2018, the Group disposed of its interest in a
subsidiary, Win Real Group Limited, to an independent third party
for a cash consideration of HK$3,786,001,000 with a gain of
HK$2,089,808,000. The subsidiary had an indirect equity interest of
49% in an associate established in the PRC.

Consideration received:

38.

BEEEAERAA

HE—BERE QT

—T-)\F—A+8 KEHEUBRE&R
{83,786,001,0007% 7T 1 & — M B A
AIWin Real Group Limited 2 J&#E ¥ 7852
$ =7 » YzkA2,089,808,0007% T °
ZM B A RIEERE — MR R BRI H
B4 N B149% H AR AE ©

BRARME :

HK$’000
TET

Total cash consideration received

EHER S K ERE

3,786,001

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was
lost:

EAEEFENEERREN
A

HK$’000

FHTT

Interest in an associate and total assets disposed of DHERN ML AT RN EEHEE 1,696,193

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HeE—fEB AR 2 URE

Cash consideration received BURERE 3,786,001

Assets disposed of BEHEEE (1,696,193
Gain on disposal SRS 2,089,808

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZRSRAFE

2018

—FN\F

HK$’'000

FET

Cash consideration HaRE 3,786,001
Less: Deposit received in 2017 B RZE—EFRRARS (2,630,126)
Net cash inflow in 2018 —E—)\FERERANFHE 1,165,875
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

mRENBHRME

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. EXEERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will AEBEEEEAUBRBIBECERS
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to HERAEFAEREAEAFTRESME
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. W FEEETEEREMNEERLS - K
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. EE BRI EBREFEMRR -
The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net REB 7 ENEERIERITEE - RE
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of KRS EEEFELNNREE AME
the Company, comprising issued share capital, other reserves and (HiEDZ(BIEDBITRA - EMEE&
retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes (REBHA]) ARSI RNWE -
in equity.
The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. EEZEVTEREAELES - EREH—
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and o BEEBEEEAKRA - REZE
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the BIBEARHEEER - EERAENERE
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through BB IRE - BITHAR - BRIRGD -
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as BOFESNEELRAEE - LAFERX
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. BE B R 4EHE -

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. €@ T A

(@) Categories of financial instruments

(@ =®MTAEEH

2019 2018
—E-hE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FATT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB ATTEN S MEE 17,902,970 19,274,868
Equity instruments at FVTPL RN EFT A BRI A 2,857,421 1,291,534
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAFER AR M EE TS
FtEm TH 162,918 164,124
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFER AR MEE K
HEETA 7,882,544 8,954,832
28,805,853 29,685,358
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B EHACAR
— trade and other payables —B 5 RHEMEMRR 3,966,409 4,022,940
— bills payables S 359,920 512,566
- bank borrowings —iRITIEE 24,409,909 27,513,681
Lease liabilities HEBE 13,214 -
28,749,452 32,049,187

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 7.3% (2018: 8.8%) of the
Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities making the
sale, whilst almost 4.6% (2018: 9.9%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

(b)

BEEEAERAA

40. €@ T H )

B¥EEEEREREE

REE 2z &5 T AF BRI
HPEE - ZFERMTAMRREZ
RpeEmERR (8RR
MEERREBEBRRR) 5
ERBEREE SRR o TX#H
51| SR 0 fe] FEAE % 5 RS AR B 2 B
K- EREERNEEZSAE
@+ ARERR N B A8 Rt AR EGE
B2 -

iR

EXE

AR THIEB A B ASNEE 1T
SHE IR - SREBERAEINE
[E o REBMAT7.3%( - — )\
F : 8.8%) M SHEWIELAETTIH
ENEEFE 2 ERESIE
Mm#4.6%(ZZE—N\F : 9.9%)
R IEL B EE T
BEEHTI(E -

REBUAINEFENEEEER
BERIRE HERE ZREER
MERAM R EE - ERERERE
SMNERRR - WHNETEREE
o INERR ©

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

40. €@ T H )

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HMEERREEBEEREE
policies (continued) (#&)
Market risk (continued) TG EE (&)
Currency risk (continued) B (&)
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign AEBEZZmMHET - BUT - B
currencies of US$, Euro, HK$ and GBP. The following table TRESEHINERERER - TR
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase AR EHEEEEEIEE
and decrease in functional currency of respective group B HABRAINE K5 % (ZF — N\
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the F 5% )MBRE - TEIERE
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective E¥RETHEEEERIUET
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since FHEM SRR - ARBTH
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that such ELEE  KRRREERRE
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5% BRI AE R - 5%(—FT—N
(2018: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the F: 5%) HEEE L HMNEREZFA]
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The geIR 2 BB TS o B
sensitivity analysis includes only the outstanding monetary BRI B ARZIHIASNES
items denominated in foreign currency and adjusts their ENEBIER - YMEHABER
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2018: A ZSMNEERE%(—F—\4F
5%) changes in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis 5% ) BEMERRTE - RAED
includes trade and other receivables, bills receivables, bank MBEESREMERER - &
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bills payables as WEE - RiTEHRKEIRE - B
well as bank borrowings. A positive number below indicates R HE M FERBRR - RN SRR LR
an increase in post-tax profit for the year where functional TEE - FEUER SR EENY
currency of each group entity strengthens 5% (2018: 5%) R ABRAINEHES N (=F
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% (2018: 5%) — )\ : 5% )BF - AREFERRHR
weakening of functional currency of each group entity against BHMEPTIEI - EREBEEREN
the relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and Ee B A A IMNERZES% (=
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year. T—N\F : 5%)8 - AJpeEI AT
ERB RN ERFHROE
@,
2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR FHET
US$ 7T (21,543) (22,274)
HKS BT 898,310 1,021,817
Euro BT, (336) (2,791)
GBP HgE (2,729) (13,880)
In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is EERE  ARNERER T
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year FREE  WEREIIT AR
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year. RAERINER R o
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate deposits (see Note 30(c) for detail of these
deposit), fixed-rate loan receivable (see Note 26 for details
of the loan receivable), listed bond securities with fixed
coupon interest (see Note 25 for details of these listed bond
securities) and fixed-rate lease liabilities (see Note 33 for detail
of these lease liabilities). The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and
outlook.

The Group’s bank balances, entrusted loans and variable-rate
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, LIBOR and LPR
(2018: HIBOR) arising from the Group’s bank borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for entrusted loans, bank
borrowings and debt instruments at FVTOCI at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2018: 50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points
(2018: 10 basis points) decrease are used and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant

BEEEAERAA

40. €@ T H )

(b)

BEEBREEEEREEK
()

mISER(E)

Fl%E %

AEEAERET BXRTHER
(ZEFHFBRWES30(C))
BT S XEKER(EWRERF
1B RKIFE26) « M E E B A
ITEHFEF(ZELTESRE
HEBERME2s) REE B X
HEaE(HEaEFBRMFE
) FFELZ AFEFERRR
AEERBTGEFNEKERAS
FITEE A TR I R B AT EE R A
BIEFEERENERR

BRRITHSNEKE - NEE
ZIRITHERR - RREESR T EME
EERRSREMNEER -

AEBAZEBEEF TR
ZFE - RAMERDE SRR
IR - AREHRSIREN
TR EERRAEENRITEE
XEEBRITRAERE - MBR
TRZER B R EHMISREN X
(ZZ2—N\F : HEBRITEER
BREBNTEER -

BREE DT

AT S E D ITARIE RS B 45
REAZAER  BITEERIE
AFEFARMEERENES
TEMFIERBET - FRZE
DR - BRENREHRERE
BREHZEHMITANEFE
MAREE - 502 F(ZF—N
F : 50{ERLT ) 1E ANk 50E S F
(ZZ—\F - 10EZF)mD
BITRANGURE - TREREY
FEEBETEBNTE - BRE
EAMIEBIERITES  RE
AEERE  RRIRITEREL
RS TEFERBTK °

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(o) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the

Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would decrease by approximately HK$99,752,000
(2018: decrease by approximately HK$112,444,000)
as a result of the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings;
and

o the investment valuation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2019 would decrease by approximately
HK$84,173,000 (2018: decrease by approximately
HK$132,763,000) as a result of the change in the fair
value of debt instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon
interest.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2018: 10 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the

Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would increase by approximately HK$99,752,000
(2018: increase by approximately HK$22,488,000) as
a result of the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings; and

o the investment valuation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2019 would increase by approximately
HK$84,173,000 (2018: increase by approximately
HK$26,995,000) as a result of the change in the fair
value of debt instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon
interest.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk through
its investments in equity instruments measured at FVTPL
and FVOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity
instruments measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock
Exchange, the management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition, the Group also invested in certain unquoted equity
securities for investees for long term strategic purposes. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would increase/
decrease by HK$238,627,000 (2018: increase/decrease by
HK$107,843,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTPL.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been
10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation
reserve for the year ended 31 December 2019 would
increase/decrease by HK$16,291,000 (2018: increase/
decrease by HK$16,412,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of investments at FVTOCI.

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2018: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would increase/
decrease by HK$788,254,000 (2018: increase/decrease by
HK$895,483,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTOCI.

BEEEAERAA

40. €@ T H )

(b)

MERABEEBERRE
(%)

mEmR ()

Br& R
REBRKENRAFHEF AR
@ MRAHE AR 2 E S
BiEm T AR A THER AR
2 EK I ER T AmMAERAR
NEBERRR o SLRB TR
B A HEFABRTERE
RIAME @ BREERFETH
gz R EAE BRI R
AN - REB TR ER R EHR
ME TIERERAFEAEREREK
A% - AREREEERKE
ZERERR EREEEEEY
PR

GREDM
GREDM IR RE B HIATA
PEE BN AR F(E S R T
E

o

WS ER T A 2 B, e
10%(ZZF—N\F : 10%) * IPE
ZE-AFE+-A=+—HIE
FEMZBRREEF LI,
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& R4 107,843,0005
7T) 0 TR A EE AR
B NFEEEET o
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have
delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. The Group monitors any changes
in the credit quality of the trade receivables since the credit
was grant and up to the end of the reporting period. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBERENE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. ﬁl’?ﬂlﬂ(ﬁ
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEEREEBEERKE
policies (continued) (88)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERMEREE(E)
Collective assessments Brgara
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group REBHEFPERAANRBEET
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following & VEAREEEERBEIEN
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk —& Ti‘%};ﬂ,jﬂ%ﬁ_?—h
for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision FR_E—NF+_A=1+—
matrix as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 within lifetime ECL A @Fﬁiﬁsﬁﬁiﬁﬂfn, T h
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross ﬁéﬁ %E fE1S H Y E 5 EWER R
carrying amounts of HK$542,129,000 as at 31 December sERBER(EBEZERE) °
2019 (2018: HK$568,517,000) were assessed individually. j1¢¢+ )5] +—H
Credit-impairment debtors are fully provided ECL. f* % BEREWERERAEEE
542,1 29,000,?§7z(fE NE
568,517,000/% 7T ) 2 &l 5 # 17
FHil o (EE R ERE R TE A
EEEEERERE -
For the year ended 31 December 2019: HE2-_Z—-hhF+=-_A=+—H
Jtifh
Gross
trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
B SR FAHA B3
RS E TR BRNAE BEXEE EEFE FEW R R
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FHET FHET
Low risk LIw ety 3,770,150 1% - 3% 84,641 3,685,509
Watch list BEIRZE 3,338,396 5% - 15% 428,444 2,909,952
Doubtful RER 253,669 30% - 43% 84,680 168,989
7,362,215 597,765 6,764,450
For the year ended 31 December 2018: BHE-Z—-N\E+-_A=1+—8H
IFFE -
Gross
trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
Z W THER =
NEBE ERTAR R EBEXEE =EER FEWI AR X
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT FH&T
Low risk KA 4,593,775 1% - 3% 105,746 4,488,029
Watch list BLERPE 2,072,452 5% —15% 310,760 1,761,692
Doubtful RER 114,435  30% - 43% 48,471 65,964
6,780,662 464,977 6,315,685

' —T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(o) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EMITHex

(b)

MERABEEBERRE
(%)

E Bk R R E R ()
BREAHL ()
AEBRFEERBFRFEE
AT -

Trade receivables Other financial assets

B 5 YRR

HeREE

Internal credit rating Description
AEMEE TR i

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk
of default

[ ez | RS FELERIE

Watch list Doubtful debtor frequently repays
after due dates but usually settle
in full

ERAE] BEENFRNEFALTERER

BRIEEFR - EBEA2BUFE

Doubtful There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external resources

[ RER] BN EL A R INE ETREE ) B R
BREERR B VIRHERIAREE
labay

Loss There is evidence indicating
the asset is credit-impaired

[ &8 ] BREBBETNEENREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating

that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

[ 4 85 | BEBBRRNEBARABRENR
BAREEEERKEREIE

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘

Lifetime ECL

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

T HEBEEEE 128 AFEHEREE

—BEERE

Lifetime ECL

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

> HEBEEEE 128 AFEHEREE

—\EEERE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

— not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
FHITE A B &8 THTEMEEEE

—EEERE —BEERE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

— credit-impaired — credit-impaired
FHITE A EEIE FHTEMEEER

—EERIE —=ERE

Amount is written off Amount is written off

SRR

R
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified
approach.

As at 31 December 2017
under HKAS 39 and as at
1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9

RZE—+F
+-B=+—EB##E
BAGFEAIFEI99% &
I

(b)

Lifetime
ECL

(not credit-
impaired)

2HRH
FEBR
(BEEERE)
HK$’000
FER

BEEEAERAA

40. TRET By

MBRABEEBEREE
(&)

FERRKBERE(E)
BRrT I (F)
AEtER R AN E YRR IER
FHNELBREABEOERM
it URERNHBZRARS
JIENA 15 B0 AT IR ME & BHE 3
B -BEEERERNEIE N
HERBITNS E RUAR RV IERE &
KRR -

TREIREOEERSES
FEUBR M 2 BMERERZ

B -

Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HEH
FEBR
(HBRFEE
AAE) st
HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET

RIRE A B 75 FR SR B
el - 934,179 934,179
Net measurement loss recognised RUBED)REESETE
(reversed) 480,005 (343,002 137,003
Exchange adjustments [E 5, A% (15,028) (22,660) (37,688)
As at 31 December 2018 and RZZ—\F+=A=+—H
as at 1 January 2019 M=FE-NEF—A—H 464,977 568,517 1,033,494
Changes relating to trade RZZE—NF—A—HHEE
receivables recognised as at ERESREWEREH
1 January 2019 &
— Net impairment loss reversed —BEREFEFE (216,749) (116,569) (333,318)
— Write-offs — s - (51,028) (51,028)
New financial assets originated during  FRREE 2 RIE E
the year 363,198 153,330 516,528
Exchange adjustments 0 5 R (13,661) (12,121) (25,782)
As at 31 December 2019 R_ZB—-NF+-A=+— 597,765 542,129 1,139,894
—E-NFER
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of
trade receivables increased to HK$7,904,344,000 (2018:
HK$7,349,179,000) and allowance for credit losses increased
to HK$1,139,894,000 (2018: HK$1,033,494,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the net impairment
loss recognised from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) was
HK$146,449,000 (2018: HK$480,005,000) and the net
impairment loss recognised from lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
was HK$36,761,000 (2018: net impairment loss reversal of
HK$343,002,000) from lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), which
arose due to a general deterioration in the quality of the
Group’s trade receivables as compared to prior year. This
amount was partially offset by write-offs of HK$51,028,000
(2018: Nil) from lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), due to evidence
indicating that these trade receivables are in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors has
considered the bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL, and
concluded that for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding bills
receivables is insignificant.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

40. €@ T H )

(b)

BERREEEERRE
(%)

FEERBREETE(E)

B (E)
RZZE—-—hF+=ZA=+—
H ZE2EKERACERE
# Z 7,004,344,000 7 7T ( =
T — J\ 4 : 7,349,179,000 &
) EEEERERENE
1,139,894,000/8 7t (=& — N\
4 : 1,083,494,00087T) - HE
—EBE-hEt+_A=t—HItE
B ReHEHREESE(EE
BERE) RO RERIEFEA
146,449,000 L( —F— \4F :
480,005,000/ 70 ) + itz A
A EERE(HREERE)E
RHRE E 18 $ 58 £36,761,000
B (ZZT—N\F : BEEETF
E 43 [3] 343,002,000 7T )
AEEE SEKERLBEER
M—FEEMBLMEL - e
EHRo W A EEEE(R
REERE)iEE51,028,000
BI(ZZ— N\ : E)FTIRE -
RAAEBRBEETNZEESREK
Rz BAALRBABRENR -
AEFEEERHSUEIFE -

RETEREZENEREEER
B ERCERAKECRER
R—FRNEH - B+ —EAHE
HEEEBIET G - THRAS
BEEz—_T-NFR_FT-\F
TZA=t—HLFERIHE
WEENREEERRMT R
i o

A1t AR

IR EETE At B U BR SRV TR B (E
EEER  EXCREBELE
Baesk  BELR - URATHE
HER(ER) - E R EAE
YR SR AT A2 (R A8 I M
RFHE - BEZT—NEFR=F
—N\ETZA=1+—HILFE
AEEEEBENFAAENEM
JE WURRIB IR S 38 M R FHEMERFE
K WRAREEARDHE A
FEM R TR E B BRI T =
& o



229

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Entrusted Loans

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of entrusted loans
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment assessment are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The entrusted loans are pledged by the properties held by
the borrowers. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Loan receivable

The Directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivable based on financial background of the debtor. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors consider
that the ECL of the Group’s loan receivable is insignificant
as the debtor is listed company in Hong Kong engaged in
property development business.

Bank balances

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances exposed is
considered minimal as such amounts are placed with various
banks with good credit ratings and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk.
The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise
listed bonds in Hong Kong, Singapore and Swiss (2018:
Hong Kong, Singapore, Swiss and Germany) that are graded
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions
and are considered by management to be low credit risk
investments. Most listed bonds are engaged in the property
development business in Hong Kong and PRC (2018: Hong
Kong and PRC). During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the expected credit losses on debt instruments at FVTOCI is
insignificant (2018: Nil).

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables and entrusted loans with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
However, the Group is exposed to the concentration
on geographic segment in PRC. At 31 December 2019,
approximately 95% (2018: 95%) and 100% (2018: 100%) of
the Group’s trade and other receivables and entrusted loans
respectively are arising from the PRC.

At 31 December 2019, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its loan receivable as 100% (2018: Nil) of the
loan receivable is concentrated in one (2018: Nil) debtor. The
Group’s loan receivable is exposed to credit risk due to the
default of repayment by the debtor. However, the Directors
considered that the credit risk on this loan receivable is limited
as the debtor is a listed company in Hong Kong with good
creditability.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI (continued)

At 31 December 2019, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 75% (2018:
44%) of the total debt are concentrated in nine (2018: three)
listed bond securities issued by two (2018: two) listed issuer in
Hong Kong. The Group’s listed bond securities are exposed
to credit risk due to the default of repayment by the bond
issuers. However, the Directors considered that the credit risk
on these investments is limited as the listed bonds securities
were issued by issuers in Hong Kong with good creditability.

Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2019, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group arising
from the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees provided by the Group is disclosed in note 42(a).

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
approximately HK$708,163,000 (2018: HK$527,397,000)
as at 31 December 2019. At the end of the reporting period,
the Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. The management of the Group
considers the probability of default is low and accordingly,
loss allowance was considered as insignificant. Details of the
financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note 42(a).
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Directors monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants
during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2019, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowings facilities of approximately
HK$7,184,128,000 (2018: HK$4,410,844,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ<%>
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEEBREEEEREE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRER(E)
Liquidiity and interest risk tables T & RFIFE

Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1 year 2years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying

interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years 5Syears  cash flows amount
nEYY  RERE ZEANE -ENE RENML E 3k

EhAz  Z@EAR BTEE-F ATEERE ETERRE  DENL RMEREAE Rk

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR Thn Thn TAR TR Thn

At 31 December 2019 R-B-7ET-R=1-R
Non-derivative financial liabilites 3£+ 4RE(RE
Trade and other payables B ARAERER - 3966409 = = = - 3966409 3966409
Bills payables ERZE - 359,920 - - - - 359,920 359,920
Bank borrowings i

- Variable rate -38 339 2321085 6,047,086 7,096,939 11,059,740 - 26524850 24,409,909
L ease libilties fgak 41 72 2,269 3,085 7,216 1,905 15,197 13,214

6,048,136 6,049,355 7,100,024 11,066,956 1905 30,866,376 26,749,452

Financial guarantee contracts IhEReY 708,163 - - - - 703163 708,163

‘ “E-NEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ<%>

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEEBREEEEREE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRER(E)
Liquidiity and interest risk tables (continued) REE 2 RFIFR R (&)

Weighted (0 Qver QOver
aerage Ondemand  3months but Tyearbut  2yearshut Total
effective  orlessthan not more not more notmore  undiscounted Camying

interest rate dmonths  thanyear  than2years  thanbyears cash flows

RENLE

HK$000
ThL

At 31 December 2018 R-E-\E+-F=1-A
Non-derivative financial labilities 7= 4REE
Trade and other payables EHREMERNE - 402240 - - 40200 402,00
Bills payables ERER - 512,566 - - 512,566 512,566
Bank borrowings HirkE

- Variable rate -%8 34 2,362,498 6006336 16398223 30406107 27,513,681

6,898,004 6,00633% 16398228 34941618 32,049,187

Financial quaranteg contracs HRERAY - 527,897 - - 527397 527,307

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2019,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$409,854,000 (2018:
HK$436,242,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowings will be fully repaid after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates ranging from one to thirteen (2018: one to fourteen)
years as set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$590,066,000 (2018: HK$628,096,000).
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B 1% B SRE TG Z R 1T 18
BR FMEBIMAANIRE
KR =EARN]ZEE - R=F
—“NF+ZA=1+—8 %%
RITEEZIINMBACHBER
409,854,000 7L( =T — \F :
436,242,000/ 7T ) ° & B E| K
SEZBHEMN - EEAEE B
FTRRATBEITEMIEHE - ZkAR
EEAFER - EEHE - %S
IRITEESN RS HEEREZR
BER B AEERE
NF—EF=ZF(ZZT—N\F:
—E+WF)TE) BEEE -
B - ASBEEABEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬁ

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) EBMIBEAFETE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are BESEHEERNAFENFEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis AEBERMEECZATFE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair REBLDTHEERSHEL
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table KIZAFEA=E - TREIAM
gives information about how the fair values of these financial ErTZETREENTEZTE
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) (LERFTEZ EERM K A
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy IR A RIRAFETEH AR
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels B2 BREERATENED
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair BHoAFTESRENE—Z2=
value measurements is observable. BIZER
Valuation
Fair value techniques Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December higrarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs  Sensitivity
{HERER
SREE RTR=t-RZA¥E AYEER ITRANE EXATTEERAEE SBE
2019
“E-nE
HKS$'000
TR
) Listed equity securities classified as 2,857,421 1,291,681 Quoted bid prices in NA NA
equity instruments at FVTPL active market
(| ABRARATEFABR ERTEMEEAE  FER TR
BATAZ FTRARS
(i) Unlisted equity securities classified as 6,918 814 3 Market approach. Thelack of marketabiity  The higher the lack of
equty instruments at FYTOCI discount and P/Eratio  marketabilty discount,

The market approach was — of selected comparable  the lower the fair value.
used to defermine the ~~ companes.
valuation using price to The higher the P/E rafio,
eamings (‘P/E') ratio of the higher the fair value.
Selected comparable
listed companies in a
similar business and
simitar business mode!
and adjusted for the lack
of marketabilty
) ABAEATETALL Wik FZTERALANL T TERANAE
SElENERTAY EEUALALA B ATRAME-
TR GETSL EREER  WRE. TREHE
SHREHE B AFERER -
TELALHARL
BEEEME - UhR
b pik il iR

%

' —T-NEEH

= 3 Jﬂ
EE:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy
SRR RTR=t-RZAYE AYEER
2019 218
ZE-NF z
HK$1000
TR
fiiy - Unlisted equity securities classffied as 156,000 156,000 2019:3
equity instruments at FYTOCH
i) AEREATETALL
2EYHARRIAL
¥ ETlRAES
2018:3
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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40. €@

(c)

Valuation
techniques
and key inputs
{EERHR
IERANE

2019: Equity allocation
model with reference
forecent financing
fransactions, equity
allocation model was
used to determine
the equity value of the
unlisted equity securities

ZE-NE BREE
HEXANREAEE
B RASTERASE
BEs LARAEAY
RAERE

2018: N/A (Nate 1)
“E-\E:TER
k3l

T B

ERMITAAFEFE®

Bt

il

REEEMHEERAVEFEZ
FEEERMEEZAVEE)

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTURRRARE

2019: Probabilties of the
unlisted entfty ended up
ininttial public offering
(PO, redemption and
liquidation.

“TNEFETER
RATRETEROR
¥E BOREE-

2018: NIA
ZE-N\E: TR

Sensitivity

§8E

2019: The higher the
chance of IPO, the higher
the fair value. The higher
the chance of redemption
and liquidation, the lower
the fair value.

2018: NIA
ZE-N\E: TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ<%>

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) ERMIBEAFETE(HE)

(continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets

EREE

Fair value

Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy

RtZR=t-RZLYE
2019
=k
HKS'000
TR

AFEER

REEEMHEERAVEHEZ
FEEERMEEZAVEE)

Valuation
techniques
and key inputs
{EERHR
IERANE

Significant
unobservable inputs

Sensitivity

EXTUEEGARE  SEE

) Listed bond securtties classfied as 7,882,544 895488 3 Reference to the fair value  Thelack of marketability  The higher the lack of
debt instruments at FVTOC quoted in the over-the- ~ dliscount marketabilty discount,
counter market with the the lower the fair value.
adjustments for the lack
of marketabilty.Note 2)
(M AEREATETAEM2ENEN RGITARE.  BITRRANAN  AZTARANANE
BBIANTRRES VB URtHz TR B ATHERIME -
R TIEE
(Kizt2)
Notes: iz -

The investment was made near 31 December 2018, the Directors
are of the opinion the fair value of the investment at 31 December
2018 approximates to the cost of investment.

For the debt instruments at FVTOCI, the most significant
unobservable input is the marketability discount. As at 31
December 2019, if the marketability discount to the valuation
model was 5% (2018: 5%) higher/lower and the other variables
were held constant, the total carrying amount of these
investments would decrease/increase by HK$394,127,000 and
HK$394,127,000 (31 December 2018: HK$447,742,000 and
HK$447,742,000) respectively.

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

BRERBEAE T N\F+=
R=+—H#T BEERR
FZRENR-_ZE-N\F+_A
=t —HOAFEELRAR
BE -

MOEARAFESAHE
thEHEKkEMNESTAEM
T REANTABRREA
HEAMSRBESD - B
—EF-NAF+TZA=1—
B HEEEXH TSR
BYMEA TS
(ZZT—N\F 1 5%) M
A2 H g TE - A
ZERENETAERD
B 4 # 0 394,127,000
7 7 & 394,127,000 & T
(Z2—NF+=ZA=+—
B : 447,742,000 & T &
447,742,000/ 7T) °

HE-_Z—NEFk-_ZT—-N\F

+=

A=1T—HILFE - HiES

—EE=RZENER -

—T-NEEH



238

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)

(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of

financial assets

At 1 January 2018 (restated)

Unlisted

equity
instruments

FETERTA
HK$’000
FHx

40. TRET By

ERMTAAFEFE®

F-REMEEZAVEFEZ

iR

Listed

bond
securities
thESRS
HK$°000
TET

Total
At
HK$°000
TET

(&Z&E7)) 8,124 4,966,616 4,974,740
Additions INE 156,000 5,429,438 5,585,438
Derecognition on disposals HH S S B B 4% | L RERR
or maturity - (1,006,100) (1,006,100)
Fair value loss in OCI REMEEREZ
NEEE - (5633,782) (533,782)
Interest income from listed KA LEMEFESFIBRA
bond securities - 401,497 401,497
Interest received from listed B EmESESBEHE
bond securities - (8302,837) (302,837)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-N\F+-A=+—H
1 January 2019 r=ZE—nF—H—H 164,124 8,954,832 9,118,956
Additions NE - 1,589,896 1,589,896
Derecognition on disposals S S B AT 4% L RERR
or maturity - (3,600,136) (3,600,136)
Fair value (loss) gain in OCI REMEEWEEZ
NS EIC Rl G (1,206) 786,356 785,150
Interest income from listed A LEMESHSFERA
bond securities - 679,560 679,560
Interest received from listed B LmESFESFBEIAFE
bond securities - (527,964) (527,964)
At 31 December 2019 RZZT—NF
+=-A=+—H 162,918 7,882,544 8,045,462

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with general accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The Directors
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate
to their fair values.

HpemEENERBENRFERR
FRREREDMIRBEAREEBRILE
o BERL  REBHKAIIRNZE
THEENSRAGBNEREEREAY
BRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

41. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

41, EXRRHARAE

2019 2018
—E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FATT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not FEETHERR
provided in the consolidated financial IRE IS IRERIED
statements in respect of: Bz EATH
— acquisition of an investment property — BB = 709,750
- acquisition of properties, plant and —BEYHE  BEX
equipment B 350,709 565,339
350,709 1,275,089
Other expenditure contracted for but not HEFTHERRA
provided in the consolidated financial IREMISIRERIED
statements in respect of; Bz Kb
— acquisition and other expenditures -~ BRGFEEYE
relating to properties held Wi M H 37
for development 1,625,343 1,689,242
1,976,052 2,964,331

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$708,163,000 (2018: HK$527,397,000) as at 31
December 2019 to facilitate mortgage bank loans applications
of purchasers of the properties that were developed by the
Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans
procured by the purchasers of properties that were developed
by the Group. Such guarantees will be released by banks
upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers and
completion of registration of the relevant mortgage properties.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of these financial
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility
of default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
contracts and at the end of the reporting period as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

(@)

42, HAREE

RZZ—hE+=—A=+—8"
TEEARNEETERNEC B
R EBRITERBEBRBEL
708,163,000 (=& — )\ F :
527,397,000/ T ) 1R °

AEERAEEATERDNEE
RIS 2 BRARITIRIEIER -
ZERRERMEZKRTER R
IR BB e R R IRTT
Rl - BERRAE - AEEZEY
BERAEDHAFERSHER
BRI TAEX  MESRABHS
FEAMEERE - Bt - R
T-NFTZA=+—HBEZ=ZZ
—N\E+ZA=+—8  RER
B HIFR 1A K 2 HA R 45 SR R I 4
HEREREE -

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”),
the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF, presented a petition
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Petition”) in respect
of KBCF against its controlling shareholders based on a
complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or were
being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually
successful in defending the case following a favourable
judgment by the Bermuda Court of Appeal dated 24 March
2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner filed an appeal with the
Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn by the Petitioner
following a settlement agreement reached by the Petitioner
and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining
issued and outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF
and KBCF has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of KLHL.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction
2018: No.359 against the respondents in the Petition based
on purported breach of the Settlement Agreement (the
“Settlement Action”). Based on the advice of the Company’s
Bermuda Counsel to date, the board is of the opinion that the
Settlement Action appears to be intrinsically defective and that
the Company should have a more than reasonable chance to
succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made
in connection with this claim.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

42. HAREBE»

(b)

R_yffiﬂﬂja EER
SEIEFEALAY B Annuity & Re Life
LMU%EAD@?*%%E/
BB D RIRIE#EITR AR
TEES A BT FREREA
R - ﬁﬁ@ﬁm BIERR AR R
MERERMREINERZFE

U%%)°

BBEEERBRREER T
—tFE=ZATHAERREL
FERR T EMEUATMAR R Z
Eh o 2FARRAERRR
HERF - KEFALZBOER
NERMBEHHR - 2HARE
B L -

BE_T-AF+-A=+—~
I - BT AR E
BT ERR AT # TEE
ARBTEMBRER - B
$RERR A E R — RIS A
BAF -

S —NF+—A—H" 2
BABRBEREREAE E#HE
2018 : FE3BIFEETEH 2 FHE
HARBRERSERELF
A FRONE AR Wk ([ FIAR R
AL BEBEAARBRELRR
BERZSBILENER &9
RAE - MBFDUATERE 6
TRBG - NARIRG A REREET - B
bt AEERERZ R RHRER
TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
43. OPERATING LEASES 43. KZEHY
2018
—E-N\E
HK$'000
T4
The Group as lessee: AEEEREEA :
Lease payments charged to the consolidated FANELKEBRETNR
statement of profit or loss during the year ZHEEIA
— for premises —E 26,318
— for plant and machinery — BB Rt 2s 1,468
27,786
Under the leases entered into by the Group, operating leases are RSB 2 - BElE - K2
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 year to 33 years. AR FERN F1EZE335F -
At 31 December 2018, the Group’s future lease payments under non- R-_ZBE—NFE+-_A=+—0 ' K&£E
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: BB RS2 L& E2HORBEEIMZ

MEFIRAR THI R

Premises and
machinery

2018
—ZT—N\F
HK$’'000
FHBT

Within one year R—FR 3,548
After one year but not later than five years R—FRERAFA 9,332
After five years NAFE 4,891

17,771

‘ “E-NEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
43. OPERATING LEASES (continueq) 43. BEHN @)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\E
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET T
The Group as lessor/licensor: REBEERHBEA BEA
Rental income credited to the consolidated RERNGTALEEBRERL
statement of profit or loss during the year Be A 1,155,342 1,055,784

Licence fee income credited to the consolidated RE RN ALGEERE Y

statement of profit or loss during the year EEFEABRA 60,000 120,000
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for AEBEREMEDREREE TR
periods up to twenty five years (2018: twenty five years) at fixed HelFE=F HHESKERA-TAT
predetermined amounts. (ZZ2—N\F: Z+H1F) °
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: BEAHENEYEENROT

2019

—E-hF

HK$’°000

FHxT

Within one year —FR 758,973
In the second year RE_F 593,734
In the third year RE=F 483,038
In the fourth year REBME 405,491
In the fifth year RERF 380,935
After five years RAFE 2,472,073
5,094,244

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘



243

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

43. OPERATING LEASES (ontinued)

In the prior year, the Group had contracted with tenants under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of leasing of investment
properties (see Note 14) and with Licencee under cancellable
licence agreement for the following future minimum lease payments
commitments and licence assets (see Note 15) which fall due as

43.

BEEEAERAA

KERN

HF  AEECREITREELEHE
% REEREMEEATITIN(RN
iE14) - WRER AT R EE A
MARKERENFTAERKEERE
EREREARTO(RMES) - RAT

follow: EARS 2I|HE -
2018
HK$'000
T
Within one year R—FN 767,370
After one year but not later than five years R—FERERAEFA 1,873,959
After five years REFE 2,388,688
5,030,017

The Group had licenced certain of its assets to a Licencee under the
licence agreement with, inter alia, the following terms:

° Within the first twelve months of the licence, either the Group
or the Licencee may terminate the licence agreement at its
sole discretion, by serving on the other party not less than
one month prior notice in writing and paying the other party
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be mutually
agreed in writing between both parties.

o After the first twelve months of the licence, the Group may
terminate the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by
serving on the Licencee not less than one month prior notice
in writing.

The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had
been early expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered
any letter of extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend
the licenced period.

RERBERGZ  AREREERE
ANEREETEENT -

. EEEFERAETZEA &A%
B EREATITEZEDNE
#omBs—AFEEROR—ME
RAEAERAN AR —FX
141,000,000 7T 5k & 75 &= H #
FEHEMSRE  RIEREFERR

. ERECRET—@EAK K&
B A AR AL AR —(E
AZAEMBRH - 2REBBZLE
RREEM i

8 YN So b PNV SEEN T
ER-ZZE-NFLA-BERER &
R B B A A RT SLAE A H I 48
FIEPE B REE AR -

B NEER
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ma

44.

45.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 75 S R Y =
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 44, EEEH
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following assets RBEHRBERER  REBRTYEE
pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities of the Group: BERTIRIT  EAAEERITHERN
iR

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E—)\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FABT

Investment properties WA 1,850,000 1,780,000

Properties held for development FERYE 1,445,261 4,080,928

3,295,261 5,860,928

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group and are invested in the funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme are
members of both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees and each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2018: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payrolls to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$237,168,000
(2018: HK$228,998,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2019, contributions of HK$15,478,000 (2018:
HK$15,468,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of reporting period.

45.

RIKERETE

NEBRB2 I —IBR BB 2 RKE
1E&BIEEM 2 B B A FRET 81 ([ B3R IRET
Bl RREEHERTEEKIR T
TFE+ ARz RTEEE
([afEeEtEl]) - ZETEIZEERAE
SECEESHABE  WIRENRAET
NIEFIZ Ed - R BTES R 81280
E2MBERNEIZEE  RRKE
B RGTEI NGRSt BIZKE - M
FFER-—ZEZZTF+ - A2 BIAKR
EBEZHREENAESINBESTE - R
EuwEsHE  EXRHEEESHA
% E BB A% MBI E
FAEBEWA LR A30,0008T(—F
— J\%F : 30,000/&7C) °

AR B B R R BB A BRATEE
ZBEREEARFTEIKE - ZFMER
RIARFHEXHZ K — B D HERARNK
BAIETE - U BRIER - AKE5L
RENERITZHE—BEER AT

MBERAKTE  BESFERE
REPERFEINZHAD A
237,168,000 B ;. ( = & — N\ F
228,998,000/87T) + WEHEmP I °
RZZB—NF+ZA=1+—8 RRE
HARS B HA 2 1 7015,478,0008 T ( — &
— \4F : 15,468,000/ 7T ) W A F F %
L8 - ZEFERBREHMERED
AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABRmRMEE

46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 46. st & T HC|EmaRBY
ARISING FROM FINANCING BE
ACTIVITIES

TERAIAEERETSENAER
BREAESNIRSED - MELY
E_”ialjg EIEE/%%//ILEEJJV\ ‘}ZEEXEE
EMEBRAEENGERERERD

%Eﬁ@ﬁ/ﬁgbﬁﬁ fﬁému%ﬁﬁ%ﬁa °

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. & -
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
Lease Bank Interest
liabilities borrowings payable Total
HEEE RITER EERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT THERT FHET THET
At 1 January 2018 R-—Z—)\F—H—H - 19,088,342 15,628 19,103,970
Financing cash flows BEREME - 8,268,533 (639,074) 7,629,459
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A A
(Note 37(c)) (MTEES?( ) - 158,472 - 158,472
Interest expenses recognised 4R & B R IERH
in the consolidated FERX
statement of profit or loss - - 589,222 589,222
Interest expense capitalised &AL F 25 - - 58,323 58,323
Exchange adjustments bE A% - (1,666) ) (1,669)
At 31 December 2018 R-TE—N\FE
+=-—A=+—H - 27,513,681 24,096 27,537,777
Effect of adoption of new FRANFTE R BB B 75 R 3R
standard by HKFRS 16 AR E165 & 12,386 - - 12,386
At 1 January, 2019 —hF—H—H
(restated) (&%) 12,386 27,513,681 24,096 27,550,163
Financing cash flows BERSME (2,926) (3,125,280) (848,617) (3,976,823)
New leases entered R HE 365 - - 365
Acquisition of subsidiaries  UgBEME A & (FI7E37(0))
(Note 37(b)) 3,024 32,500 - 35,524
Interest expenses recognised R4 1825 R MR
in the consolidated FEx
statement of profit or loss 584 - 751,417 752,001
Interest expense capitalised ~EZA{LF B - - 92,209 92,209
Exchange adjustments PE 0 SR (219) (10,992) - (11,211)
At 31 December 2019 R-E—NF
+=-—A=+—8H 13,214 24,409,909 19,105 24,442,228
ZE-NFFR
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 47. BEALER S

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

The Group entered into the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year.

Sales of goods to subsidiaries of a shareholder [F)¥%} 7~ & B B 8 A &2 H#)
with significant influence on the Group BRERMBARHEEER
Purchase of goods from subsidiaries of a MEAEBMESERTE NN
shareholder with significant influence on RERMEBARREER
the Group
Sales of goods to a non-controlling shareholder [&—fEM B AR 2
of a subsidiary IR R EE R
Purchase of goods from an associate m—EBE R RHEEE .

AEBEEATEFRNETIEAR
ST e

2019 2018
—EF-NF

HK$’000
TR

HK$’000
TAT

495,127 702,935
883,086 932,415

42,587 53,233
238,002 463,671

The transaction above constituted continuing connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments at
31 December 2019 was an amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately HK$6,349,000 (2018:
HK$9,488,000) which was in trade nature. The Group allowed credit
periods of up to 120 days (2018: 120 days), depending on the
products sold to its related parties.

Included in trade and other payables as at 31 December 2019 was an
amount due to an associate of HK$5,049,000 (2018: HK$10,672,000)
and a joint venture of HK$137,500,000 (2018: Nil).

Included in trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2019 was
an amount due from subsidiaries of a shareholder of HK$96,026,000
(2018: HK$366,011,000).

RIE FHARBIE14AT - Fl RSB
ARBRFEFERS °

R_ZE—hF+_A=+—H8 E5K
HmERERRBNRECEBNE
S 2 R — M B A R 2 AR A
HFRIAX6,349,0008 70 ( =T — )\4F ¢
9,488,000/ 7T ) ° ANEE MEMEA L
BHZEEHZEA120B8(=ZZE—N
F 1 1208) - RTAHEEZERME °

RZEBE-hE+_A=+—HHNES
REMEMKREAERMN —HEBEEDQ
AIFIEH)5,049,000/8 T (=2 — )\ 4 ¢
10,672,000/ 7T) M E —H A & A &
FXIE137,500,000078 (= — N\F :
£ o

NZZE-NE+-A=+—HNES K
H i U BR TE B3 3E B U — R AR R A0 BT /B
A ] #996,026,00078 7T ( ZF — )\ F -

366,011,000/ 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

47.

PR AR M

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 47.

(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

BEEEAERAA

BAEALIRS @

IEEEASMS
Ex - BEREMTEERAS M
T

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E—N\&F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FBT

Short-term employee benefits e EAE R 216,836 222,358
Post-employment benefits RIRIRAE T 1,805 1,772
Share-based payments LARRD A 3R 180,441 -
399,082 224,130

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

EENTIBTHRABZMEEHMEER
BEEEAMNEIXRBAELMEBYERE
=

—T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 48. KRR FEME AT
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 5
(@ General information of subsidiaries (@ MEBATN—RER
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 ARREEMBARINR =N
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: FEN_E-)N\F+-_A=+—H

ZEEOT

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

AT/ BRARMRERE/

KEAR4R BEREEHY HhEA ; IEEE
2019 2018
ZE-NF I-\F

Jamplan (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands® US$1,000 US$1,000 100 100°  Investment holding
ARRLEE 1,000£7 1,007 RERR
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates Co. Limited ~ PRC US$29,466,000 1S829,466,000 69.49 7079 Manufacture and distribution
BHBR)REERERLT e 29,466,000% 70 29,466, 00027 of laminates
SERAEERER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates Co. Ltd.  PRC US$17,936,546 US§17,936,546 69.49 7079 Manufacture and distribution
BHBR)EEGRERAR e 17,936,546 £ 17 9365462 T of laminates
SERAEERER
Kingboard (Hebei) Cokechem Co. Limited PRC! RMB903,672,940 RMB903,672,940 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
BETNEILERAR R ARM903,672940%  AR%903,672,9407C of coke and chemicals

RERDHERRIIER

Kingboard Natural Gas Chemical PRC! US$18,500,000 15$18,500,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
(Chong Qing) Limited il 18,500,000% 7 18,500,000%7 of methanol

BERIRLIERBRAA ERAHTE

Kunshan Guo Rui Development Co. Ltd. PRC? US$90,000,000 15$90,000,000 100 100 Property developments

BUTREZERAA G 90,000,000%7 90,000000%7 FHEER

Heng Yang Kingboard Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC HK$30,000,000 HK$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution

EFERLTERAR e 30,000,000 30,000,000 7 of caustic soda
SERAHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@)

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre Glass Co. Limited
BEENFEEEERAA

Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited

Kingboard Investments Limited
BERERRAT

KLHL
RERERIRARAA

Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) Co., Ltd.

TFRERERERAR

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical Co., Ltd.
BRI IERAT

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) Co., Ltd
BERERELERAT

Elec & Ettek Intermational Holdings Limited
FHxERREBRRAR

EEC®
R EEROA

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
e/
BEREENE

PRC?
o8

Bermuda *
BRE

Hong Kong *
B

Cayman Islands #

HaEs
PRC?
o8

PRC?
o8

PRC
A

Bermuda/Hong Kong *
AR/ B

Singapore *

g

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

48.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered capital
BRARMRERE/

Gl
2019
“E0E

US$13,700,000
13,700,000% 70

US$72,250,000
72,250000% 70

HK$8,000
8,007

HK$308,100,000
308,100,007

HK$242,800,000
242,800,007

US$32,000,000
32,000,000% 7

US$32,010,000
32,010000% 7

HK$122,467,240
122,467,240% 7

US$113,800,000
113,800,000% 70

US$13,700,000
13,700,000

US$72,250,000
72,250 000% T

HK$8,000
8000

HK$308,100,000
308,100,000/

HK$242,800,000

242,800,000/ 70

US$32,000,000
32,000000%7C

US$32,010,000
320100007

HK$122,467,240
122,467 24077t

US$113,800,000
113,800,00057

BEEEAERAA

AR EEMBELAF

15 )

(@ HEIRAN-—RERE

Effective equity interest
held by the Group
A5ERE
ZERRE
2019
Z2-0f
%
69.49

Principal activities

IEER

Manufacture and distribution
of glass fabric

SERAERELAEN

62.26

69.49 Investment holding

BARR

Investment holding
REZR
70.79

69.49 Investment holding

RARR
70.79  Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERDHBHAR

6949

70.79  Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals

BERNHILIER

6949

7079 Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERDHBHAR

6949

Investment holding
REZR

73.63 7363 Investment holding

BARR

—E-NEER



250 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 48. XA X EK B A T
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY B

(continued)
(@  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ MEIRAN—RER

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
e/ BRARMRERE/ A5ERE

HEARER BRRERHA ifiEn Pa {1 IEER
2019 2019
ZE-nE I-\F Zg-hE

Kaiping Elec & Ettek Company Limited PRC2 US$49,520,000 1S849,520,000 69.95 6995  Manufacture and distribution
RTGAZEETARAR i 4952000047 4952000057 of PBs
SERARERIRER
Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 3 Company Limited ~ PRC?2 US$87,800,000 US887,800,000 69.95 69.95  Manufacture and distrioution
ATEAREETE=ARAR e 87,800,000 87,800 00057 of PCBs
SERARERIRER
Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 5 Company Limited ~ PRC?2 US$30,075,100 1S830,075,100 69.95 69.95  Manufacture and distrioution
AEEAREETERARAR e 30,075,100£ % 30,075,10057% of PCBs
SERARERIRER
Elec & Ettek (Guangzhou) Electronic PRC? US$95,596,000 15$95,596,000 72.16 7216 Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited R 95,506,000% 70 95,596,000 7 of PCBs
[EHZEENETARAT SERARERIRER
Guangzhou Elec & Etiek Microvia PRC? US$24,800,000 1US$24,800,000 7216 7216 Manufacture and distribution
Technology Limited e 24,800,005 24,800,000£7T of PCBs
BN ZEER AR AT SERARERIRER
Huizhou Chung Shun Chermical PRC? US$40,290,000 15$40,290,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited BE 40,290,000%7 40,290,005 7 of phenol/acetone
EMBENIERAR BERAHER,/RE
Shi You Chemical (Yangzhou) Co,, Ltd PRC! US$144,237,000 USS144,237,000 100 100 Refining and distribution of
ERlIENERAT REN 144,237,000£ 0 144,237 000 T chemicals
HERABNIER
Kingboard Electronic Raw Material PRC? US$30,000,000 15$30,000,000 69.49 7079 Manufacture and distribution
(Jiang Yin) Co,, Ltd e 30,000,005 30,000,005 7 of laminates
BREFIHIE)ERAT SERAERAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

registration Issued and fully paid
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital

e/ BRTRARRE/

HEARER BRRERHA ifiEn
2019

Kingboard (Guangzhou) High New Material -~ PRC RMB250,000,000 RMB250,000,000
Company Limited mE AR%250000,000%  AR%250,000,0007

(Formerly known as Kingboard
(Panyu Nansha) Petrochemical
Company Limited
BHEENERHERLA
(MIRE(ERm) A ARLA)

The Company directly holds the equity interest in Jamplan (BVI)
Limited. The Company’s equity interest in all other subsidiaries is
held indirectly through Jamplan (BVI) Limited.

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific
principal place of operations.

@ The company is listed on The Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited.

4 These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises. The English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture. The English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.

BEEEAERAA

ARBETEMBELTF

15 @)

(@ MEBRAN-—RER )

Effective equity interest
held by the Group  Principal activities
ARELE
ZERRE IERK
2019
Z2-0f

69.49 70,79 Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals

RERA B TER

* A B EHERA Jamplan (BVI)
Limited 2 fR 1 o R Q B FT
AEMK B QR 2 REHSFE
i@Jamplan (BVI) Limited &%
BH -

# I ERREZERAR - A&
FEZ ERISEHE

@ ZR BRI E H R 5
ERAF LM -

o WERRREEBERX5M
ERARER L -

! U ERB TN EE LR
FHAEPBKT - ZEAR
R B TREMHESR

¢ WEREDURNAAAE
SRTAERERS - 5
ATEEBERBI) -

FRAIREERREEZER
SEEENEEZAR TMTE
Ao %%wuﬁ&”lﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
ZHBERANIR -

EMBA RN FERSEEITE
B S
—T-NFFER



252 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 48. KRR FEME AT
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1 e
(continued)
(@  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ MEIRAN—RER
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RIEIRLEREH - A%
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal BYHAREBTEANEMMTEAR
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows: T o ZEMMB AT Z EBEKTE
ZET
Number of subsidiaries
MDA REE
Principal activities Principal place of business 2019 2018
FTEEK TEEEME —E-hF —E-N\F
Manufacture and sale of laminates PRC 30 27
B3 R IEE B INER I
Macau 2 2
JEFT
Thailand 1 1
ZE
33 30
Manufacture and sale of PCBs Hong Kong 4 3
BU3E 2 S EDRI AR BE AR 6
PRC 15 14
i
Macau 3 3
JEFT
Thailand 1 1
ZE
23 21
Manufacture and sale of chemicals PRC 20 20
BlERNHECIER i
Properties Hong Kong 18 ih
ZJES B
PRC 53 53
H
United Kingdom 5 5
T
76 69
152 140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group partially
disposed its interests in a subsidiary without losing the control
over this subsidiary for the consideration of HK$529,257,000
(2018: HK$26,329,000). The difference of HK$156,492,000
(2018: HK$21,737,000) between the increase in the non-
controlling interests and the consideration received has been
recognised in the goodwill reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
acquired additional interests in certain subsidiaries for a
consideration of HK$414,616,000 (2018: HK$525,024,000).
As a result, the difference of HK$10,258,000 (2018:
HK$60,260,000) between the consideration paid of
HK$414,616,000 (2018: HK$525,024,000) and the amount of
non-controlling interests acquired of HK$424,874,000 (2018:
HK$464,764,000) was directly recognised in goodwill reserve.

BEEEAERAA

48. AR EEMB AT

15 )

(b)

HE_Z—NnF+ZA=+—
HIEFE  AEBURE
529,257,000/8 7T(=ZF—/\F :
26,329,000 7T ) & H K —
ECINEMNGIECE SR - TR NS
FHEZMB AT 2= - IE
TRERE G 0 & B R E 2
2 156,492,000 8 T =8 (=&
— )\ : 21,737,000/ T) E R
A EER -

 E-E-NEF+=_A=1+—
HIEFE AEBWESTH
BARMBEINER  RER
414,616,000 T(=ZF—/\F :
525,024,000/8 7T ) ° BEE
KB 414,616,000 T ( = &
—\4E : 525,024,000 7T) B
Uk B8 JE 4 AR A 25 424,87 4,0007%8
T (= — )\ : 464,764,000
PETT) 2 B/ Z 5810,258,000%
7T (=Z—/)\F : 60,260,000/
TO)EEREERERER -

B NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that

have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

15 )

48. AR EEMB AT

) ERERFEREZZHE
2ERENBLRFE
TREGIAKEEAERIRT
2R EHRBNE QR

interests: =
Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation interests and voting
and principal place of rights held by non- Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business controlling interests non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
MR FEREEEEEGR ARIFER it FER
HWRARER TEEXNY i EL S il 1) B
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
ZEAF CTE CEE CTF CE0E \
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT TARL THL
KLHL # Cayman Islands 30.51% 29.21% 732,894 949,420 5,705,561 5,111,625
RERER HEHE
EEIC* Singapore 26.37% 26.37% 62,489 49,980 869,511 772,847
AR ¢ g
KBCF #11 Bermuda 30.51% 37.74% - 6,579 - 715,827
BB 0 ARE
Individually immatertal subsidiaries with non-controling interests (120,824) (11,539 1,206,013 699,987
BAHERER  BU N EAEAR
674,559 994,440 7,781,085 7,300,286
# excluding non-controlling interests of KLHL, EEIC and KBCF’s # TEIEZEEENR - EEICK
subsidiaries. fep=E Lol i) PNGIEoE 32
fettas -

“) KBCF has become a wholly owned subsidiary of KLHL during the

year ended 31 December 2019.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

0 BESEREE—TNEF
TZA=+—BLEFERS
BEEERZEMBERR -



o REEMARA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

48. AR EEMB AT

15 )

BEERFEREZZF

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (c)

have material non-controlling interests (continued)

KLHL and subsidiaries

ZEBREHBEARRE®
BRERERENELT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE—-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET T

Current assets mENVEE 14,704,287 15,571,721

Non-current assets JEMBE E 11,098,884 13,150,020

Current liabilities mENARE 5,318,256 6,016,310

Non-current liabilities ERBERE 1,735,836 4,862,429

Equity attributable to owners RATFE AR

of the Company 12,995,861 12,387,947

Non-controlling interests of KLHL HHTEE IR IR R i 5,705,561 5,111,625
Non-controlling interests of KLHL’s BERERNKB A RS

subsidiaries FEFERR A 47,657 343,430

Revenue ] 18,383,952 20,645,776

Expenses, other gains and losses X - Habs REE 15,975,222 17,387,785

Profit for the year INEEE % F 2,408,730 3,257,991

—E-NFER
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL AKAREEME D AF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 )
(continued)
(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that () EEEARFEREZZHE

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KLHL and subsidiaries (continued)

EEBAMBARFEE)
BERERRMED R ()

HK$’000
TExT

Profit attributable to owners of the Company RRNFEE ARG 1,669,353 2,300,961
Profit attributable to the non-controlling BEE BRI

interests of KLHL byl 732,894 949,420
Profit attributable to the non-controlling BEEREROWEAR

interests of KLHL's subsidiaries JEPERRE FEE@JFIJ 6,483 7,610
Profit for the year RNEE & F 2,408,730 3,257,991
Other comprehensive income (expense) RAREHAAENR

attributable to owners of the Company Hipemlzs(Fx) 62,184 (788,096)
Other comprehensive income (expense) R BRI R

attributable to the non-controlling interests R Em e (FY)

of KLHL 27,301 (325,183)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to  EEREBRAMEA

the non-controlling interests MR R PR

of KLHL's subsidiaries Hih 2 HER X (2,301) (10,704)
Other comprehensive income (expense) ANEFEMEENE(FEY)

for the year 87,184 (1,123,983)
Total comprehensive income attributable RAREHAAER

to owners of the Company EHWEBE 1,731,537 1,512,865
Total comprehensive income attributable BRI

to the non-controlling interests of KLHL el 760,195 624,237
Total comprehensive income (expense) BERERMNMNEB A

attributable to the non-controlling interests JEPERE R PR

of KLHL’s subsidiaries FEMWE (Hx)EE 4,182 (3,094)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEELENEAE 2,495,914 2,134,008
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of S'iﬁ%i%) TRER—FENE

a KLHL’s subsidiary DRFEHERER RS = -
Net cash inflow from operating activities e RBRERAFE 2,668,339 3,528,128
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities % &EER & RACGRL ) F5E 1,216,111 (4,125,561)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities Fi& &R € (R ) RAEE (4,729,788) 44,557
Net cash outflow He L FE (845,338) (552,876)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

48. AR BEEME AT

15 )

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that ) HBEEREEREZZIE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EFEEWB LR @)
EEIC and subsidiaries EEICK Fi{ & 2 =]

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET BT
Current assets MENEE 2,184,476 2,075,003
Non-current assets IEREEE 3,692,684 3,591,892
Current liabilities TENBEE 2,030,769 2,013,671
Non-current liabilities EREaE 448,945 455,637
Equity attributable to owners of AATFEHE AELER
the Company 2,427,838 2,285,707
Non-controlling interests of EEIC EEICIEIE Ak i 2 869,511 818,608
Non-controlling interests of EEIC’s EEICHIK B~ 7
subsidiaries FEFEASRE S 100,097 93,272
Revenue o] 4,808,762 4,700,545
Expenses, other gains and losses FX - Efblies MEE 4,564,967 4,506,209
Profit for the year N4 i ) 243,795 194,336
Profit attributable to owners of AAREE AEEET
the Company 174,481 139,551
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EEICIHEIZ izt e FEAG 5
interests of EEIC 62,489 49,980
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EEICHIMIE R 5] R AR i s FE
interests of EEIC’s subsidiaries fayiayl 6,825 4,805
Profit for the year RE T 243,795 194,336
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 48.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

REEEMBEQFF
&)

o 3t
i

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that ) HBEEREEREZZIE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EFEEWB LR @)
EEIC and subsidiaries (continued) EEICK K& A = (&)

2019 2018
—g-nE  ZF)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 SRCT

Other comprehensive income (expenses)  AQGIEHE AJE(L

attributable to owners of the Company Em 2wl (Fx) 10,590 (7,937)
Other comprehensive income (expenses)  EEICIEIZE ARtz fE(G

attributable to the non-controlling Hin 2w (Fx)

interests of EEIC 3,793 (2,843)
Other comprehensive income (expenses)  ARGE 42

for the year Wzs (F) 14,383 (10,780)

Total comprehensive income attributable AN B35 B AFE(S

to owners of the Company SHEHNGEBE 185,071 131,615
Total comprehensive income attributable  EEIC3E{Z A% HE %5 FEAS
to the non-controlling interests of EEIC TE AT 66,282 44,670

Total comprehensive income attributable ~ EEICHI B A 7
to the non-controlling interests of EEIC’s  JEIE AR KERS FE(S

subsidiaries T H AR 6,825 4,805
Total comprehensive income for the year — ZN4E/E & HEW 5 4258 258,178 181,090
Dividends paid to non-controlling 4 FEEICH B A

interests of EEIC’s subsidiaries FEFERAE R 2 IR B = -
Net cash inflow from operating activities KBRS TRARRE 339,105 510,830
Net cash outflow from investing activites & EBIR SR L HEE (357,824) (652,984)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEHIR S RARRE 5,218 164,752
Net cash (outflow) inflow BeOnb)mAFRE (13,501) 22,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 48. X ATFEFEME A B
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1 e
(continued)
(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that ) HBEEREEREZZIE

ZEBREHBEARRE®
BEEERMEA T

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KBCF and subsidiaries

2018
—ZT—-N\F
HK$’'000
FBT
Current assets MENEE 2,561,238
Non-current assets B EE 321,836
Current liabilities MEAE 106,506
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 4,521
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARFFE AEIEER 2,031,655
Non-controlling interests of KBCF FRE RS R R i A 715,827
Non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary BEIRE R B A I EE R 24,565
Revenue T 586,979
Expenses, other gains and losses Bz ~ Hfbless K JEE 559,547
Profit for the year NS =l 27,432
Profit attributable to owners of the Company VN/NEIES YN il 15,945
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EEE BRI RS
interests of the KLHL FEAR = F 6,579
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EBIRE I RS
interests of KBCF FEAE = F 3,086
Profit attributable to the non-controlling ERINERMB AR
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary FEVE AR A PR A i T 1,822
Profit for the year AR F 27,432
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that ()
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

KBCF and subsidiaries (continued)

Other comprehensive expense attributable to

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

15 )

48. AR BEEME AT

BEERFEREZZF
EREMEARFRE

EERERMEAR(E)

ARRRE ARMEEMEEFS

2018

—ZT—-N\F

HK$'000
TAT

owners of the Company (40,948)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to R S R (R b 2 E A X

the non-controlling interests (16,896)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to ERIE IR s RS 2 E A

the non-controlling interests of KBCF (7,925)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to ERIAER M B A R IR R R RS

the non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary ErmEiEYy (1,199)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AREEHEMPEHES (66,968)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to KAREEAEEEERZRE

owners of the Company (25,003)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to BEE RIS E LR

the non-controlling interests of the KLHL F 4858 (10,317)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to BEIRE IR E R 2 EA S R

the non-controlling interests of KBCF (4,839)
Total comprehensive income attributable to RN B A R IR AR R RS

the non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary & E Wz 458 623
Total comprehensive expense for the year AREEPHEMAL A (39,536)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of TR TFEBENNB AR

a KBCF’s subsidiary FEFER R 2 IR B (3,356)
Net cash inflow from operating activities e TRENIR &M AT R 122,923
Net cash outflow from investing activities KB EERS LT (17,811)
Net cash outflow from financing activities mEEER SR FE (3,356)
Net cash inflow I EMAFEE 101,756
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. AA T Z BB R B £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY T ES

2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current assets FERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries R AR ZIRE 1,509,805 1,493,556
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHT B A BIZIE 12,688,306 11,081,379
Equity instruments at fair value BAFER AEES
through profit or loss BT H 421,230 127,423
Debt instruments at fair value BAFERT A
through other comprehensive income FHREMNEBIA 749,610 840,548
15,368,951 13,542,906
Current assets MEEE
Other receivables Ho At FEUTAR X 211,700 225,978
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E e 22,209,678 20,419,707
Equity instruments at fair value BAFER AEES
through profit or loss EmITH 123,346 -
Tax recoverable B EEREE = 505
Bank balances IRITH RS 108,863 225,841
22,653,587 20,872,031
Current liabilities MEEE
Other payables HoAth TR X 1,069,551 651,754
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHT B A RIFRIE 12,278,341 11,174,282
Bank borrowings — amount due within one year #7158 — —E R 5| #2218 3,283,550 1,331,771
16,631,442 13,157,807
Net current assets MEEEFE 6,022,145 7,714,224
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KR RMET
49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  49. 7 8] 2 Bf I ik R & 5t
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY EEI0)
(continued)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FExT FH&T
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDAERE 21,391,096 21,257,130
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Bank borrowings — amount due after one year  $RT1EE — — 14 5| H 2 218 12,355,555 12,984,902
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATHT B A R FE 2,229,499 2,003,434
14,585,054 14,988,336
6,806,042 6,268,794
Capital and reserves J&AS 2 i
Share capital A& AN 110,576 108,315
Reserves (Note) feat (P EE) 6,695,466 6,160,479
6,806,042 6,268,794
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Note:

Capital

Share redemption

premium

HK$'000
THT

reserve

. AR
ﬁﬁ%

Share-
based
payments
reserve

R
HK$'000
FHET

BEEEAERAA

a) Z B AR O R

(&)

Investment
revaluation
reserve
REHRA
(G RER3 Eek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT THT

Retained
profits Total

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\GE—A—Az&8H 5,866,532 1,911 2,560 11,989 144,919 6,027,911
Adjustments due to adopting AR ERIERE

new standards - - - (16,747) 16,747 -
Balance of 1 January 2018 (Restated) RZZ—-\F-A—Hz&#R(ES) 5866532 1,911 2,560 (4,758) 161,666 6,027,911
Profit for the year AEREF - - - - 2270320 2,270,320
Net changes arising from debt BRATFEF AL EERRNES

instruments through at FVTOCI (Note a) T REZE4 7 #8) %@ (fiiTa) - - - (85,644) - (85,644)
Total comprehensive income AEEREKNGER

for the year - - - (85,644) 2,270,320 2,184,676
Issue of new shares from exercise R BREMEITH

of share options il 208,371 - (2,560) - - 205,811
Final dividend for the year ended BE-T—+tF+t=-A=t—8H

31 December 2017 EFEZRBRE - - - - (1,066,452)  (1,066,452)
Interim dividend for the year ended BE-Z-/\§+=-A=+—H

31 December 2018 IHFEZRERE - - - - (649,891) (649,891)
Special interim dividend for the year HE-ZT—-/\F+-A=+—H

ended 31 December 2018 HEFEZFRIFERE - - - - (541,576) (541,576)

208,371 - (2,560) - (257919 (2,052,108)
T—NEFH



264 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Al 2 B &R R B 7k

NN
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 1%%&2%

(continued)

Note: Mz -
Share-
Capital based Investment
Share redemption payments revaluation [ E
premium reserve reserve reserve profits
N y RAERY
[ ; i RE A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T TET FHT T
Balance at 31 December 2018 and RZF-N\F+ZA=+—HRK
1 January 2019 “T-NE-A-B248 6,074,903 1,011 - (0402 174067 6,160,479
Profit for the year NEEHF - - - - 1,087,781 1,087,781
Net changes arising from debt RATFEF AR MR YRR
instruments through at FVTOCI (Note )~ BT AEL 2 28)FE(Hsta) - - - 54,990 - 54,990
Total comprehensive income AEERENHES
for the year - - - 54,990 1,037,781 1,092,771
Issue of new shares from exercise 1T B AR M AT RORTAR
of share options 517,105 - (107,134) - - 409,971
Recognition of equity-settied R ERSEE RO AR
share-based payments - - 132,625 - - 132,625
Final dividend for the year ended BE-T—)\&+=-A=+—H
31 December 2018 HFEEZREBRE - - - - (758,207) (758,207)
Interim dividend for the year ended BE-Z-NF+=-A=t—8H
31 December 2019 IEFEZRERE - - - - (303,206) (303,206)
Repurchase and cancellation of B R AR
ordinary shares (Note 34) (PH7E34) (25,156) (13,811) - - - (38,967)
491,949 (13,811) 25,491 - (1,061,413 (6557,784)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=+—Bz#&#H 6,566,852 (11,900) 25,491 (35,412 150,435 6,695,466
Note: MisT -
(@ Net change arising from debt instruments through at FVTOCI represents (@) BAFEF AR EEARENEBTA
gain on fair value in debt instruments amounting to HK$54,990,000 (2018: EEZEBFEEEBIAATENS
Loss on fair value in debt instruments amounting to HK$85,644,000). 54,990,000 T (ZF—\F : EHL

BN TF{EE1885,644,000787T) °
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for

investment:

Location

b2

Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
FENDBAFM R EREERE

Oversea Trust Bank Building
5-7/F, No. 160 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong
BEAETITE1605 M
RITRES-THE

Oversea Trust Bank Building
9-14/F No. 160 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong

BAETITE16058IMET
IRTTAREO-1412

Oversea Trust Bank Building
23/F, 26/F, 27/F and Parking Space
No. 9 and No. 10 on 2nd Floor,
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
B ETITE16050/8IMa5T
RITARE23E - 2612 - 27T R
219K 105K E L

One Aldgate, No. 1 Aldgate, London,
EC3N1AA, United Kingdom

88 to 93 Fenchurch Street,
5 and 7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Moor Place, Fore Street,
London EC2Y 5BJ, United Kingdom

Shanghai Modern Plaza,
369 Xian Xia Road, Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC*

B 8 RER (L EK3695
EERRES

Existing use

BERZ

Office

Office

Office

Office

Office

Office

Office

Office

Tenure

HH

Medium term lease

T HITA A

Medium term lease

T HATA A

Medium term lease
R HAFE B

Medium term lease

T HITA A

Freehold
KA EERE

Freehold
KA EERE

Freehold
KA EERE

Medium term lease
Fh B 7 B

BEEEAERAA

AEBEEZHEREMEIINTE

GFA (m?)
BIEEEE
(FHK)

33,000

2,000

4,000

1,800

5,000

8,000

21,600

17,000

Group’s interest

rEERE#ER
2019 2018
—E-hEF
%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% N/A
69% 71%
100% 100%
69% 71%
100% 100%
100% 100%
ZE-NFFR
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

SEYMEER

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for

investment: (continued)

Location

b B

Guangzhou Dongzhao Building,
No. 515 Dong Feng Central Road,
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou,

Guangdong Province, the PRC*
AR R A BN T S [ R A A 5 155%
EMRBAE

Zhanfeng Commercial Building,
Zhujiang New Town II-3,
Tianhe District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*

PEIFERA BN TR R
PROLATII-34b 58 1 7 3 K=

Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase |,
224 Xin Jing Road, Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC*

FE e RERINTHE2245
EBEEES

Huagiao Kingboard Plaza Phase |,
Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC*

PEUIEERILT
TER B RS — 1

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Existing use
B AZE

Shop, Office
Ei o BT

Shop, Office
A BTE

Shop, Office
E o BT

Shop, Office
SOHO & Hotel

E - BEE

SOHOXE &

Tenure

Gizk

Medium term lease

h HAFE A

Medium term lease

mh HAE B

Medium term lease
R HAFE B

Medium term lease

Fh HAE B

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

AEBEZHEREMEIINTE : (B)

Group’s interest
rEEFEES
2019
—E-hF
%

GFA (m?)

HREEHE
(FHK)

2018
—ZT—-N\F

%

91,000 100% 100%
72,000 100% 100%
297,000 100% 100%
178,000 100% 100%
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for

development:

Approximate

percentage of

completion

as at the date of

this report

Location HEEAHERS
bk LR AR

%

Nansha Kingboard Plaza, 85%
East of Fenghuang Main Road,
West of Power Supply Bureau,
Nansha District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
HEEREENTEYEEABUR -
HEEABEYZERS

Kau To Project, Sha Tin Town 84%
Lot No. 579, Area 56A, Kau To Shan,
Sha Tin, New Territories

HEDE I ILS6ARETINER LA
EH

Kunshan Development Zone 95%
Kingboard Yu Garden Phase |,
South of Bai Shi Pu River,
West of Tai Hu Road,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
HETEHERILTRER
BOETEAAREARRLRAER
RIERIEE —H

Kunshan Centre 22%
South of Zhong Hua,
Yuan Road, West of
Huang Shan Road,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

B EE RILTRHER
REREEAEILEANZLRL

Lujia Kingboard Yu Garden, 10%
West of Furong Road,
South of Nan Wei Rood, Lujia Town,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

MBI B ERERREAERA
ERRARMAEREER R

Year of
expected Gross floor
completion area (m?
At BEEER
RIFE (E7K)
2020 110,000
2020 30,000
2020 151,000
2020-2028 1,111,000

2021 299,000

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification

purposes only

BEEEAERAA

AEEEZHERRMEIINTE

Group’s interest

AEERERER

Expected use 2019 2018
EiRE “BE-nFE  —T)\F

% %
Shop, SOHO 100% 100%
%8 kSOHO
Residential 68% 68%
£
Shop & Residential 100% 100%
AHkET
Shops, Office SOHO 75% 75%

e - BFERSOHO

Residential 100% 100%
e
* B 2 EO I BRE R R g

—T-NEEH
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
S E
RESULTS ¥EiE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—HA=1t—HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ZT-hF ZE—RF E—tF T-N\F ZB-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAxT FAT FAT FAET FET

(RESEIE)) (RES EIET)) (RESEWES))

(g &) (#g ) (g3 )
Revenue EER 33,134,282 36,103,078 43,371,270 45,994,419 41,160,851
Profit before taxation MR FL R A 2,622,559 7,237,226 8,365,361 9,121,910 5,122,913
Income tax expense FriSHifsE (569,464)  (1,075,209)  (1,531,177)  (2,051,710)  (1,353,933)
Profit for the year REE T 1,953,095 6,162,017 6,834,184 7,070,200 3,768,980

Attributable to: FEIERE

Owners of the Company ~ ZNAFHEA A 1,650,323 5,026,831 5,593,434 6,075,760 3,094,421
Non-controlling interests IR 2 302,772 1,135,186 1,240,750 994,440 674,559
1,953,095 6,162,017 6,834,184 7,070,200 3,768,980

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERER

At 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-RF ZERF E—tF T-N\F ZB-hE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAR TR TAT  TAR  TAR
Total assets BERE 72,920,997 76,420,553 88,294,383 94,430,339 97,035,126
Total liabilities BfERE (81,580,270) (32,467,881) (34,570,663) (39,797,068) (39,065,476)
41,340,727 43,952,672 53,723,720 54,633,271 57,969,650
Equity attributable to VIN/NCIES YN
owners of the Company e 35,246,168 37,587,004 46,039,519 47,332,985 50,188,565
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R A 6,094,559 6,365,668 7,684,201 7,300,286 7,781,085
41,340,727 43,952,672 53,723,720 54,633,271 57,969,650
Note: Interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from equity instruments MHsE : PAERFAEABMA - s RIBERNEF A ZF]
which were previously included in other income, gains and losses have been BUWARESTAZRERACENDEEEE
reclassified to revenue to conform with presentation in 2018. B UAHAZZE )\ FEZ225 A -
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EEFASPHAMRBH=REERE=T=1#

Tel &7 : (852) 2605 6493 Fax {85 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE} : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #831t : http://www.kingboard.com
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